

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

DEVELOPMENT OF A NOVEL SQUARE WAVE VOLTAMMETRIC METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PHENOXYMETHYLPENICILLIN AND BENZYLPENICILLIN IN ANIMAL PRODUCTS AND PHARMACEUTICAL SAMPLES

JOSHUA SILA MUNYAO

I80/51687/2017

A Thesis Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for Award of the Degree of Doctor

of Philosophy in Chemistry of the University of Nairobi

2021

DECLARATION

"I declare that this thesis is my original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for examination, award of a degree or publication. Where other people's work or my own work has been used, this has been properly acknowledged and referenced in accordance with the University of Nairobi's requirements".

Signature		Date26/11/2021.
JOSHUA	SILA MUNYAO	
180	/51687/2017	
CHEMIST	RY DEPARTMENT	
UNIVERS	SITY OF NAIROBI	
This thesis has been submitted for examinat	ion with our approval as	the University supervisors.
DR. PETERSON M. GUTO	Signature MP	Date 26/11/2021
CHEMISTRY DEPARTMENT		
UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI		
DR. IMMACULATE MICHIRA	Signature From	Date 26/11/2021
CHEMISTRY DEPARTMENT		
UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI		
	G .	
PROF.FRANCIS MWAURA	Signature	Date
SCHOOL OF BIOLOGICAL STUDIES		
UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI		

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my lovely wife, Irene Kateve Kiio and daughter, Theodora Mutheu for their steadfast support during the course of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am grateful to the Almighty God for the grace He has given me, to purpose and complete this work. My special thanks to my supervisors Dr. Peterson Guto, Dr. Immaculate Michira, and Prof. Francis Mwaura for providing an enabling environment for my research work and guiding me in this study. Through your guidance and support, my research experience was informative and worthwhile. I would also like to acknowledge the Chairman Department of biochemistry, University of Nairobi, Dr. Muge for allowing me to do some work in biochemistry laboratory. I extend my gratitude to all Masters and PhD students in chemistry and biochemistry department, staff and technicians for their support.

Finally, I wish to thank my family and friends who assisted in any way in my studies.

ABSTRACT

Penicillins have been used widely in humans and animal husbandry to control and manage bacterial infections due to their strong antibacterial activity. However, pressence of penicillin residues in animal products has raised health concerns. The existing detection methods, such as HPLC and enzymatic methods are labour intensive and expensive. There is therefore, a need to develop a simple, more sensitive and field deployable diagnostic tool to determine penicillins levels in animal products.

This research work reports development of a simple square voltammetric method for detection of phenoxymethylpenicillin (penicillin V) and benzylpenicillin (penicillin G) using a surfactant modified support electrolyte, ABS-SDS (acetate buffer solution-sodium dodecyl sulfate) on glassy carbon electrode (GCE). The surfactant enhanced the voltammetric current response for penicillin V and penicillin G for about ten and five times respectively with no significant change in the oxidation potential of these two drugs. The optimal pH and SDS concentration were found to be pH 4.5 and 0.347M respectively.

The diffusion coefficients for penicillin G were estimated to be 6.01×10^{-7} cm²/sec and 1.39×10^{-6} cm²/sec in absence and in presence of SDS respectively at optimum conditions in acetate buffer solution. The limit of detection for penicillin G in this method was 2.5×10^{3} mg/L against a maximum residue limit (MRL) of 4×10^{3} mg/L set by the European Union. Foreign substance did not interfere with detection of both penicillin V and penicillin G. This implies that the developed method is sensitive enough for use in the analysis of penicillin G and V in diverse samples.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi
DEDICATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiii
ABSTRACTiv
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS xvii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background information1
1.2 Statement of the Problem
1.3 Objectives
1.3.1 General objective
1.3.2 Specific objectives
1.4 Justification and Significance of the Study7
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Electrochemistry
2.2 Basic Principles of Electrochemistry
2.2.1 Potentiostat
2.2.2 Electrochemical Cell
2.2.3 Solvent
2.2.4 Supporting Electrolytes
2.2.5 Electrodes
2.2.5.1 Counter/Auxiliary Electrode
2.2.5.2 Working/Indicator Electrode
2.2.5.3 Reference Electrode
2.2.6 Polarizable and Non-Polarizable Interfaces

2.3 Electrode Processes	19
2.3.1 Electrical Double Layer	
2.3.2 Charge Transfer Across the Interface	
2.3.2.1 Rate Determining Steps	
2.3.3 Mass Transport	
2.3.3.1 Migration	
2.3.3.2 Convection	
2.3.3.3 Diffusion Mode	
2.3.4 Faradaic and Non-Faradaic Processes	
2.4 Electro-Analytical Methods	
2.4.1 Voltammetry	
2.4.1.1 Linear Sweep Voltammetry	
2.4.1.2 Cyclic Voltammetry	
2.4.1.3 Stripping Voltammetry	
2.4.1.4 Anodic Stripping Voltammetry	
2.4.1.5 Cathodic Stripping Voltammetry	
2.4.2 Pulse Voltammetry	
2.4.2.1 Features of Normal Pulse Voltammetry (NPV)	
2.4.2.2 Features of Differential Pulse Voltammetry (DPV)	
2.4.2.3 Square Wave Voltammetry (SWV)	
2.5 Surfactants	
2.5.1 Classification of Surfactants and Their Chemistry	51
2.5.2 Micelles in Aqueous Media	52
2.5.3 Electrode Modification Using Surfactants	
2.5.4 Influence of surfactants on the electrochemical kinetics	53
2.5.5 Surfactant Adsorption	
2.5.6 Electron transfer in surfactant containing solutions	55

2.5.7 Role of surfactants in electrochemistry	56
2.5.7.1 Use of surfactants in heavy metal analysis	57
2.5.7.2 Suitability of surfactant modified electrode for drug analysis	58
2.6 Detection of penicillin in biological and environmental samples	59
2.6.1 Chromatographic Methods	59
2.6.2 Microbial Assays	60
2.6.3 Electrochemical methods	61
2.7 Development and Validation of Analytical Method for Penicillins Analysis	
2.7.1 Method development	62
2.7.2 Analytical method validation	63
2.7.2.1 Accuracy	64
2.7.2.2 Precision	65
2.7.2.3 Estimating the Limit of Detection (LOD)	66
2.7.2.4 Estimating the Limit of Quantitation (LOQ)	67
2.7.2.5 Estimating the linearity and range	67
2.7.2.6 Estimating the Ruggedness of analytical method	68
2.7.2.7 Estimating robustness of analytical method	68
2.8 Statistical Treatment of Analytical Data	
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Chemicals and Solutions	
3.2 Apparatus	
3.3 Preparation of working electrode	
3.3.1 Polishing the glassy carbon working electrode	71
3.4 Preparation of Solutions	
3.4.1 Potassium Chloride Solution (0.1M) Preparation	
3.4.2 Phosphate buffer saline solution preparation	
3.4.3 Preparation of 2 mM potassium ferricyanide solution	
3.4.4 Preparation of Acetate Buffer Solution (ABS)	

3.4.5 Preparation of sodium dodecyl sulfate in acetate buffer solution	73
3.4.6 Preparation of interferent solutions	73
3.4.7 Preparation of Standard Solutions	74
3.4.7.1 Preparation of 0.1M Penicillin G Solution	74
3.4.7.2 Preparation of penicillin v solution	75
3.4.7.3 Preparation of penicillin G sample from a drug (pen-strep)	75
3.5 Sample collection and treatment	75
3.6 Analytical Techniques	75
3.6.1 Cyclic Voltammetry	75
3.6.2 Square Wave Voltammetry	76
3.7 Samples Analysis and Optimization	76
3.7.1 Characterization of Working Electrode	76
3.7.2 Buffer pH	76
3.7.3 Optimizing the Concentration of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate)	76
3.7.4 Cyclic Voltammetry Studies of the Analytes	77
3.7.4.1 Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin v in presence and absence of the surfactant	77
3.7.4.1 Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin G in presence and absence of the surfactant	77
3.8 Validation of Methods	78
3.8.1 Precision of the Proposed Method	78
3.8.2 Accuracy of the proposed method	78
3.8.3 Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation	79
3.9 Interference in the analytical method	80
3.9.1 Determination of the effects of interferants	80
3.10 Analysis of milk spiked with penicillin G and Pen -Strep Samples	80
3.10.1 Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin G in milk samples and Pen-strep sample	80
3.10.2 Precision of the method in determination of Penicillin G in cow milk	80

3.10.3 Accuracy of the method in determination of Penicillin G in cow milk	81
3.10.4 Determining Limit of Detection of penicillin G in cow milk	81
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	82
4.1. Characterization of Working Electrode	82
4.1.1 The Effect of pH in Determination of Penicillin V	84
4.1.2. Optimizing the Concentration of Surfactant Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS)	85
4.1.3 Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on Voltammetric Currents of penicilli and G)	n (V 87
4.1.4.1 Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on the Voltammetric Current of Penicillin G	87
4.1.4.2 Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on the Voltammetric Current of Penicillin V	89
4.1.4 Cyclic Voltammetry	90
4.1.5.1 Cyclic Voltammetry of Penicillin V (Phenoxymethylpenicillin)	90
4.1.5.2 Cyclic Voltammetry of Penicillin G (Benzylpenicillin)	96
4.2 Validation of the Voltammetric Method	102
4.2.1 Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation in Voltammetric Determination	on of
Penicillin V	102
4.2.2 Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation in Voltammetric Determination Penicillin G	on of 105
4.2.3 Precision Studies in Determination of Pen V and G in ABS-SDS	107
4.2.4 Accuracy Studies in Determination of Pen V and G in ABS-SDS	109
4.3 Effect of interferents	110
4.4 Evaluation of the developed Method	114
4.4.1 Cyclic Voltammetry of Cow Milk Sample Containing Penicillin G and Penicilli	n G
Containing Capsules	114
4.4.2 Precision in Determination of Pen G in Cow Milk and in Procaine Penicillin Drug	120
4.4.3 Accuracy in Determination of Pen G in Cow Milk and in Procaine Penicillin Drug	122

4.4.4 Detection Limit of Penicillin G in Cow Milk	126
4.4.5 Developed Method Versus Other Methods	128
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
5.1 Conclusions	
5.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Preparation of interferent solutions from salts with cations or anions of interest
Table 4.1: Summary of effects of addition of sodium dodecyl sulfate on oxidation potential and
diffusion coefficient of penicillin G and V 102
Table 4.2: The linear concentration range (LCR), limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantitation
(LOQ) and the regression equation (RE) of Penicillin V in Acetate buffer, pH 4.5 and SDS/Acetate
buffer, pH 4.5 on bare GC electrode104
Table 4.3: LCR, LOD, LOQ, R and regression equation for Penicillin G in ABS, pH 4.5 and
ABS/SDS, pH 4.5 on bare Glassy Carbon electrode
Table 4.4: Oxidation potential and voltammetric currents of penicillin V and G obtained using
square wave voltammetry
Table 4.5. Symmetry of statistical values obtained from square wave valuementric symmetries
penicillin G and V
Table 4.6: Recovery studies after standard addition (50%-150%) of .14M penicillin V and 0.2 M
pencilin G 109
Table 4.7: Effect of addition of interferents on ABS-SDS penicillin G 110
Table 4.8: Effect of addition of interferents on ABS-SDS penicillin V 112
Table 4.9. Electrochemical properties of Penicillin G in cow milk and pharmaceutical samples 120
Table 4.9.Electrochemical properties of rememin O in cow mink and pharmaceutear samples 120
Table 4.10: Potential and current response of penicillin G (cow milk and drug) using ABS-SDS
solution
Table 4.11: Experimental results showing mean, standard deviation and relative standard deviation
of current response of penicillin G in cow milk and Pharmaceutical samples 122

Table 4.12: The percent recovery values of analyte from spiked standard solutions of penicillin	G
in cow milk and Pharmaceutical samples 12	5
Table 4.13: Detection limits of some of the voltammetric methods used in analysis of penicillin	s.
	8

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: A simple electrochemical cell showing working electrode (WE), silver/silver chloride
(RE) and platinum wire (CE)
Figure 2.2: Current –Potential curves for a) ideal polarizable electrode b) ideal non-polarizable
electrode. The broken lines show deviation from ideal behavior by real electrodes
Figure 2.3: Reduction of species A
Figure 2.4: Oxidation of species A
Figure 2.5: Schematic representation of electrical double layer
Figure 2.6: General steps in an electrode reaction
Figure 2.7: Basic functionality of electrochemical methods
Figure 2.8: Typical linear sweep voltammetry for reduction of species A to P
Figure 2.9: A cyclic voltammogram of a reversible redox reaction
Figure 2.10: Potential-time excitation signal for cyclic voltammetry
Figure 2.11: An irreversible cyclic voltammogram of 8mM phenol in sulfuric acid on platinum electrode
Figure 2.12: Potential-time function resulting from superimposition of potential pulses on staircase ramp
Figure 2.13: A wave form showing square wave superimposed on a base staircase
Figure 2.14: A typical SWV containing the forward, reverse and net currents
Figure 3.1: Electrode polishing

Figure 4.3: Effect of pH on the square wave voltammetric peak currents of 1.4mM Penicillin V

Figure 4.9: Randles-Se	vcik plot of anodic	currents (i_{pa})	versus the square	root of scan rates	$(v^{1/2})$
of 1.4mM penicillin V	in ABS, pH 4.5				92

1 /0

Figure 4.17: Calibration plot of concentration of penicillin V versus voltammetric current. 104

Figure 4.18: Square wave voltammograms of penicillin G at varying benzylpenicillin concentrations in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5; frequency: 15Hz and amplitude 0.025V...... 105

Figure 4.19: A plot of concentration of penicillin G versus voltammetric current...... 106

Figure 4.21: Effect of interferents on voltammetric current in determination of penicillin V in Figure 4.22: An overlay of cyclic voltammograms of 0.1M penicillin G in cow milk, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at different scan rates. Initial potential: 1.0 V; high potential: 2.0V; low Figure 4.24: An overlay of cyclic voltammograms of 0.1M penicillin G in procaine penicillin drug, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at different scan rates. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: Figure 4.25: A plot of anodic peak currents (i_{pa}) against square root of scan rate ($v^{1/2}$) in procaine Figure 4.26: An overlay of square wave voltammograms of penicillin G in cow milk spiked with 50%, 100% and 150% concentrations of penicillin G at pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at Figure 4.27: Plot of voltammetric current versus concentration (mM) of Penicillin G in drug. 124 Figure 4.28: Square wave voltammetry of different concentration of Penicillin G in cow milk on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0 V. 126 Figure 4.29: Linear plot of current (A) against concentration (mM) of penicillin G in cow milk.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ABS	Acetate buffer
ABS/SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate in acetate buffer
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
CE	Counter electrodes
СТАВ	Cetyl Trimethyl Ammonium Bromide
Do	Diffusion coefficient
DPV	Differential pulse voltammetry
Epa	Anodic peak potential
Epc	Cathodic peak potential
Gaba	Gamma-Amino butyric acid
GCE	Glassy Carbon Electrode
Id	Net current
I_{f}	Forward current
Ir	Reverse current
LC	Liquid chromatography
LC-MS-MS	Liquid chromatographic-tandem mass spectrophotometer

LOD	Limit of Detection
LOQ	Limit of quantitation
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
PBP	Penicillin binding protein
PEDOT	Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene)
PLE	Pressurized liquid extraction
RE	Reference Electrode
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SWV	Square wave voltammetry
UV	Ultraviolet
WE	Working electrode
WHO	World health organization

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1: Background information

Penicillins are antibacterial agents belonging to beta-lactam group of antibiotics. This group of antibiotics is characterized by the presence of a highly reactive four-member ring, comprising of three carbons and nitrogen atom (Fernades *et al.*,2013). Beta-lactam drugs use their reactive four-member ring to bind to transpeptidase. Transpeptidase, also commonly referred as penicillin binding proteins (PBP), is an enzyme responsible for cross linking peptide units during synthesis of peptidoglycan, a major component of cell envelope of almost all bacteria. Cell wall acts as a selective sieve for molecules entering bacteria from its immediate outer environment (Yao and Eefjan, 2016). When cross-linking of the peptide units is compromised, bacterial cell wall synthesis is impaired resulting in lysis and eventual cell death (Etebu and Arikekpar, 2016; Odonkor and Addo, 2011). Common penicillins include phenoxymethylpenicillin (penicillin V), benzylpenicillin (penicillin G), amoxicillin and oxacillin among others. Penicillins are also combined with other antibiotics to form a stronger antibiotic product, through a process called augmentation (Nakazawa *et al.*, 2003)

Due to their strong antibacterial activity, penicillins are widely used in humans and in animal husbandry to control and manage bacterial infections (Zervosen *et al.*, 2012). In clinical medicine, penicillin G is the drug of choice against *Neisseria meningitides;* a bacterium which causes meningitis (Jean , *et al.*, 2013). In animals, antibiotics are used for disease control especially in intensive animal production and for non-therapeutic purpose such as growth promotion and also as cheaper substitutes for hygiene measures to prevent infections in livestock (Hampton, 2013; Van Boeckel, *et al.*, 2017) Antimicrobials are added into animal

feeds to suppress the growth of microbiota in the small intestine (Jensen, 1998). This is done to ensure maximum absorption of digested food and promote faster growth especially for foodproducing animals and also protect the animal from toxins produced by the microbiota (Jensen, 1998).

Antibiotics are administered to animals via three routes; injection, oral (added to food and water) and topical application (applied on the skin or by intramammary infusions). All these routes of administration may lead to presence of antibiotic residues in human and animal food (Mitchell *et al.*, 1998). Numerous studies report that animals excrete between 17- 75% of antibiotics administered in urine and feaces either unchanged or as active metabolites as reviewed by Massé *et al.*, (2014). Other studies have reported presence of antibiotic residues in milk and meat products meant for human consumption (Brown *et al.*, 2020; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2004; Kang'ethe 2004; Shitandi and Sternesjo, 2004). Surveys from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) indicate that incorrect use of antibiotics in the management of mastitis is the key source of antibiotic contamination in milk. Additionlly, the presence of drug residues in beef is attributed to beef carcasses of culled dairy cows (Jones, 2009). Higher residue contamination was reported in milk samples from rural households and small traders since there is minimal bulking (Kang'ethe, 2004).

Presence of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) in foods from animal sources exposes human to small doses of antibiotics consequently selecting for antibiotic resistant bacteria. Findings from an invitro study by Inga *et al.*, (2003) show that exposure to sub optimal dosages of benzylpenicillin could select *streptococcus pneumoniae* for resistance to penicillin. In clinical settings, an increase in the risk for carriage of penicillin-resistant *S pneumonia* was reported in children treated daily for more than 5 days with lower than clinically recommended doses of a β -lactam (Guillermot, *et al.*, 1998) Hencewith, antimicrobial residue presence in food products could carry a similar risk. Shitandi and Sternesjo (2004) posit that the risk is higher for growing children due to consumption of large quantities of milk and milk product on the basis of body to weight ratio.

The emergence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is major threat to public health. In 2017, WHO released a list of 12 families of resistant bacteria that present a significant threat to human health. The aim of the list was to guide research and development (R&D) of new antibiotics (Willyard, 2017). This is in spite of the numerous classes of antibiotics that have reached the clinic since the first clinical use of salvarsan, a synthetic antibiotic in 1910 (Hutching *et al.*, 2019). Flemming, a Nobel laureate for the discovery of penicillin warned that misuse of the drug would lead to its resistance in his acceptance speech. Less than ten years later, resistance to penicillin was reported following its widescale use (Rosenblatt-Farrell, 2009). In 1953, an epidemic of penicillin resistant *Stapyhloccus aureus* spread around the world (Finland, 1955; Hillier, 2006)

Most of the effort to combat antibiotic resistance was only carried out at 'local' level since WHO had refrained from assuming coordinating international roles on surveillance and appropriate use of antibiotics throughout the 1950s and 1960s. (Gradmann, 2013; Podolsky, 2015). At the time, there was optimism that the drug industry would keep up with the antimicrobial resistance race due to the discovery of other antibiotics such as chloramphenicol, tetracyclines, macrolides and others (Podolsky, 2018). However, there has been a gradual decline in the discovery and development of new classes of antibiotic for various reasons. These include a shortage of new metabolic targets and high costs of developing new drugs among other varying reasons (Coates *et al.*, 2011)

Penicillins and other antibiotics can cause allergic reactions. It is approximated that 5-10 % of the population is hypersensitive to antibiotics. Symptoms of exposure range from asthsma, skin rash, hives and anaphylatic shock (Dayan, 1993; Jones, 2009). Concomitant administration of antibiotics with oral contraceptives may reduce the efficacy of some oral contraceptive pills (Dickinson *et al.*, 2001; Osborne, 2002). Other undesirable effects of antibiotics include the adverse interactions with anticoagulants (warfarin), anticonvulsants (phenobarbitone and phenytoin) and tolbutamide, and oral antidiabetic drug (Bint and Burtt, 1980). So far, only allergic reactions have been conclusively linked to presence of antibiotic residues in food sources from animals and in some cases from plants (Dayan, 1993; Graham *et al.*, 2014; Raison-Peyron *et al.*, 2001;). But this does not underscore the contribution of consuming these residues in food to AMR and other toxicological effects linked to antibiotics.

The presence of anti-microbial residues in milk has additional marked effects notably from an industrial viewpoint; they interfere with the manufacture of several dairy products. Antibiotic concentrations as low as 1 ppb delay starter activity for butter, cheese and yogurt. Additionally, these residues reduce curdling of milk, production of acid and flavor associated with the manufacture of butter and cause improper ripening of cheeses (Jones, 2009).

Several methods have been applied in detection of penicillins in samples of biological and environmental origin. The most commonly used method has been High-performance liquid chromatography coupled with other methods of detection. This method has been considered to be the most successful due to its high sensitivity and selectivity. However it is expensive and time consuming because it involve derivatization, extraction and purification procedures (Švorc *et al.*, 2012). Various electrochemical techniques have also been used for analysis of penicillins. They include differential pulse voltammetry (L'ubomir *et al.*, 2012; Bergamini *et al.*, 2006)) and pulsed amperometry (Koprowski *et al.*, 1993). Electrochemical methods are known to be superior because they are simple, low-cost, fast and they can easily be miniaturized to obtain portable sensors for on-site analysis (Švorc *et al.*, 2012). These properties eliminate limitations found in other analytical techniques (Baranowska *et al.*, 2008). However, few studies has been done on penicillins using electro-analytical methods probably because the electrode must be driven to higher oxidative potential and the resulting voltammograms are not well defined (Švorc *et al.*, 2012). There is therefore, a need to improve the currently existing methods for optimum detection of penicillins.

Surfactants have been utilized in numerous applications in chemistry including electrocatalysis and electroanalysis among others (Vittal *et al.*, 2006). Surfactants are known to alter and control properties of electrode surfaces, therefore they have been used to enhance or alter reaction rates (Atta *et al.*, 2007).

This work demonstrates application of SDS containing support electrolyte to enhance oxidation signal for detection of penicillin G & V without any chemical modification on glassy carbon electrode surface. The Voltammetric method developed does not need any chemical alteration on the electrode surface or electrochemical pretreatment of the GC electrode; hence this method is simple, straight forward and highly reproducible.

1.2: Statement of the Problem

Global trends show a marked increase in the use of antimicrobials due to an increase in disease burdens for both animals and humans, and intensive livestock production (Muloi, *et al.*, 2019; Van Boeckel, *et al.*, 2017). It is estimated that the quantities of antibiotics used in livestock production is almost double that used in human medicine (Aarestrup, 2012). A significant proportion (upto 75 %) of antibiotics consumed by animals are released as active pharmaceutical ingredients (Massé *et al.*, 2014). These contaminants end up in the environment where they are likely to be consumed in drinking water (K^{*}ummerer, 2010) and also in animal milk and meat products (Brown *et al.*, 2020; Sitandi & Sternesjo 2004; Rahman *et al.*, 2021).

Lack of adequate monitoring systems and detection facilities for antimicrobial residues in foods put the developing countries at a greater risk of consuming residues in animal products than developed countries (Sachi *et al.*, 2019). This inadvertent consumption of antimicrobial residues in food is associated with negative effects on consumers' health. These include, selection for drug resistant microbes, hypersensitivity reactions, disruption of the normal gut microbes among others (Falowo and Akimoladun, 2020).

1.3: Objectives

1.3.1: General objective

The general objective of this study was to develop a simple square wave voltammetric method that can be used to determine the presence of penicillins in food samples.

1.3.2: Specific objectives

The specific objectives of the study were;

- i. To optimize the electrolyte composition (pH and SDS concentration) for optimum voltammetric detection of the analyte (Penicillin V and Penicillin G)
- ii. To validate the voltammetric method by determining its useful linear range (LR), limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ), precision and accuracy.

- iii. To assess the effects of interferents on detection of the analytes (penicillin G and penicillin V) by the voltammetric method.
- iv. To determine the applicability of the method in detecting and quantifying penicillins(V and G) in milk samples.

1.4: Justification and Significance of the Study

Milk is considered nature's most complete food for infants, growing children and adult humans. Some of its most valuable constituents include proteins (casein and whey) and calcium which plays a crucial role in bone development in children and prevention of osteoporosis in the elderly (Park and Haenlein, 2015; Wolfe, 2015). Injudicious usage of antibiotics in livestock production has been attributed to the presence of antibiotic residues in milk and milk products. One of the greatest public health concerns, is that exposure to these antimicrobials will contribute to the selection of antibiotic resistant bacteria rendering particular classes of antibiotics to lose efficacy (Kebede *et al.*, 2014; Sachi *et al.*, 2019).

To minimize the risk of consuming these antibiotic residues in food, most countries came up with maximum residue limits (MRLs). For instance, the European Union (EU), set MRLs for β -lactams group i.e. ampicillin, amoxicillin and penicillin G at 4 µg/kg, dicloxacillin and oxacillin at 30 µg/kg, cephalexin at 100 µg/kg and cephapirin 60 µg/kg (The Commission of the European Communities, 1999). Regulatory bodies in most developing countries like Kenya have not set MRLs but rather specify zero tolerance meaning detectable residues are not permissible in foodstuff (Kebede *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, these countries lack elaborate monitoring systems and detection facilities hence consumption of these residues in milk is rife (Brown *et al.*, 2020; Kang'ethe *et al.*, 2005; Kosgey *et al.*, 2018; Orwa *et al.*, 2017; Sachi *et al.*, 2019; Shitandi and Sternesjö, 2001, 2004). One of the recommendations after these findings

was that research on cost-effective screening methods needed to be carried out (Kosgey *et al.*, 2018.

So far, no work on detection of benzylpenicillin (penicillin G) and phenoxymethylpenicillin (penicillin V) on glassy carbon electrode in sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)-acetate buffer media (ABS) has been reported. The developed method has the potential to allow for onsite analysis of samples unlike HPLC and enzymatic methods where samples are analysed in a centralized laboratory. Additionally, this method is simple and cheap compared to the above methods (HPLC and Enzymatic) which are tedious, involving and expensive.

Use of a surface-active agent, sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), prevents electrode fouling (Yang *et al.*, 2009) and improves the electrochemical properties of glassy carbon electrode surface (Atta *et al.*, 2014). Consequently, the voltammograms were well defined. This is in contrast with the common electrochemical methods where the voltammograms are poorly formed.

The use of highly polished glassy carbon electrode makes analysis less tedious and reproducible unlike the use of surface modified electrodes which are tedious and irreproducible (Guo *et al.*, 2017). This work therefore, proposes a simple, fast, low cost and field deployable alternative method for detection of penicillin (V and G) in milk samples.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1: Electrochemistry

Electrochemistry is an active field of modern research which involves the study of chemical changes that result from application of electrical energy on electrolytes and how chemical reactions can also be used to produce electrical energy (Magnussen, 2006). Consequently, electrochemistry has been used both in qualitative and quantitative determination of electro-active analytes. Additionally, this branch of science has been applied in development electroanalytical sensors, fuel cells, batteries among others (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

In research, electrochemical measurements are made using different electroanalytical methods for different reasons. These include obtaining thermodynamic data for a reaction, generating unstable intermediate to study its decay and analyzing solutions for trace elements (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). Electro-analytical methods are important tools in understanding and analyzing chemical systems especially those involving electro-active species. Electrochemical methods can also be used in synthesis of a product or modification of an electrode to improve its properties e.g. Electrodeposition of polyaniline on glassy carbon electrode surface (Wang *et al*, 2011).

The interface between the metal (electrode) and the electrolyte solution is the region where electrochemical reactions take place (Crow, 2017). The interface is usually charged; the metal surface carries excess charge which is balanced by a charge equal but opposite in charge from the solution side. The resulting charge distribution, two narrow regions of equal but opposite

charge form a region known as the electrical double layer. The region extending from the interface to around 3 nm is different from the bulk solution (Zoski, 2007). Reactions that involve charge transfer across the interface are said to be electrochemical reactions. As the current passes on, the electrode surface develops charge due to movement of electrons. The interaction of electro-active materials diffusing from the bulk solution to the charged surface results in a redox reaction, where both oxidation and reduction take place simultaneously.

There are two types of charge transfer reactions occurring at the interface, namely; heterogeneous and homogenous. Heterogeneous electron transfer occurs when an electroactive material in solution moves to the surface of electrode, different phase, where electron exchange occurs at the solution-electrode interface (Zoski, 2007). A reaction is said to be homogenous if the electron transfer reaction takes place between species in the same phase, i.e. solution. In electrode processes, the most commonly used electrode materials are solid metals (silver and gold), liquid metals (mercury), graphite and semi-conductors e.g. indium-tin oxide (Bard and Faulkner , 2001).

Most of the electrode processes take place in an electrochemical cell, containing mainly an electrolyte and electrodes. Aqueous solutions containing soluble salts such as K^+ , Cl^- and H^+ in water or other non-aqueous solvents are commonly used as electrolytes. Charge transfer in these aqueous solutions is possible due to presence of large number of mobile ions. A good electrolyte should be sufficiently conductive to be useful in electroanalysis (Andreev and Bruce, 2000).

2.2: Basic Principles of Electrochemistry

2.2.1: Potentiostat

Potentiostat is a device that applies an exact potential and monitors the changes in current in the

electrochemical system (Dryden and Wheeler, 2015). The modern day Potentiostat comes as a package containing electrometer circuits, converters, amplifiers and microprocessor loaded with internal memory (Rubin and Carlos , 2008). Modern Potentiostat operate in digital form, where a 'staircase' modulated potential is commonly used with 'steps' having constant potential increment. Thanks to development in technology, different pulsed methods have been developed. These methods have increased sensitivity and shortened the time taken to analyze a sample. The most common waveforms in the current Potentiostat are linear scan, differential pulse and square wave. Various types of Potentiostat are available in the market and they vary in size, power and sophistication ranging from simple to large research grade Potentiostat (Rubin and Carlos , 2008).

2.2.2: Electrochemical Cell

Electrochemical analysis takes place in an electrochemical cell, which is basically made of three-electrodes suspended in a support electrolyte carrying the substance being analysed as shown in Figure 2.1. The three electrode systems consist of the working/indicator electrode, reference electrode (RE) and counter (auxiliary) electrode (CE). The tips of the three electrodes in a cell should be kept in close proximity as much as possible to reduce solution resistance. The close approach is especially important for the working and reference electrode. Solution resistance between these two electrodes leads to iR drop that manifest as an error in the measured potential between them (Joseph, 2006). A potentiostat is able to electronically compensate for this resistance as in the case between the reference and auxiliary electrode.

The auxiliary electrode should at least have same surface area as the working electrode and positioned symmetrically with respect to working electrode so that the current density and potential experienced on its entire length is constant (Tian, *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 2.1: A simple electrochemical cell showing working electrode (WE), silver/silver chloride (RE) and platinum wire (CE) (Source: (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

In most electrochemical reactions, the dissolved oxygen in the electrolyte should be removed by purging with inert gas. Oxygen is electro-active in a wide cathodic potential range and its therefore likely to interfere with electrochemical analysis (Joseph, 2006) . Additionally, its presence in a sample solution may lead to oxidation of products formed during electrolysis. Oxygen is removed by purging the electrolyte solution for five to ten minutes with inert gas prior to the experiment. This removes oxygen from solution and maintains a blanket of inert gas above solution during the experiment. The most commonly used inert gases are nitrogen and argon (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018)

Various cell volumes exist ranging from microlitres to millitres depending on the goal of the researcher. Cells designs are also varied from simple to complex systems integrating build-in gas control, magnetic stirrer, connection to electrochemical analyzer and proper cover. The cell design and material used for the cell construction depends on the experiment at hand and the

nature of the sample (Joseph, 2006). Additionally, cell designs may also differ in size, shape and temperature control capabilities among others.

Glass is the most commonly used material for making electrochemical cells since it is cheaper, transparent, chemically inert and impermeable (Zoski, 2007). Other possible cell materials include Teflon and quartz. Cell cover material should not react with the sample under study. In a quiescent solution a simple design as shown in Figure 2.1 may be used.

2.2.3: Solvent

The choice of the most convenient solvent for electrochemical work is governed by a number of physicochemical properties (Noel and Vasu, 1990). The solvent be in liquid form at room temperature and capable of dissolving ionic substances that form the electrolyte and electro-active species. Additionally, it must possess a sufficiently broad potential window for study of the electro-active species of interest without it being oxidized or reduced within the potential window (Sharma and Zaidi, 2020). Moreover, it must possess a good dielectric constant and the required acid-base properties over the chosen potential window (Sharma and Zaidi, 2020).

Water possesses most of these physico-chemical properties and it's the most commonly used solvent in preparations of highly conducting electrolytes (Guduru and Icaza, 2016). However, water has its limitations. Some analytes are insoluble in water, it can easily be oxidized or reduced and it also forms films on electrodes which compromise electrode reaction and its reproducibility. Despite its limitations, water is the most commonly used solvent (Guduru and Icaza, 2016). Other solvents used include; Acetonitrile, which has poor solubility for ionic salts, dimethyl formamide (DMF), with good dissolving power for ionic species but self decomposes when a potential above +1.0 V is applied, and dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) with similar

properties to DMF but with better cathodic potential limits (Noel and Vasu, 1990).

2.2.4: Supporting Electrolytes

A Support or swamping electrolyte is a solution containing ionizable salts or compounds that are not redox-active in a given potential window and whose ionic strength is much greater than the dissolved electro-active substance (Creager, 2007). The choice of support electrolyte primarily depends on whether the analyte can dissolve in it and the electrochemical properties of the solvent (Creager, 2007). Support electrolyte is used to increase conductivity by reducing solution resistance, to reduce transport of redox-active species through migration (electromigration) and maintain constant ionic strength and pH (Joseph, 2006). A good support electrolyte should be (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018);

- i. Electrochemically inert in the potential window of interest.
- ii. Very high in concentration to avoid influencing charge transfer kinetics.
- iii. Non-absorbent on the electrode surface. This ensures that they don't interfere with electrode reactions by either inhibiting or catalyzing them.
- iv. Unreactive with analyte or products forming on the electrode surface.

Some of the inert electrolytes that are used include inorganic salts, buffers like acetate and phosphate; especially if pH control is essential, strong acids like sulphuric acid, hydrochloric acid among others or strong bases like sodium or potassium hydroxide. Tetraalkylammonium salts are also often used especially in organic media (Creager, 2007).

2.2.5: Electrodes

Electrochemical reactions take place at the electrode-solution interface. There are three types of electrodes in an electrochemical cell each playing out a different role during electrochemical reaction.

2.2.5.1: Counter/Auxiliary Electrode

The counter electrode (CE), also referred to as auxiliary electrode is used to close the current circuit in an electrochemical cell. Counter electrode does not participate in cell reaction and it's made from inert materials such as platinum, gold, graphite and glassy carbon. Platinum is the material of choice due to its chemical inertness and fast electrode kinetics (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). As such, platinum wire is commonly used as counter electrode. Since the current flows between the counter electrode and the working electrode, the total surface area of the auxiliary electrode should be higher than that of working electrode to ensure that CE does not impede half reactions of interest (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

2.2.5.2: Working/Indicator Electrode

It is the surface where the analyte is reduced or oxidized depending on the potential applied on it (Bott, 1997). Electrochemical reaction takes place at a region between the indicator electrode and the sample solution. The choice of the indicator electrode is a critical factor for success in analytical work (Bott, 1997). The exposed surface of this electrode is small to limit the area in which the reaction takes place (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). Consequently, this allows the experimenter to monitor a controlled population of electro-active species as they undergo redox reaction. The material used for working electrode should allow a quick and reproducible electron transfer reaction without allowing accumulation of material on its surface (Grieshaber *et al.*, 2008). Ideally the WE surface should be conductive and inert under the experimental

conditions (Bott, 1997). Additionally, the potential window should be large enough to allow greater degree of analyte characterization (Grieshaber *et al.*, 2008). The electrode surface should also allow easy renewal after a measurement (Bott, 1997).

Working electrodes are made from different materials and come in variety of shapes and forms (Kounaves, 1997). The most common forms are solid and liquid forms. The solid electrodes are mainly carbon based and metal-based (Bott, 1997). The metal based working electrodes are mainly made of silver, platinum and gold. Platinum's chemical inertness, good electrochemical conductivity and ability to be fabricated in many forms makes it one of the best materials for making working electrodes (Bott, 1997). However, platinum is expensive and easily liberates hydrogen at relatively lower negative potentials in presence of little quantities of water or acid. Gold working electrodes have features similar to platinum. However, it is less preferred especially if potential window for analysis lies in the positive region because of formation of surface oxide. Such films significantly alter the rate of surface reaction which may result in unreproducible data (Joseph, 2006). However, gold useful in preparation of modified surfaces. Most common liquid working electrodes include dropping mercury electrode, hanging mercury drop electrode and static mercury drop electrode (Bott, 1997).

Carbon allows greater negative and positive potential window scan than both platinum and gold. Carbon electrodes come in different forms but the most common types are carbon paste electrode and glassy carbon electrode (GCE) (Kounaves, 1997). Glassy carbon electrodes are the most preferred working electrodes because of their exceptional mechanical and electrical properties, chemical inertness, high reproducibility and broad potential window (Qureshi *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, GCE surface can easily be regenerated through polishing using alumina slurries on a polishing cloth (Bott, 1997). Carbon working electrode can be modified using

various materials or chemicals such as polymers to make chemically modified electrodes (Wang *et al.*, 2012).

Electrode modification is a deliberate alteration of the electrode surface to meet the electroanalytical need of the researcher. Electrode surfaces are modified to accelerate electron transfer reactions, for preferential accumulation of a species of interest or selective membrane permeation among other reasons (Madkour, 2000). Electrode modification occurs through attachment of various functional groups such as surfactants, hydroxyl and carbonyl among others (Wang *et al.*, 2012).

A solid electrode requires careful pre-treatment unlike mercury working electrode. Solid electrodes are polished clean on a wet polishing pad. This can be done using alumina slurries of different particle sizes (Bott, 1997). Electrochemical activation is important for solid electrodes to obtain reproducible voltammograms. However, if the electrodes are modified with other substances such as polymers or composites, their surfaces are not polished.

2.2.5.3: Reference Electrode

The individual potential of a cell cannot be directly established but rather its relative potential is measured relative to an electrode with a fixed or/and known electrode potential. The potential of reference electrode is not affected by chemical species in the support electrolyte and should therefore remain stable on passing a little current (Smith and Stevenson, 2007). Owing to these features, it is used as the standard against which the potential of the working electrodes is established (Inzelt *et al.*, 2013).
Since no absolute standard for measurement of electrochemical potential exists, the standard hydrogen electrode (SHE) has been adopted as a primary reference electrode. SHE has several inherent limitations such as, difficulty in maintenance and reproducibility and the ease with which the platinum is poisoned. Due to such limitations secondary reference electrodes are used e.g. calomel electrode (Hg/Hg₂Cl₂) and Ag/AgCl. Ag/AgCl electrode consists of silver wire immersed in saturated solution containing silver chloride and potassium chloride (Inzelt *et al.*, 2013).

2.2.6: Polarizable and Non-Polarizable Interfaces

Some electrodes do not allow transfer of electron across the metal-solution interface regardless of the potential imposed on the electrode by an external source of voltage. Such kind of electrodes are said to be ideal polarizable electrodes (IPE) (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). Application of charge from an external source causes a substantial build-up of excess charge at the interface. Consequently, there is an enormous change in potential upon application of an infinitesimal current. IPEs are represented by a horizontal region in current-potential curve as shown in Figure 2.2 a.

Conversely, some electrodes allow electrons to quickly pass across the electrode/solution interface. Such electrodes are said to be non-polarizable (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). Change in applied external potential may cause more electrons to pass swiftly across the electrode/solution interface. Consequently, less charge accumulates at the electrode surface, i.e., the electrode- solution interface is not polarized. An ideal non-polarizable electrode can therefore be described as an electrode of fixed potential as shown in Figure 2.2 b.



Figure 2.2: Current –Potential curves for a) ideal polarizable electrode b) ideal non-polarizable electrode. The broken lines show deviation from ideal behavior by real electrodes. Source:(Bard and Faulkner, 2001)

2.3: Electrode Processes

Electrode processes take place between the electrode surface and solution, in a region commonly reffered as the interface. Characteristics at the interface differ remarkably from those of the bulk (Bard and Faulkner , 2001). This region includes the electrode surface and part of solution influenced by it. In a three electrode system, refence electrode is characterised by a constant potential while the potential of the indicator electrode is controlled with respect to that of the reference electrode (Inzelt *et al.*, 2013). In a solid working electrode, there are many electronic energy levels forming a band. The highest energy of this band is called a fermi level (Bard and Faulkner , 2001). The solution side consists of single molecules which have discrete energy levels. The energy of electrons at the electrode surface can be controlled by scanning the potential negatively or positively (Bard and Faulkner , 2001). Pushing the electrode to more negative potential causes the energy of the electrons to be increased therefore raising the fermi level. Consequently, the electrons attain enough energy to jump into the vacant energy level of redox-active species in the sample solution as shown in Figue 2.3

(Bockris and Khan, 1983). As electrons jump from the electrode into solution, a reduction current is produced.



Figure 2.3: Reduction of species A source: (Bard and Faulkner, 2001)

Similarly, when the potential of the working electrode is scanned in the positive direction, the build-up of positive charge lowers the electron energy at the electrode. Consequently, the fermi level drops and the electrons from electro-active analytes jump from a less energy favorable solution to a more energy favorable energy state at the electrode surface (Bockris and Khan, 1983). As a result, the analyte flow from the electrolyte to the electrode resulting in oxidation of solvated species and flow of current as shown in Figure 2.4. The potentials at which oxidation and reduction of the analyte species take place across the interface are related to standard potentials, E^{o} which is unique to a particular chemical specie (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).



Figure 2.4: Oxidation of species A Source: (Bard and Faulkner, 2001)

2.3.1: Electrical Double Layer

When potential is applied to a working electrode dipped in a solution or electrolyte, charge accumulates at the electrode surface. The excess charge at the electrode surface causes an accumulation of excess ions/molecules of opposite charge in the solution/electrolyte (Bockris and Khan, 1983). The interaction between the ions in solution and the charged electrode surface is assumed to be electrostatic (Bard and Faulkner , 2001). The attracted ions approach the electrode surface and form a layer to balance the excess charge at the electrode surface. The resulting charge separation of two regions of opposite but equal charges give rise to a region called electrical double layer (Bockris and Khan, 1983). The solution side of the double layer is believed to be made of a number of "layers" (Joseph, 2006). Since these layers form in the solution side in response to the excess charge forming on the electrode (q_e) , a negative charge at the electrode would cause an array of positively charged ions to form on the solution side(q_s) and vice versa. This is so because the electrode/solution interface must be neutral ($q_e + q_s = 0$) (Joseph, 2006).

According to the Helmholtz model, the solution side consists of inner and outer Helmholtz planes. The inner Helmholtz layer is the closest to the electrode surface and it consists of all species that are specifically adsorbed. If only one type of molecule or ion is adsorbed, and they all sit in same positions then their centres define the inner Helmholtz plane (IHP). The outer Helmholtz plane (OHP) consists of ions/molecules closest to the electrode but not specifically adsorbed. Their solvation sphere is intact and they are bound to the electrode by electrostatic forces (Joseph, 2006).

Both the inner and outer Helmholtz plane constitutes the stern layer or compact layer. This layer is strongly attached to electrode surface to such a degree that the layer will remain intact even when the electrode is withdrawn from the solution (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).



Figure 2.5: Schematic representation of electrical double layer. Source: (Mithu et al., 2017)

The outer layer that extends beyond the compact layer is referred as the diffuse layer. This region consists of free ions scattered into bulk solution and extends from the OHP into the bulk

solution where the total charge of the compact layer and diffuse layer equals to but opposite to the net charge on the electrode side (Bockris and Khan, 1983).

2.3.2: Charge Transfer Across the Interface

Electrode processes are heterogeneous reactions in which charge transfer occurs on the electrode-solution interface. The electrons pass through the electrode to the interface where charged species in the solution pick them in a reduction process. This may lead to deposition as shown by the Equation 2.1 (Bockris and Khan, 1983).

$$M^{n+} + ne \to M_{s} . \tag{2.1}$$

Conversely during oxidation, an electro-active species present in solution moves to the interface where it loses electron, in an oxidation process according to the Equation 2.2. The oxidized species goes back to the bulk solution after oxidation at the interface.

$$M_s \to M^{n+} + ne. \tag{2.2}$$

These redox-reactions occurring at the interface may not be the only reactions taking place. Sometimes the redox process is followed by other chemical reactions which may result in formation of products that are not electro-active. Additionally, the products of electrode process may further undergo oxidation or reduction processes in the sample solution to form other oxidized or reduced chemical species as shown in Figure 2.6 below (Joseph, 2006).



Figure 2.6: General steps in an electrode reaction (source: Bockris and Khan, 1983)

2.3.2.1: Rate Determining Steps

The rate at which the oxidized species are converted to its reduced form and vice versa is determined by the slowest step (Bard and Faulkner, 2001), amongst the steps discussed below;

i. Electrons transfer through the electrode

Electron movement through the electrode is an extremely fast process since the choice of electrode material is based on superiority of its electronic conductivity. Electrode materials commonly used include silver, platinum, stainless steel and mercury. It is therefore unlikely that charge transfer across the electrode could be the slowest electrode step.

ii. Charge transfer across electrode-solution interface

Electrons transfer rate across the solution-electrode surface can be expressed using rate constant, k_{et} which can be very fast at extreme potential. Since k_{et} can be made to be fast, then

the rate at which electrons are transferred across the interface cannot be a slow step, i.e. ratelimiting step.

iii. Mass transfer

If the first two steps are fast, i.e. movement of electron through electrode and its transfer across the interface, then the rate at which the oxidized species are reduced or vice versa will be limited by the movement of redox-active analyte from the bulk of solution to the electrode surface (Monk, 2001). The concentration of the electrogenerated species decreases near the electrode/solution interface as electrons are transferred between the charged electrode and the electro-active analyte in solution. Consequently, a concentration gradient develops which causes the movement of electro-active analyte to the electrode surface and diffusion of the electrogenerated materials away from the electrode surface. This movement of reactants and products to and away from the interface respectively is called mass transport (Bockris and Khan, 1983).

2.3.3: Mass Transport

Mass transport takes place in three distinct ways namely; diffusion, convection and migration.

2.3.3.1: Migration

This is the movement of ions through solution due to electrical gradient where ions are attracted by the electrode of opposite charge. The rate of migration depends on a number of factors, which includes; the size and charge on the ion and the force of attraction between the ion and the charged surface (Monk, 2001). It is desirable to remove the effects of migration in waterbased solution. This is done by addition of excess unreactive ionic salt, called swamping electrolyte. The presence of the swamping electrolyte leads to accumulation of opposite charged ions at the interface which reduces all the migration effects. Common swamping electrolytes used include potassium chloride and potassium nitrate (Creager, 2007).

2.3.3.2: Convection

Convection is a process in which the whole solution is moved to or away from the interface. The electro-active species are transported to or away from the electrode surface by the moving solution. There are two types of convection, natural and forced convection (Zoski, 2007). Forced convection is a deliberate motion introduced by researcher probably to increase the movement of materials of interest to or away from the interface. This may be done by stirring the solution, heating the solution, using rotating disc electrode or pumping gas among other methods. Forced convection methods yields irreproducible results unless attention is given to the geometry of the electrolysis creates a region near electrode interface where concentration is depleted or enhanced than the bulk solution. Consequently, the solution species move by influence of gravity resulting from density difference. The extent to which the electrolyte solution responds to the gravitational pull occasioned by density difference depends on the geometry of the cell (Monk, 2001).

However, natural convection driving force is too small and it takes a lot of time for this force to overcome inertia of solution mass. Therefore, natural convection is insignificant especially in rapid experiments. In most electrochemical experiments the effects of convection are minimized by working in quiet solution (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

2.3.3.3: Diffusion Mode

Diffusion occurs in response to inhomogeneous solution seeking to maximize its entropy (Zoski, 2007). Therefore, solute particles enrich regions of low concentration at expense of their neighboring regions of high concentration. Diffusion affects both charged and noncharged particles alike (Zoski, 2007). If the potential applied at the electrode surface oxidizes or reduces the analyte, its concentration at the electrode surface is reduced. Consequently, more analyte moves from the bulk solution to the electrode surface where they are reduced or oxidized. A concentration gradient develops in the vicinity of the electrode resulting to diffusion of analyte material to or away from the interface. The amount of substance being transported across a unit area of a surface in a unit time is called flux. This rate is defined by Fick's law which states that the rate at which electrogenerated material strike the electrode surface is directly proportional to the concentration gradient away from the electrode surface [Bard and Faulkner, 2001].

The concentration gradient results from exhaustion of electrogenerated material near the interface and build-up of product at the same time as the current flows. Fick's first law applies only in a steady state, where there is no change in concentration profile with time. Since systems may develop non-steady state conditions, the second law which introduces time-dependence is adopted for such systems (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

Mass transport is a collective contribution of the three modes of transport, and it determines the rate at which the analyte impinges on the electrode surface, flux, which is expressed as;

$$j_i = function of \begin{pmatrix} component due to diffusion \\ component due to migration \\ component due to convection \end{pmatrix}$$

However, in a quiet solution containing a support electrolyte, diffusion provides the only means by which an electro-analyte species moves to the electrode (Monk, 2001).

2.3.4: Faradaic and Non-Faradaic Processes

Two different types of current may flow during an electrode process in an electrochemical cell. One kind of current involves transfer of electrons across the electrode/solution interface. This electron transfer process results into a chemical reaction. The resulting chemical reaction may either be an oxidation or a reduction process and it is governed by Faraday's law (Oldham and Zoski, 1983). If the electron transfer process is such that the amount of substance reduced or oxidized at the electrified surface is proportional to amount of current passed, then the process is said to be Faradaic.

Potential regions exist where faradaic processes cannot take place because such processes are considered thermodynamically or kinetically unfavorable. At such potentials no charge passes through the electrode/solution interface but other processes such as adsorption and desorption of both electroactive and electro-inert species occurs. Changes in potential can result in structural changes in the electrical double layer and consequently alter solution composition. These events may lead to flow of short-lived external current even when there is no flow of electrochemical system which cannot be related to redox processes is said to be non-faradaic current. The resulting current is said to be non-faradaic current are said to be non-faradaic processes (Monk, 2001).

During an electrode process, both faradaic and non-faradaic current is produced. In most cases faradaic current is more useful than non-faradaic current and therefore many electrochemical processes are designed to minimize or eliminate the contribution of non-faradaic current. The concentration of electro-active substance can be estimated by measuring the faradaic current produced when the substance is oxidized or reduced at the electrode surface (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

2.4: Electro-Analytical Methods

This is a group of analytical methods used to study analytes that are electro-responsive. They choice method for electro-active samples because of their ability to detect analytes at very low concentration using relatively inexpensive equipments (Özel *et al.*, 2014). They often target a specific oxidation state of an element unlike other methods which may be interested on the concentrations of the element. They therefore provide information about activities as opposed to concentration (Alcalde *et al.*, 2019). The analyte is studied in a support electrolyte by measuring current at the potential at which the analyte is reduced or oxidized. Electro-analytical methods are mainly classified into three groups; potentiometry, coulometry and voltammetry.

The basic concept of analytical methods is similar and involves the following stages (Bard and Faulkner, 2001 as demonstrated in Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7: Basic functionality of electrochemical methods (Source: Bard and Faulkner , 2001)

2.4.1: Voltammetry

Voltammetry is a group of electro-analytical microanalysis techniques in which the chemical behavior of an electro-active substance is gathered from the current obtained when potential is applied on the indicator electrode (Pandit, *et al.*, 2017). Potential is scanned at varying scan rate (v), cathodically or anodically resulting into a current-potential plot called a voltammogram. The analyte material undergoes reduction or oxidation by varying the applied potential on the electrode. Change in potential forces electro-active species in solution to either gain or lose electron. This occurs because the electrode is polarized. Most often, a potentiostat provides the power required in voltammetry (Kounaves, 1997).

There are various techniques used in voltammetry. Voltammetric methods are classified depending on;

- i) The type of electrode used
- ii) How the potential is applied to the indicator electrode to drive an electrochemical reaction.

iii) How the current resulting from the electrochemical reaction is measured.

Based on these factors, some of the common methods used to analyze electro-active samples are discussed in the following subsections.

2.4.1.1: Linear Sweep Voltammetry

It's a voltammetric technique which involves scanning the potential of the indicator electrode from an initial point, E_i to final point E_f at a certain sweep rate (v) while recording the resulting current. Sweep rate refers to the rate at which the potential is scanned per unit time. The scan rate is constant in a particular scan but can be varied to provide more information depending on the need of the analyst. The potential is scanned from a point where there is no response from the analyte, E_i to a point where the current is the limiting factor, E_f . Linear scan voltammograms have a sigmoidal shape as demonstrated below.



Figure 2.8: Typical linear sweep voltammetry for reduction of species A to P. Source: (Skoog *et al.*, 2014)

Limiting current is the limiting value of a faradaic current, usually illustrated on a voltammogram as a plateau after a steep rise in current. Limiting current results from a decreasing movement of electrogenerated species to the electrode surface (Skoog *et al.*, 2014). Since the magnitude of faradaic current is proportionate to the rate of transfer of analyte to the electrode surface, limiting current is an indication of constant thickness of diffusion layer. However, this will only happen when the support electrolyte is stirred. In absence of stirring, diffusion layer increases resulting into a peak current instead of limiting current (Skoog *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, at the potential where the analyte is oxidized or reduced, a peak or trough is formed.

2.4.1.2: Cyclic Voltammetry

Cyclic voltammetry is a fundamental method used to provide qualitative information on electrochemical properties of an analyte dissolved in a support electrolyte or at the surface of an electrode (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). Besides providing key information on kinetics of electrode reactions, cyclic voltammetry provides an easy and fast method to locate redox potentials of redox-active analytes (Kounaves, 1997). This is done by scanning the potential of the indicator electrode linearly. The corresponding trace of current versus potential is referred as a cyclic voltammogram as shown in the Figure 2.9.



Figure 2.9: A cyclic voltammogram of a reversible redox reaction. Source (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018)

Cyclic voltammogram uses cyclic potential waveform which consists of a forward and a reverse scan (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). If the forward scan is anodic (increasing potential) then

the reverse scan will be cathodic (decreasing potential) and vice versa. However, most of time it is assumed that the solution contains oxidized species at the beginning; therefore, the first scan is done in increasing negative potentials. As the characteristic formal potential (E°) of the analyte is approached, cathodic current grows exponentially until a peak is formed (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). The scan is reversed after traversing the reduction potential window. The reduced species that were formed during the forward scan are re-oxidized back resulting into anodic peak. When the scan is done in quiescent solution, the diffusion layer increases leading to formation of a peak (Leonat *et al*, 2013; El-Maali *et al.*, 2005)

In cases where electrochemical study of polymer films of the analyte is required, multiple scans are done to electrodeposit the polymer film on the electrode surface (Sun *et al.*, 1990). Electrodeposition modifies electrode surface thus improving the electrochemical properties of some electrodes. Cyclic voltammetry provides very useful information, for example, in reversible redox systems a plot of peak current versus square-root of scan rate produces Randles-Sevcik plot which is used to calculate diffusion coefficient of the redox species (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

2.4.1.2.1: Circuit

The potential of the working electrode is scanned linearly in a quiescent support electrolyte using a polarizing circuit while simultaneously monitoring the current produced using a measuring circuit (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

2.4.1.2.2: Scan rate

The rate at which potential changes with time is called scan rate. Basically, the scan rate controls the time spent on an electrochemical reaction. At fast a scan rate, the diffusion layer formed is

small, consequently high currents are recorded. At slow scan rate, the diffusion layer is large and the diffusion of electro-active material to the electrode surface is slow, hence low currents are recorded (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). Square-root of scan rate is correlated with peak current i_p for reversible systems i.e (Bard and Faulkner, 2001).

$$i_p \propto \nu^{1/2} \tag{2.3}$$

2.4.1.2.3: Switching potentials and excitation Signal

Cyclic voltammetry involves scanning the potential of the working electrode immersed in an unstirred solution linearly. The varying potential impressed on the working electrode, produces a characteristic measurable current response called the excitation signal (Kissinger and Heineman, 1983).



Figure 2.10: Potential-time excitation signal for cyclic voltammetry. Source: (Kissinger and Heineman, 1983).

The excitation signal for cyclic voltammetry is a linear potential cycle with a triangular waveform. The potential at which the scan is reversed is referred as the switching potential and it corresponds with the final potential of the linear scan (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

2.4.1.2.4: Nature of a Cyclic Voltammograms

As the potential of working electrode is cycled to lower potential values, current begins to flow when voltage reaches a value that allows reduction to take place. The current keeps increasing while all the electro-active species at the vicinity of working electrode are reduced till a peak current is attained. This peak current is called cathodic peak current (I/p_a) and the potential at which it occurs is referred as cathodic peak potential (E_{Pc}) (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). Current decreases as the electro-active species near the electrode surface are depleted. When the potential scan is reversed, the reduced species at electrode surface are oxidized. The current begins to flow until a peak it attained. The current at the peak is known as anodic peak current (I/p_a) while the corresponding potential is called anodic peak potential (E_{Pc}). Current drops after the peak is reached as the reduced species gets depleted at the electrode surface (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).. The position of peaks on potential axis is related to formal potential which is obtained from the average of the cathodic and anodic peak potentials as shown in Equation 2.4 below (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

$$E^{0} = \frac{E_{p,a} + E_{p,c}}{2}$$
(2.4)

2.4.1.2.4.1: Reversible Cyclic Voltammetric processes

A cyclic process is said to be reversible if electron transfer is quick enough to ensure that the concentration of the species being reduced and oxidized at the electrode surface remains

constant during electrode potential sweeping (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). The concentrations of the species undergoing oxidation and reduction can be related using the Nernst equation (Bard and Faulkner, 2001) as expressed below.

$$E = E_0 + \frac{RT}{nF} ln \frac{c_{ox}}{c_{red}}$$
(2.5)

where, n is number of electrons, R is the universal gas constant ($8.314JK^{-1}mol^{-1}$), T is temperature in kelvins and F is Faraday constant ($1F=96485.33C mol^{-1}$)

The magnitude of peak currents for a reversible electrode process can be estimated using the Randles-Sevcik equation (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018). given below;

$$i_{pa} = 0.446 n FAc \sqrt{\frac{n F v D}{RT}} \approx (2.69 \times 10^5) n^{3/2} A D^{1/2} c V^{1/2}$$
 (2.6)

Where,

n = Number of electrons,

- D = Diffusion coefficient of electro-active analyte in square centimeter per second (cm²s⁻¹),
- V = Potential scan rate in volts per second (Vs⁻),
- A = Electrode area in square centimeters (cm^2),
- C = Concentration of the electro-active species in moles per cubic centimeter (mol/cm³).At 25°C, all reversible systems are characterized by the following features.
- i) Peak current is directly proportional to square root of scan rate (*Equation 2.3*)
- ii) The ratio of peak currents, i.e. anodic and cathodic current is one.

$$\frac{i_{pa}}{i_{pc}} = 1 \tag{2.7}$$

iii) The position of the formal potential is related to anodic (E_{Pa}) and cathodic peak potential (E_{Pc}) , i.e. E^o centered between E_{Pa} and E_{Pc} (Equation 2.4) iv) Peak separation for reversible one electron system is 59mV as given in Equation 2.8 below where n is the number of electrons. Equation 2.8 (Kissinger and Heineman, 1983) can therefore be used to calculate number of electrons in a fast electron transfer process.

$$\Delta E_p = E_{pa} - E_{pc} = \frac{59}{n} mV$$
 (2.8)

A system that fulfills all the above conditions is said to be electro-reversible. If a system does not fulfill any of the above conditions, then, it's not fully reversible. Such systems could either be quasi-reversible or irreversible. For reversible multi-electron transfer systems, the voltammogram will have several distinct peaks if the formal potentials of each redox-couple are well separated out (Elgrishi, *et al.*, 2018).

2.4.1.2.4.2: Irreversible Cyclic Voltammetric processes

They are marked by a sluggish charge transfer across electrode/solution interface. Consequently, only the forward peak is observed sometimes with a suppressed reverse peak (Nicholson, 1965). The peaks are also smaller in size and widely separated as shown in Figure 2.11. Peak potential will shift with increasing scan rate. Irreversible reactions give smaller currents compared to reversible systems and therefore a bigger overpotential is required for reduction. Therefore, the peak potentials appear at higher values beyond the E^o. Current peak for systems that are irreversible is given by Equation 2.9 (Bard and Faulkner, 2001)

$$i_p = 2.99 \times 10^5 n(\propto n)^{1/2} A D_o^{1/2} v^{1/2} C_o$$
(2.9)

Where
$$(\propto n_a) = \frac{47.7}{E_p - E_{p/2}}$$
 (2.10)

where α is the electron transfer coefficient and n is the number of electrons involved in the electrode process.



Figure 2.11: An irreversible cyclic voltammogram of 8mM phenol in sulfuric acid 0.5M on platinum electrode. Source: (Pirvu *et al.*, 2008)

The peak separation, E_p which determines whether electrode process is reversible or not and is given by the Equation 2.11 (Bard and Faulkner, 2001)

$$E_p = E^o - \frac{RT}{\alpha n_a F} \left(0.78 - \ln \frac{K^o}{D^{1/2}} + \ln \left(\frac{\alpha n_a F v}{RT} \right)^{-1/2} \right)$$
(2.11)

Where \propto is transfer coefficient, k^o is the standard electrode reaction constant, n_a is the number of electrons involved in charge-transfer step while the rest have their usual meaning.

Irreversible cyclic System at 25°C is characterized by:

i. Absence of reverse peak

ii.
$$E_p \text{ shift} = \frac{30}{\alpha n_a} mV$$
 (2.12)

where \propto is transfer coefficient

iii.
$$E_p - E_{p/2} = \frac{47.7}{\alpha na}m$$
 (2.13)

2.4.1.2.4.3: Characteristics of quasi reversible systems

Quasi reversible cyclic voltammograms result from slow charge transfer across the electrodesolution interface. As a result of slow electron transfer, equal concentration of the oxidized and reduced species cannot be maintained. Consequently, the peaks are more widely separated than in reversible systems and peak separation differs with the scan rate (Monk, 2001). The shape of the voltammograms depends on the heterogeneous rate constant and scan rate. With increasing scan rate, the quasi-reversible systems exhibit irreversible behavior while at lower scanning rate, they show near reversible tendency. Acording to Monk (2001), quasi-reversible system at 25 °C are characterize by:

- i. Peak current (i_p) increases with increasing scan rate though the increase is not proportional to scan rate.
- ii. The ratio of peak currents, i.e., anodic and cathodic current is one (*Equation* 2.7) assuming $\propto_c = \propto_a = \frac{1}{2}$

iii.
$$\Delta E_p > \frac{59}{n} \,\mathrm{mV} \tag{2.14}$$

which increases with increase in scan rate

iv. E_{pc} shift negatively with increasing scan rate (ν)

2.4.1.3: Stripping Voltammetry

Stripping voltammetry is one of the most sensitive methods of electro-analysis. It involves preconcentration of the electro-active material from dilute solutions to indicator electrode surface. The electro-active material is then stripped off from the working electrode surface by changing the direction of the current (Brainina *et al.*, 2000). Usually mercury drop/film electrode is used in a stirred solution. Striping methods involve three key steps, deposition, quiet time and stripping. Some of the advantages of stripping voltammetry include very low limit detection and multi-element and speciation capabilities (Achterberg and Braungardt, 1999).Commonly used stripping methods include; anodic and cathodic stripping voltammetry.

2.4.1.4: Anodic Stripping Voltammetry

It involves two main steps, one, electrodeposition of electro-active material at the electrode surface with the aim of pre-concentrating the species of interest. This step is carried out in stirred solution to enhance mass transfer (Brainina *et al.*, 2000). The second step involves a linear potential scan in anodic direction to strip out the electroplated material while recording the resulting current. This step is done in unstirred solution. ASV is mostly used in trace metal analysis (Dragoe, *et al.*, 2006). The electrodeposited metal is a couple of hundred times more than what is in the solution. As the potential is scanned anodically, electro-active species deposited at the electrode surface are oxidized resulting to a peak current signal at the potential where oxidation takes place (Brainina *et al.*, 2000).

2.4.1.5: Cathodic Stripping Voltammetry

It is a sensitive electroanalytical technique used for analysis of low levels of organic and inorganic compounds in solution (Barra and Dos Santos, 2001). Like anodic stripping voltammetry, it is a two-step method involving deposition and stripping. Deposition is the first step and it occurs at oxidizing potential. The anodic deposition is followed by sweeping the potential cathodically which strips the electrodeposited analyte from the electrode into solution (Brainina *et al.*, 2000)..

This technique is suitable for a wide range of compounds forming insoluble salts with mercury, e.g. penicillins (Achterberg and Braungardt, 1999).

2.4.2: Pulse Voltammetry

In voltammetry the potential is gradually changed with time. However, in pulse Voltammetry the initial potential i.e., where no reaction takes place, is directly driven to a final potential where reaction is at its maximum (Molina and González, 2016). Since pulse methods involve only the initial and final potential, current signal is plotted against time. In spite of voltammetric methods being good analytical tools, at lower concentration the currents cause non-faradaic effects which lower the accuracy to unacceptable limits (Molina and González, 2016). However, pulse voltammetry methods can attain a lower detection limit, down to 10⁻⁸M by reducing the effects of non-faradaic currents. When the indicator electrode is dropping mercury electrode (DME), highest currents are attained at the tail end of each drop's life-time. To increase sensitivity and discriminate against non-faradaic current, current is monitored during the end of each drop's life time (Molina and González, 2016). In pulse methods, current is measured during the last 15% of its lifetime; this significantly increases the sensitivity of these methods. The most common used polarographic methods are discussed below.

2.4.2.1: Features of Normal Pulse Voltammetry (NPV)

It involves application of a series of potential pulses of increasing amplitude at the dropping mercury electrode (DME) (Molina and González, 2016). To ensure that the analyte is not

involved in any reaction, the potential of the working electrode is kept at constant potential between pulses. Measurement of current is done when the effect of non-faradaic current is almost zero. The pulses are short-lived to ensure a thinner diffusion layer, higher flux of analyte, hence increased faradaic current (Molina and González, 2016).

2.4.2.2: Features of Differential Pulse Voltammetry (DPV)

This method is useful in trace analysis for both organic and inorganic substances. The potential pulse is fixed and superimposed on linear potential ramp and applied to hanging mercury working electrode(HMDE) just before the end of the drop's life time (Madkour, 2000). The current is recorded before and after pulse application and the difference is graphed against the applied potential as shown in Figure 2.12.



TIME (S)

Figure 2.12: Potential-time function resulting from superimposition of potential pulses on staircase ramp (Osteryoung and Osteryoung 1985)

The height of peak current obtained from the resulting voltammogram is dependent on the concentration of the analyte present. The height of the peak current may be expressed using the Equation 2.16.

$$\Delta i_p = \frac{nFAD^{1/2}C}{\sqrt{\pi}t_m} \left(\frac{1-\sigma}{1+\sigma}\right) \tag{2.16}$$

Where
$$\sigma = \exp\left(\left(\frac{nF}{RT}\right)\left(\frac{\Delta E}{2}\right)\right)$$
 (2.17)

 ΔE is pulse amplitude,

t_m is the time after application of pulse when current is sampled,

A is the electrode surface area

D is diffusion coefficient for the species

C is the concentration of the analyte

- N is the number of electrons
- F is the faraday constant

R is gas constant and T is temperature.

The highest value for $\frac{1-\sigma}{1+\sigma}$ obtained from large impulse is one. The peak potential E_p occurs near the half-potential and it can be used for species identification (*Equation 2.18*)

$$E_p = E_{1/2} - \frac{\Delta E}{2}$$
(2.18)

2.4.2.3: Square Wave Voltammetry (SWV)

It is one of the most powerful analytical tools which offers a great deal of speed, high sensitivity, reduced fouling of electrode and better discrimination of charging and background currents (Molina *et al.*, 2011; Batchelor-McAuley, *et al.*, 2015). Square wave voltammetry consists of two waveforms; symmetrical square wave and staircase waveform. The

symmetrical square wave is superimposed on a base staircase potential and applied on the working electrode as shown in Figure 2.13. One of the square wave pulses coincides with the staircase step while the other one takes place mid-way through the staircase step and continues until the end of the step. The first pulse occurs in the scan direction and it is referred as forward pulse. In reverse pulse, the amplitude is applied in direction opposite to the scan (Molina *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 2.13: A wave form showing square wave superimposed on a base staircase (Osteryoung and Ousteryoung, 1985)

During a square wave procedure, the potential of the indicator electrode is stepped up through a series of forward and reverse pulses from initial to final potential (Skoog *et al.*, 2014). Square wave is characterized by a number of parameters namely; square wave frequency (*f*), staircase period or square wave period (τ), pulse width ($t_p = \tau/2$), step height (ΔE_s) and pulse height (ΔE_{sw}) (Skoog *et al.*, 2014). Square wave period describes the sum total of time taken by both the forward and reverse pulse. Square wave frequency is the inverse of square wave period (*f*=1/ τ) and it is expressed in hertz (Hz). The duration of each pulse, i.e. pulse width is half the square wave period; $t_p = \tau/2$. (Skoog *et al.*, 2014)

The reverse pulse re-oxidizes the reduced product formed during the forward pulse at the electrode surface. Current measurements are sampled twice in every wave cycle, one at the end of the forward pulse (i_1) and the other one at the end of the reverse pulse (i_2) (Wang, 2000). Current measurement near the end of the pulse effectively discriminates against capacitative current. The net current $\Delta i(i_2 - i_1)$ is plotted against base staircase potential to give a peak shaped voltammogram which is symmetrical about half-wave potential as shown in Figure 2.14. The peak current is proportional to the concentration of the analyte (Wang, 2000).



Figure 2.14: A typical SWV containing the forward, reverse and net currents. Source: (Skoog *et al.*, 2014)

The net current is greater than both the reverse and forward current since it's a difference between them (Williams-Dottin, 2001). The net current is used in most analytical work because it dicriminates against charging current. SWV has higher sensitivity than differential pulse voltammetry and it's able to achieve detention limits as low as 10⁻⁸M. It also has an additional advantage of faster analysis time due to the frequency range used, i.e. 1Hz to 120Hz. Due to the its speed, square wave analysis is up to one hundred times faster than other pulse techniques (Wengenack, 1987). Sometimes static working electrodes such as hanging mercury drop electrode are used. In such cases, mercury drop is deposited on the tip of electrode and remains there throughout analysis. This significantly reduces the amount of mercury used.

Square wave voltammetry can also provide kinetic information on the processes taking place at the electrode surface. Analyzing the forward and reverse currents provides useful information regarding the nature of the electrode process, i.e., whether reversible, quasi reversible or irreversible. When the forward and the reverse currents are symmetrical, the process is reversible. In such cases the electron transfer is fast enough to maintain the oxidized and reduced species concentration at equilibrium at the interface. However, if the forward and reverse currents are asymmetrical, then the rate of charge transfer is not fast enough hence the process may be quasi reversible or completely irreversible.

Compared to cyclic voltammetry, SWV offers many advantages over cyclic voltammetry such as high scanning speed, excellent sensitivity, ability to reject the background current and high signal to noise ratio (Kounaves, 2007). It therefore used to characterize electro-active species whose cyclic voltammograms are poorly formed by producing clear peaks and also analyzing species at very low concentrations (Williams-Dottin A., 2001). Generally, SWV is a better analytical tools than the other pulse methods, because of its ability to suppress non-faradaic currents, greater sensitivity than differential pulse voltammetry, faster scan times, and wider area of applicability (Bard and Faulkner, 2001). Additionally, this method is free from oxygen interference because it is very fast and the limiting current plateau of oxygen is automatically cancelled out. Additionally, square wave signals are insensitive to currents arising from convective mass transport if the convective time is longer than the pulse width (Wengenack, 1987).

2.5: Surfactants

Surfactants or Surface active agents are a group of amphiphilic compounds possessing hydrophilic polar head and hydrophobic tail (Farn, 2006). The polar head group contains functional groups such as thiols, alcohols, ethers, acids, sulfates, amines, amide, sulfonate

phosphate among others. The non-polar tail group consists of long alkyl or alkylbenzene hydrocarbon chain. Hydrophobic groups reduce their contact with water by aggregating with their hydrophilic groups oriented towards the aqueous phase (Lawrence, 1994). Aggregates of surfactants are known as *micelles*. Micelles are formed from soluble surfactants solution above their critical micelle concentration (CMC) (Andersen, *et al.*, 2009). These aggregates formed possess regions of hydrophobic and hydrophilic character. Surfactants possess two important properties that are crucial in electrochemistry

- I. Tendency to migrate to interfaces or surface and aggregate into supramolecular structures (Vittal *et al.*, 2006).
- II. Ability of surfactant molecules to orient themselves to minimize the contact of hydrophobic end with water, consequently changing the properties at the interface (Farn, 2006). This has been used to alter or enhance reaction kinetics and control reaction pathway.

Owing to the above properties, surfactants have been proven to be effective in electrochemical analysis of pharmaceuticals and compounds of biological origin. They have been shown to improve accumulation of electro-active species of some compounds such as ethopropazine and protect the electrode surface from fouling (Atta *et al.*, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2004). Surfactants have also been shown to facilitate simultaneous determination of some compounds such as, ascorbic acid and dopamine (Dos-Reis *et al.*, 2005) and catechol and hydroquinone (Peng and Gao, 2006). Surfactants have also been used to increase solubility of some organic compounds during electro-analysis (Vittal *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, surfactants have also been found to control electrochemical catalysis through their micro-structures.

2.5.1: Classification of Surfactants and Their Chemistry

Two main types of surfactants exist, non-ionic and ionic surfactants. Ionic surfactants are further classified into anionic, cationic and amphoteric or zwitterion (Salager, 2002; Farn, 2008). The classification is based on the charge on the surfactant's head.

- Non- ionic surfactants These surfactants do not dissociate into ions and therefore do not have an electrical charge (Salager, 2002). However, some like tertiary amine oxides acquire charge depending on the pH. They don't dissociate in polar solvents because their hydrophilic group is non-dissociating type, e.g., alcohols, ethers phenols amide etc.
- ii) Anionic surfactants- are amphiphilic substance that contain anionic group attached directly or through an intermediate to a long hydrocarbon chain (Farn, 2008). They are most commonly used for laundry work because of their superior cleaning properties. They dissociate in water to form surface-active anions and hydrated cations. The hydrocarbon chain can be a straight chain aliphatic radical as in the case of soap or other groups. The most common example of anionic surfactant is sodium dodecyl sulphate or soap.
- iii) Cationic surfactants- a surfactant is said to be cationic if it dissociates in a solvent to form a surface-active cation and a normal anion (Farn, 2008). Cationic surfactants are not good cleaning agents and therefore are not used in general purpose detergents. They are mainly used as germicidal or antistatic agents (Azarmi and Ashjaran, 2015).
- iv) Amphoteric/ zwitterionic- If the surfactant has the oppositely charged centers in one molecule displaying both cationic and anionic character is said to be amphoteric or

zwitterionic surfactant. Depending on the pH of the solvent media, amphoteric surfactants may be cationic, anionic or non-ionic.

2.5.2: Micelles in Aqueous Media

Solubility of surfactant is dependent on the length of the hydrocarbon tail. Surfactants with long hydrophobic moiety are less soluble while those with short hydrophobic moiety are more soluble (Farn, 2008). Surfactants form true solutions at low concentration (Salager, 2002). In these solutions, the surfactant molecules are dispersed and they don't self-aggregate to form micelles. However, as the concentration increases, due to their amphiphilic nature, they self-associate in solution leading to formation of micelles (Vittal *et al.*, 2006). Micelles are therefore clusters of long chain surfactant molecules which form spontaneously from solution at a certain concentration (Salager, 2002). This concentration depends on the size of the hydrocarbon chain, the hydrophilic polar head group, temperature, pH presence of co-solutes, salt concentration and counter-ions (Atta *et al.*, 2014). In water the hydrophilic head is oriented towards water while hydrophobic chain is aligned facing away from water to interior of the micelle (Salager, 2002).

2.5.3: Electrode Modification Using Surfactants

Modification of an electrode surface using surfactants provides an excellent way to control and modify reactions at the electrode surface (Atta *et al.*, 2014). Surfactants can be used to modify electrode surface in two ways:

- Surface modification which involves changing the properties of the electrode surface through adsorption or self-assembly of the surfactant.
- Bulk modification which involves mixing the surfactant intimately with electrode material to make a paste e.g., carbon paste.

Different approaches have been used to adsorb surfactants on electrode surface. These approaches may involve physico-chemisorption of highly ordered self-assembled mono-layers (SAMs)(Angel-Kaifer and Marielle-Gomez 1999). The surfactant self-assembly structures can also form through physio-sorption of the surfactant molecules on the electrode surface. This can be done by drop-casting a dilute surfactant solution on electrode surface or immersing the electrode in surfactant solution (Attwood and Florence, 2012).

2.5.4: Influence of surfactants on the electrochemical kinetics

There are various factors to put into consideration when estimating the influence surfactants have on the electrochemical kinetics of surface reaction. Among these are the dimension, polarities and molecular structures of micelles, orientation of the electro-active species within the surfactant (Kamble, *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, distance between the electrode and electro-active analyte and how the surfactant orients itself on electrode should be taken into account (Atta *et al.*, 2014).

Adsorbed surfactant film has two major influencies on electron transfer rate. One, it may deny the analyte access to the electrode surface, therefore blocking charge transfer (Mackay, 1994). Blocking effect may result from the unfavorable orientation of the surfactant and electrogenerated species on the electrode surface (Guidelli and Foresti, 1977). Secondly the
presence of the surfactant may enhance the electrochemical reaction on the electrode surface especially if electro-active species have been accumulated and well oriented on the adsorbed surfactant film (Marino and Brajter-Toth, 1993). The coulombic attraction forces and hydrophobic interaction between electro-active species and adsorbed surfactant film are responsible for pre-concentration process (Guidelli and Foresti, 1977). However, the presence of the adsorbed surfactant increases the distance between the analyte and electrode surface. According to electron transfer theory, charge transfer rate is inversely proportional to the distance between the electro-active material and the electrode (Guidelli and Foresti, 1977).

2.5.5: Surfactant Adsorption

Surfactants are characterized by tendency to migrate to interface and orient themselves in a certain way due to their dual polarity (Hosseinzadeh *et al*, 2009; Paria and Khilar, 2004). Surfactant molecules can adsorb on the electrode surface from bulk solution through various mechanisms. These include:

- i) Ion exchange which occurs via substitution of counter ions by surfactant ions bearing the same charge (Farn, 2008).
- Through pairing of surfactant ions with oppositely charged counterions. The surfactant ions adsorb on the sites that are not occupied by counterions (Farn, 2008).
- Hydrophobic bonding -if hydrophobic group is adsorbed on the electrode surface,
 it can attract other hydrophobic groups of molecules in solution. Such kind of
 attractions can lead to attachment of a surfactant on electrode surface (Salager,
 2002).

- iv) Adsorption due to attraction between pi electrons and positive nucleus of adsorbed material. This occurs especially if the surfactant contains electron rich groups while the adsorbed material has positively charged sites or electron deficient groups. The attraction between these groups would lead to attachment of surfactant on the electrode surface (Salager, 2002).
- v) Adsorption through van der waals forces between the surfactant molecules and absorbent molecules from solution (Farn, 2008).

2.5.6: Electron transfer in surfactant containing solutions

Presence of aggregates of surfactants in a support electrolyte can significantly affect the electron transfer kinetics across the solution/electrode interface (Farn, 2008). Surfactants tend to absorb at the electrode surface in different ways beyond the critical micelle concentration (Kamble, *et al.*, 2017). On hydrophilic electrode surface, head down orientation of surfactant molecules is preferred (Rusling, 1997). When the surfactant film is attached on the electrode surface, electron transfer begins when an electro-active species draws near a surfactant modified electrode surface (Kamble, *et al.*, 2017). There are two possible ways for electron transfer. The first one involves displacement of adsorbed surfactant by electro-active species. The second way involves attachment of the electro-active species together with surfactant moieties within one head group (Atta *et al.*, 2014). This may involve the dissociation of the solubilized analyte, followed by its entry into the surfactant film. The micelles in solution then combine with the aggregates on the electrode surface therefore carrying the analyte close to facilitate electron transfer (Rusling, 1997)

2.5.7: Role of surfactants in electrochemistry

Surfactants are attractive in electrochemistry because of their inherent properties which include:

- i) Ability to stabilize radicals or intermediate products in a reaction (Farn, 2008).
- ii) Ability to dissolve hydrophobic substances due to their charge duality (Atta *et al.*, 2014)
- Ability to change the structure of electrical double layer, potential at which analyte is reduced or oxidized, charge transfer and the velocity at which the analyte disperses to the electrode surface (Hosseinzadeh *et al.*, 2009; Love and Dorsey, 1984).

Adsorbed surfactant can modify the properties of the electrode surface in various ways. In case ionic surfactant is adsorbed on the electrode, the electrode surface is charged which will lead to attraction and consequently build-up of oppositely charged analytes and repulsion of similarly charged species (Kamble, *et al.*, 2017). Loosely adsorbed hydrophobic layers will significantly increase hydrophobic analytes at the electrodes surface. Moreover, a coating of a surfactant at electrode surface can prevent direct contact of analytes and electrode which prevents electrode fouling (Yang, and Hu, 2007; Yang et al., 2009). Surfactant molecules besides solubilizing organic compounds also provide a distinct way in which molecules can be oriented at the electrode surface.

2.5.7.1: Use of surfactants in heavy metal analysis

Micellar systems have been used in analysis of various heavy metals. Sodium dodecyl sulfate(SDS), has been used as antifouling and homogenizing in extraction of heavy metals (Hoyer and Jensen, 2004). SDS has also been used to suppress absorption of interferences in complex sample matrices (fruit juices, milk powder, and beer among others) in determination of heavy metals (Jia *et al.*,2008). The ability of SDS to suppress adsorption of interfering species is attributed to the fact that SDS is strongly adsorbed on mercury electrode over a wide potential range and can therefore displace adsorbed interferences. Additionally, SDS can scavenge interfering species by forming aggregates especially with other surface-active compounds (Hoyer and Jensen, 2004).

Deng *et al.*, (2011) reported a sensitive procedure for determination of trace Morin (VI) using SDS modified carbon paste electrodes in presence of complexing ligand, Morin. The hydrophobic and electrostatic interaction between morin molecules and SDS caused a higher aggregation of Mo (IV) at the electrode surface hence facilitating electron transfer (Atta *et al.*, 2014)

Cationic surfactants of quaternary ammonium salt on carbon paste electrode have been used to determine three heavy metals using cathodic stripping differential pulse voltammetry (Atta *et al.*, 2014). The three metals were in the form of Platinum (IV), Iridium (III) and Osmium (IV). Additionally, he described a procedure for determination of chromium based on synergistic pre-concentration of the chromate ion on the same electrode.

2.5.7.2: Suitability of surfactant modified electrode for drug analysis

Surfactant's ability to modify properties at the interface of solid and aqueous media improves drug wetting ability and consequently increases the surface area available for the drug to dissolve (Atta *et al.*, 2014). As such, surfactants have been used in fabrication of simple, quick and sensitive systems for diagnosis of drugs (Atta *et al.*, 2011). Surfactants are effective in drug analysis because of their ability to dissolve and pre-concentrate insoluble drugs through coulombic and hydrophobic interactions (Gutiérrez-Fernández *et al.*, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2002).

Atta *et al.*, (2011) used poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) PEDOT/Pt electrode in presence of SDS to isolate and determine Morphine (Mo) from codeine which has similar structure as Mo and interferes with analysis of Mo in urine or blood. Using similar conditions, he did further work on voltammetric behavior of isoniazid. The electrochemical response was greatly enhanced in presence of SDS, with two clearly defined irreversible anodic peaks of isoniazid at +0.63 V and 0.82 V. The anodic peaks were attributed to irreversible oxidation of isoniazid on the PEDOT/Pt surface. No peaks were reported in absence of SDS due to electrostatic repulsion between the positively charged PEDOT and cationic isoniazid. The anionic SDS greatly enhances anodic peak current of isoniazid, facilitates quick transfer of cationic isoniazid to electron surface hence increasing reaction rate (Atta *et al.*, 2011).

Electrode modification using surfactants increases sensitivity of electrode surface hence improving detection limits of drugs as demonstrated by Brahman *et al.*, 2012. Using polymer carbon paste electrodes modified with polymer in presence centrimonium bromide (CTAB), a surfactant, he developed a simple method for determination of anticancer drug flutamide.

2.6: Detection of penicillin in biological and environmental samples

Various methods have been used to determine penicillins in various matrices including biological, pharmaceutical among others.

2.6.1: Chromatographic Methods

Various chromatographic methods have been used in analysis of beta-lactams, the most common method being high performance liquid chromatogram (Schenck and Callery, 1998). High performance liquid chromatogram has been the most successful in determination of betalactams. This is probably because HPLC can be coupled with other methods to increase its detection ability. Sørensen et al., (1997) reported a method that simultaneously detected and quantified six antibiotics, penicillin G, amoxicillin, ampicillin, oxacillin, cloxacillin, dicloxacillin in raw cow milk. The limit of quantitation of penicillin G for this method was reported to be 1.9 $\mu g/l$. HPLC coupled with tandem mass spectroscopy has also been used to simultaneously determine antibiotics of different families, beta-lactams included (Cazorla-Reyes et al., 2014). Cazorla-Reyes et al., (2014) successfully separated penicillins, aminoglycosides, macrolides, quinolones, cephalosporins, carbapenems, glycopeptides and polypeptides. Briscoe et al., (2012) developed a method for simultaneous determination of ten unbound beta-lactams in human plasma using HPLC coupled with ultraviolet (UV) spectroscopy. The concentration of benzylpenicillin in human plasma was found to have a low and high concentration of 0.63 µg/ml and 7.76 µg/ml respectively. HPLC is a very sensitive method, however it is expensive and time consuming because it involve derivatization, extraction and purification procedures (Švorc et al., 2012).

2.6.2: Microbial Assays

Microbial assay methods of detecting penicillins comprise majorly, the microbial inhibition test and immunoassays. Microbial inhibition test involves incubating a susceptible organism in the presence of the sample under study i.e beta-lactam drugs (Babington *et al.*, 2012). In absence of an antibiotic, the organism grows and can be detected visually either by opacity of the agar growth medium or by a color change due to production of acid. A high number of microbial inhibition tests are commercially available for analysis of penicillins (Babington *et al.*, 2012). The limit of detection of many of these commercial microbial inhibition methods for beta lactams range from 2-100 μ g/kg (Chen, *et al.*, 2015) and therefore their sensitivity levels met the standards set by European union regulation (Kurittu *et al.*, 2000; Chen, *et al.*, 2015)

Immunochemical methods are based on the ability of an antibody to bind specifically to a certain analyte (Märtlbauer *et al.*, 1994). Few studies have reported analysis of penicillin G and penicillin V using immunochemical methods. Broto *et al.*, (2015) reported immunochemical detection of penicillins (V and G) using biohybrid magnetic particles. The limit of detection of penicillin G was reported as 0.1 μ g/L way below the maximum residue limit of 4.0 μ g/L established by European union. Märtlbauer *et al.*, (1994) developed immunochemical method using a specific polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies against beta-lactams and sulfonamides. The limit of detection for penicillin G was below the limit set by European union.

Microbial methods are tedious, some lack specificity and sometimes produce false positive because of the of presence of high somatic cell counts (Schenck and Callery, 1998).

2.6.3: Electrochemical methods

Various electrochemical methods have been used to analyse penicillins in different mediums. Norouzi *et al.*, (2006) coupled fourier transformation with cyclic voltammetry to detect penicillin G using a gold ultraelctrode. The limit of detection of this method was reported as 3.43 ng/mL. Wirzal *et al.*, (2020) using differential pulse voltammetric method at boron doped diamond electrode reported presence of penicillin G with a limit of detection and quantitation of 0.23 μ m and 1.5 μ m respectively. A similar study of penicillin V in pharmaceutical and human urine using differential pulse voltammetry reported limit of detection of 0.25 μ m on boron doped diamond electrode (Švorc Ľ *et al.*, 2012). Other electrochemical methods such as cathodic stripping voltammetry (Forsman, 1982), pulsed amperometric method (Koprowski *et al.*, 1993) have also been used in analysis of penicillins. It is worth mentioning that other beta-lactams, such as amoxicillin have also been analysed using electrochemical methods (Bergamini *et al.*, 2006)

Square wave voltammetry has been the method of choice in determination of beta lactams and other related drugs. This method has been used in simultaneous determination of paracetamol and penicillin V at a bare boron-doped diamond electrode (Švorc *et al.*, 2012). Santos *et al.*, (2008) reported determination of amoxicillin on a glutaraldehyde cross-linked polyglutamic acid modified glassy carbon electrode. Using pre- heated boron doped diamond electrode, Švorc *et al.*, (2015) reported simultaneous determination of paracetamol and codeine in pharmaceuticals and human fluids. Brycht, *et al.*, 2015 also determined a novel fungucide fenfuram using square wave voltammetry. No study has reported determination of benzylpenicillin (Penicillin G) using square wave voltammetry.

Biosensors have also been used to analyse beta-lactams. Gustavsson *et al.*, (2004) successfully determined penicillin G using surface plasmon resonance based biosensor. Stred'anský *et al.*, (2000) also reported presence of penicillin G, urea and oxalacetate using an amperometric sensor. Chen *et al*, 2015 developed an immunochromatic assay for simultaneous detection of 15 beta-lactams. The limit of detection of penicillin V and penicillin G were reported both as 0.5 ng/ mL (Chen, *et al.*, 2015)

Most electrochemical methods produce poorly formed voltammograms because penicillins are not easily oxidized. Moreover, the electrode must be driven to higher oxidative potential. Biosensor fabrication is a tedious and complex process that depends on a number of factors to function optimally (Bizzotto *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, its difficult to produce antibodies against beta-lactams due to the instability of beta-lactam ring (Chen, *et al.*, 2015)

2.7: Development and Validation of Analytical Method for Penicillins Analysis

2.7.1: Method development

Analytical chemistry mainly involves separation, characterization and estimation of the components of a sample. Method development may involve adapting an existing method and making minor adjustments to make it suitable for a particular need (Swartz and Krull, 2018). The ultimate goal in method development is to come up with an experimental method of measurement capable of obtaining information from qualitative and quantitative tests of a given a sample.

Method development involves various steps, for electro-analytical procedures it may involve the following (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015)

- Characterization of analyte, which involves collecting all the necessary data on the chemical and physical properties of the analyte such as solubility, optical properties and electrochemical properties of the analyte.
- ii) Acquiring a suitable standard analyte for method
- iii) Understanding the strength, accuracy, precision and general working of electroanalytical methods
- iv) Selection of the electro-analytical method suited for the purpose of the study
- v) Optimizing of experimental conditions for the best response
- vi) Evaluation of matrix effects and interferences
- vii) Applying the proposed procedure on the standard and real samples
- viii) Evaluating the validity of the procedure

Analysis of drugs is very vital because it deals with an important aspect of life.

2.7.2: Analytical method validation

Analytical methods are validated to ensure that the method employed for specific tests meets the intended requirements (Swartz and Krull, 2018). The results obtained from method validation is used as a measure of the method's ability to produce quality, reliable and consistent results (Ravisankar *et al.*, 2015). Analytical method needs to be certified before their regular use or when conditions for which it was validated change e.g. change in sample matrix (Kalra, 2011). A method is considered for validation when there is need to confirm that its performance parameters are good enough for use in solving a certain analytical problem (Kalra, 2011). These tests include, Accuracy, precision, stability study, limit of detection, quantitation and linear range.

2.7.2.1: Accuracy

Accuracy is a measure of how close a result obtained from an experiment is from the expected results. It can also be defined as a measure of the degree of agreement of the results obtained relative to a reference value (Patil *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, accuracy of a measurement can be expressed as the difference between the sample mean and the true value shown in equation 2.19 (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015)

$$E = X - \mu \tag{2.19}$$

Where μ is the actual (reference value) and X is sample mean. Accuracy can also be expressed as percentage relative error, E_r . $E_r = \frac{x-\mu}{\mu} \times 100$ (2.20)

In most cases accuracy is determined and represented using recovery studies (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015). However, it can also be expressed in other different ways such as;

- i) As a comparison to a certified reference
- ii) Comparison with other results obtained using a validated or referenced method
- iii) By monitoring the results after standard addition of the analyte (Mehmet and Sibel , 2011)

Comparison with a certified reference is preferred for simple analytes with no complex sample matrix. The results obtained results are compared with other results from a certified external source.

A blank matrix can also be spiked with known standard at different concentrations then recovery studies done to ascertain the accuracy of the method (Taverniers *et al.*, 2004). Possible effects from potential interferents in the solution matrix can also be monitored. The international council of harmonization of technical requirements for pharmaceuticals for

human use (ICH) document on validation methodology recommends that accuracy be assessed using three concentrations with three triplicates and results reported as percentage recovery of the known analyte (50%-150%). The results obtained from this method can be expressed as percentage recovery with their relative standard deviation (RDS %) (Rewaria and Swamy, 2013).

Standard addition of the analyte is done when no matrix blank is available. Varying but known concentrations of analyte are spiked into the sample matrix under study. The accuracy of this method is determined by percentage recovery of the analyte added in the sample matrix (Taverniers *et al.*, 2004).

Comparison with another certified procedure is done by comparing obtained results from those of another certified procedure which is used as a reference (Rewaria and Swamy, 2013)

A measurement system is considered valid if it is accurate and precise and therefore accuracy is viewed as a combination of correctness and precision (Mehmet and Sibel , 2011).

2.7.2.2: Precision

Precision is a measure of agreement for multiple measurements on the same sample. It demonstrates how close a number of measurements collected from the same sample are (Patil *et al.*, 2014). Precision involves analyzing the same specimen multiple times under similar analytical conditions. As such precision is categorized into three levels;

Repeatability – it's a form of precision which is expressed as standard deviation the results obtained when analysis is done in the same laboratory by the same analyst using the same device for a relatively short duration. ICH provides that data can be collected in two ways; three replicates of three different concentrations or at least six replicas to be measured at 100% of test concentration (Menditto *et al.*, 2007).

- ii) Intermediate precision It is established by comparing results obtained in different days or by different analyst within the same laboratory using different instruments. The aim is to establish if the method will produce the similar results in the same laboratory (Menditto *et al.*, 2007).
- iii) Reproducibility- it's done by analyzing the same sample in different laboratories.
 This is done as a confirmation that the adopted technique will produce similar results even when used in different laboratories. It gives more meaningful precision than any other methods (Menditto *et al.*, 2007).

2.7.2.3: Estimating the Limit of Detection (LOD)

It refers to the lowest quantity of an analyte that can be detected without being quantified with an acceptable uncertainty (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015). LOD calculation can be determined in three ways, namely

- Visual evaluation method- This is done by analyzing the active analyte of known concentration to establish the minimum concentration which can be reliably detected (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015).
- Based on calculation using the standard deviation of response and the slope of the calibration curve. LOD is expressed as;

$$C_{LOD} = \frac{3S}{m} \tag{2.21}$$

This is the most commonly used approach in electro-analysis. The estimates of the standard deviation "s" can be worked out in different ways. First, the magnitude of the blank response is obtained by analyzing three-six blank samples. Secondly, the lowest amount of calibration standard which is analytically responsive should be measured three-six times and their standard

deviation calculated. Thirdly, the standard deviation can be obtained from the regression line using Equation 2.21 (Mehmet and Sibel , 2011).

2.7.2.4: Estimating the Limit of Quantitation (LOQ)

It is the minimum amount of measurand that can be detected from a specimen and quantitatively determined with acceptable accuracy and precision (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015). Limit of quantitation is obtained in a similar approach as limit of detection (LOD). This includes; estimation from visual evaluation and calculation from the slope of the calibration curve at low concentration using Equation 2.22.

$$C_{LOQ} = \frac{10S}{m} \tag{2.22}$$

LOQ can also be obtained from LOD using the relationship

$$LOQ = 3.3 \times LOD \tag{2.23}$$

2.7.2.5: Estimating the linearity and range

Method's linearity is the ability of the method to provide test results that are directly proportional to the concentration of the analyte at a specified range (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015). Linearity of data is often established from the correlation coefficient and the y- intercept. A correlation coefficient of 0.999 is normally considered as acceptable fit of analytical data to regression line (Masato *et al.*, 2012). The linear regression line should have a y-intercept value close to zero. However, correlation coefficient of 0.999 may not be a sufficient proof of linearity. ICH guidelines recommend at least five serial dilutions of the standard solution to establish linearity. Range of data measurements of an analyte is defined as the interval between the

highest and lowest levels of analyte which were obtained with acceptable linearity, precision and accuracy (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015).

2.7.2.6: Estimating the Ruggedness of analytical method

Ruggedness refers to the degree to which the test results can be reproduced under different test conditions (Rewaria and Swamy, 2013), for example when done by a different analyst, in different laboratory or using a different machine at a different time. Ruggedness is therefore used as a measure of constancy of results when external factors such as analyst, laboratory, instrument or time are varied (Rewaria and Swamy, 2013).

2.7.2.7: Estimating robustness of analytical method

It refers to ability of a method to remain unchanged despite little intentional variations in parameters (Rewaria and Swamy, 2013). It can also be defined as the ability to reproduce analytical method in different laboratory or different conditions without significant difference in the results of the two methods. Robustness is assessed using parameters such as sensitivity, selectivity, precision, accuracy, specificity among others (Panchumarthy *et al.*, 2015).

2.8: Statistical Treatment of Analytical Data

Data produced during method validation must be analysed statistically to demonstrate the validity of the method applied in the study (Van-Zoonen *et al.*, 1999). When handling results, there are two possible errors that an analyst can make; rejecting hypothesis that two quantities

are the same, when they are statistically similar or accepting two quantities as same when they are statistically different (Ortiz *et al.*, 2003). Statistical data treatment tools are used to prevent such errors. These data treatment methods are used to determine confidence level, the number of replicates required for credible results, whether two sets of measurements differ significantly, comparing the means of two sets of data or deciding to reject or retain a result that appears as outlier in a set of data, among others. Statistical methods commonly used for data treatment are mean, standard deviation and confidence interval.

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1: Chemicals and Solutions

All chemicals used in this work were of analytical grade quality and no further purification was carried out before use. The chemicals used included; sodium dodecyl sulfate, sodium acetate, acetic acid (glacial), acetonitrile, Potassium dihydrogen phosphate monobasic, Phosphate dibasic heptahydrate, buffer solutions for calibrating pH meter, Penicillin G sodium, penicillin V potassium salt were all procured from fisher scientific. Other chemicals including Zinc chloride, Iron III chloride, Iron II chloride, Calcium chloride, Magnesium chloride, Copper sulphate, Potassium chloride, Potassium nitrate, Potassium hexacyanoferrate (III), Sodium chloride, Sodium hydroxide, hydrochloric acid were all sourced from sigma Aldrich. Pen-strep, a common penicillin drug used to treat mastitis was bought over the counter. Detergents used were locally obtained. For voltammetry, the solutions used were acetate buffer (ABS) and acetate buffer containing sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS/ABS). Only de-ionized water was used throughout this work. The rest of the chemicals were of reagent grade.

3.2: Apparatus

All electroanalytical work was done using a CHI 1232B Electrochemical Station (CH Instruments, Inc., USA) composed of a three-electrode system (CH Instrument Inc., USA). The three-electrode system comprised of a 3 mm diameter glassy carbon (working electrode), a platinum wire (auxiliary electrode) and Ag/AgCl (reference electrode). All pH measurements were done on a pH meter Bench – Model CyberScan pH Tutor (Eutech Instruments). A 10.0mL electrochemical cell was used for all analytical work at room temperature. Separation by

centrifugal force was done using MSE 869-Minor centrifuge, while De-ionized water was obtained using B114 Elga-Star wall mounted De-ionizer with disposable cartridges. All data was analyzed using Kaleidagraph software, version 4.1.1. Micro-litre solutions were transferred using adjustable Eppendorf micro-pipette.

3.3: Preparation of working electrode

Glassy carbon surface is very active when polished, so it is gradually deactivated on exposure to the atmosphere or during electrochemical reaction. It is therefore important to polish the surface before measurements are taken or sometimes between measurements. Polishing renews the electrode surface by eliminating the effects of previous use especially if the past analytes adsorbed on the electrode surface.

3.3.1: Polishing the glassy carbon working electrode

The working electrode, glassy carbon electrodes was polished with 0.3 μ m then 0.05 μ m micropolish (CH Instruments) slurries on a soft cloth or on a smooth glass plate. Little ultra-pure water was added to the micro-polish to make a slurry. The working electrode was polished by moving it in a figure eight motion on a slurried smooth glass plate/soft cloth for five minutes as shown in Figure 3.1. In cases where scratches would appear on the electrode surface after polishing, the procedure was repeated starting with the larger particle polishing slurry. The electrodes were then rinsed using a stream of de-ionized water to remove adsorbed particles and other possible contaminants. The actual surface area of the working electrode was 0.071 cm². This procedure was repeated before the carbon working electrode was used for analysis.



Figure 3.1: Electrode polishing (Elgrishi, et al., 2018).

3.4: Preparation of Solutions

All polar solutions were prepared using de-ionized water.

3.4.1: Potassium Chloride Solution (0.1M) Preparation

0.1 M Potassium chloride solution was prepared by dissolving 1.865 g of the salt in de-ionized water and the final volumes made up to 250 ml.

3.4.2: Phosphate buffer saline solution preparation

Phosphate buffer saline solution (pH 7.2) was prepared by dissolving 11.5 g of sodium phosphate dibasic heptahydrate, 2.0 g of potassium dihydrogen phosphate, 2.0 g of potassium chloride and 80.0g of sodium chloride in 800 ml of de-ionized water and the final solution made up to 1 litre using de-ionized water. The solution pH was adjusted using 1.0M sodium hydroxide and 1.0 M hydrochloric acid.

3.4.3: Preparation of 2 mM potassium ferricyanide solution

To make 2 mM potassium ferricyanide solution; 0.165 g of potassium hexacyanoferrate (III), K_3Fe (CN)₆ was dissolved in potassium chloride (0.1M) solution and made up to 250 ml. similarly a solution of potassium hexacyanoferrate (III) in phosphate buffer was made by dissolving equal amount of K_3Fe (CN)₆ in phosphate buffer saline and final solution made up to 250 ml.

3.4.4: Preparation of Acetate Buffer Solution (ABS)

Acetate buffer solution was prepared by dissolving 1.5 g of sodium acetate and 1ml of concentrated acetic acid in de-ionized water and made up to 500 ml. The pH of the resulting acetate buffer (ABS) was adjusted accordingly using 1 M hydrochloric acid or concentrated acetic acid. The pH of the final solution was 4.5

3.4.5: Preparation of sodium dodecyl sulfate in acetate buffer solution

After preparing the acetate buffer, pH 4.5 (section 3.4.4), 25 g of sodium dodecyl sulphate was dissolved in it and made up to 250 ml. The resulting mixture, sodium dodecyl sulfate- Acetate buffer solution (SDS-ABS) was stirred over warm water for 30 minutes until a homogenous solution was formed. SDS-ABS solution was left to cool down. The pH of the resulting SDS-Acetate buffer was adjusted accordingly using the acetic acid.

3.4.6: Preparation of interferent solutions

To prepare 0.1M interferent solutions, a given mass of salt was weighed for each salt as indicated in Table 3.1 and dissolved in 10ml de-ionized water by stirring.

Type of salt	Mass of salt dissolved (grams)
0.1M copper sulphate solution	0.25g
0.1M sodium nitrate solution	0.084g
0.1M potassium chloride solution	0.075g
0.1M potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate solution	0.136
0.1M potassium nitrate solution	0.10g
0.1M magnesium chloride solution	0.20g
0.1M calcium chloride solution	0.11g
0.1M Iron (III) chloride solution	0.16g
0.1M zinc chloride solution	0.136g

Table 3.1: Preparation of interferent solutions from salts with cations or anions of interest

3.4.7: Preparation of Standard Solutions

3.4.7.1: Preparation of 0.1M Penicillin G Solution

0.1 M penicillin G solution was prepared by dissolving 0.17 g of penicillin G in 5 ml of deionized water.

3.4.7.2: Preparation of penicillin v solution

0.14 M penicillin V solution was prepared by dissolving 0.49 g of penicillin V in a mixture containing 9 ml de-ionized water and 1ml of acetonitrile. Acetonitrile was added to increase solubility of penicillin V.

3.4.7.3: Preparation of penicillin G sample from a drug (pen-strep)

2 mM penicillin G sample was prepared by dissolving 3 ml of pen-strep drug in 200 ml of acetonitrile-water solution (ratio 1:1) and made up to 250 ml using the same acetonitrile-water mixture.

3.5: Sample collection and treatment

10 litres of milk were sourced from a farmer in Yatta, Machakos country. Samples containing 20 ml of the sourced milk were spiked with 0.1 M penicillin G. An aliquot 2 ml of acetonitrile was added under constant stirring for 20 minutes to coagulate and deproteinize the milk. The mixture was filtered using a filter paper (Whatman, 125 mm) and the supernatant recovered. The supernatant was centrifuged for 30 minutes at 10,000 rpm using MSE 869-Minor centrifuge to remove any suspended matter. The resulting supernatant was kept at -20°C when not in use.

3.6: Analytical Techniques

All voltammetric measurements were carried out in the cyclic (CV) and square wave (SWV) voltammetric modes.

3.6.1: Cyclic Voltammetry

Potential in all cyclic voltammogram studies were done between 1.0 V and 2.0 V with a sample interval of 0.001 V and a quiet time of 0.1 seconds.

3.6.2: Square Wave Voltammetry

Square-wave studies were done at the same potential range, 1.0 V to 2.0 V with an amplitude and frequency of 0.025V and 15Hz respectively. All electro-analytical work was done using a three-electrode system in a 10.0ml electrochemical cell.

3.7: Samples Analysis and Optimization

3.7.1: Characterization of Working Electrode

To determine whether the bare glassy carbon electrode was redox-active, a cyclic voltammetry studies of 2 mM potassium ferricyanide was done from an initial potential of -0.2 V to 1.0 V with sample interval of 0.001V and a quiet time of 0.1sec at varying scan rate in both 0.1M potassium chloride solution and in phosphate buffer saline.

3.7.2: Buffer pH

To study the effect of pH, 10 ml aliquots of the sodium acetate buffer- sodium dodecyl sulfate (ABS-SDS) solution pH were adjusted using concentrated acetic acid to make solutions of different pH ranging from 3.0, 4.0, 4.5, 5.0 and 6.0. The effect of change in pH on the voltammetric peak currents of penicillin V at glassy carbon electrode (GCE) was monitored using square wave voltammetry. To determine the optimal buffer pH, a graph of voltammetric current against pH, was plotted.

3.7.3: Optimizing the Concentration of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate)

To obtain the most suitable concentration of the surfactant (SDS) required for the optimum voltammetric response, various concentrations of SDS were added to the acetate buffer solution, the electrolyte solution. Current measurements were first done in a blank (without penicillin V) and in presence of 0.1M penicillin V by scanning potential positively from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at a scan rate of 0.1 V/s in the acetate buffer solution, pH 4.5 using square wave

voltammetry method. In a 10 ml electrochemical cell, 0.001 g, 0.05 g, 0.1 g, 0.5 g, and 1 g of sodium dodecyl sulphate were separately added to the solution containing 0.1M penicillin and acetate buffer solution (pH 4.5) and the voltammetric current measured using square wave voltammetry. Square wave voltammetry of the analyte (penicillin V) was run by scanning potential positively from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at a scan rate of 0.1V/s in the acetate buffer solution, pH 4.5. A plot of surfactant (SDS) concentration versus voltammetric peak current was done to determine the optimum concentration of SDS.

3.7.4: Cyclic Voltammetry Studies of the Analytes

3.7.4.1: Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin v in presence and absence of the surfactant

To identify the potential at which penicillin V is oxidized, 100 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V were added into 10 ml acetate buffer solution and potential scanned from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at different scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.1 V/s using cyclic Voltammetry method. To study the effects of the surfactant on the potential and current response, 1 g of sodium dodecyl sulfate was added into a 10 ml electrochemical cell containing 100 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V in acetate buffer solution. The potential was scanned from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at different scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.1 V/s to 2.0 V at different scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.1 V/s using cyclic Voltammetry method.

3.7.4.1: Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin G in presence and absence of the surfactant

To study the electrochemical behaviour of penicillin G, 200 μ l of 0.1 M penicillin G were added into 10 ml acetate buffer solution and potential scanned from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at varied scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.1V/s using cyclic Voltammetry method. To understand the effects of the surfactant on the potential and current response, 1 g of sodium dodecyl sulfate was added into a 10 ml electrochemical cell containing 200 μ l of 0.1M penicillin G in acetate buffer solution. The potential was scanned from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at different scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.1 V/s using cyclic Voltammetry method.

3.8: Validation of Methods

3.8.1: Precision of the Proposed Method

To study precision of the voltammetric method, 100 ml solution of acetate buffer-sodium dodecyl sulfate (ABS-SDS) was aliquoted into 10mL replicates and each replica was spiked with 100 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V and stirred to give homogenous mixture. Voltammetric currents and oxidation potential of penicillin V were obtained by running a square wave voltammetry from initial of 1.0 V to 2.0 V in quiescent solution. The experiment was repeated by spiking a new batch of ten replicates of ABS-SDS solution with 200 μ l of 0.1 M penicillin G solution and running a square wave voltammetry for the same potential range in a quiescent solution. The average current, standard deviation and relative standard deviation were calculated from the resulting current.

3.8.2: Accuracy of the proposed method

To test the accuracy of the proposed voltammetric method, 10 ml of ABS-SDS solution was spiked with 100 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V. The voltammetric response was monitored using square wave voltammetry. An additional 50 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V was added to the same solution, which corresponded to 50% of the initial concentration. The current response was recorded. An additional 100 μ l and 150 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V were added to the same solution and current measured after every addition. The 100 μ l and 150 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V were added to the same solution and current measured after every addition. The 100 μ l and 150 μ l of 0.14 M penicillin V added corresponded to 100% and 150% increase in concentration of the initial solution. This procedure was repeated eight times for each of the three different concentrations (50%, 100% and 150%) and the results recorded.

To test accuracy of the method using penicillin G, 10 ml of ABS-SDS solution was spiked with 200 μ l of 0.1 M penicillin G and current monitored using square wave voltammetry. Additional 100 μ l, 200 μ l and 300 μ l of 0.1 M penicillin G were added to the same solution separately and

current monitored using square wave voltammetry. The added concentrations corresponded to 50%, 100% and 150% increase in concentration of the original solution. This procedure was repeated eight times for each of the three different concentrations (50%, 100% and 150%) and the current readings recorded. The average current reading for each concentration was recorded.

3.8.3: Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation

To study the limit of detection, quantitation and linearity of both penicillin V and G, voltammetric currents of the serial dilutions of both penicillin V and G in ABS-SDS solution were done using square wave voltammetry on glassy carbon electrode. For instance, 10 ml of ABS-SDS was spiked with $100 \,\mu l$ of 0.14 M penicillin V and the voltammetric response recorded using square-wave voltammetry. Serial dilution of the initial solution was done by dividing the solution into two equal portions. To one of the two portions, a similar amount of ABS-SDS solution was added and the solution stirred and allowed to settle. The voltammetric response of the diluted solution was studied using square wave voltammetry and results recorded. This was continued until no peak was observed.

Similarly, 200 μ l of 0.1M Penicillin G were added to 10ml of ABS-SDS in an electrochemical cell, stirred and allowed to settle. Voltammetric response of the solution was studied using square wave voltammetry. This was repeated with serial dilutions of the initial solution until no peak was observed. The linearity of the voltammetric method was tested by making a calibration plot to calculate the correlation coefficient, slope, intercept values. The limit of detection (LOD) for penicillin V and G was based on three times the standard deviation of the baseline (Gumustas and A Ozkan, 2011), and were estimated using Equation 2.21. Similarly, the limit of quantitation (LOQ) was obtained following Equation 2.22 (Gumustas and Ozkan, 2011).

3.9: Interference in the analytical method

Natural samples normally contain substances that can be reduced or oxidized at a certain potential. This may seriously interfere with the analytical ability of a method or instrument especially if the interferents are oxidized or reduced at the same potential as the analyte of interest. The most common interferents include; K⁺, Fe³⁺, Mg²⁺, Na⁺, Zn²⁺, Ca²⁺, Cu²⁺, PO₄³⁻, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻ and NO₃⁻. Their effect in voltammetric determination of both penicillin V and G was studied to ensure the developed method was suitable for analysis of the above drugs.

3.9.1: Determination of the effects of interferants

To study the effect of the interferents, $50\mu l$ of each interferent solution (0.1M) prepared above were added separately into 10ml ABS-SDS solution. An aliquot ($50\mu l$) of penicillin V or G was added separately with stirring into 10ml electrochemical cell and the solution allowed to settle. The resulting voltammetric current and potential were monitored using square wave voltammetry by scanning potential from 1.0V to 2.0V at a scan rate of 0.1V/s.

3.10: Analysis of milk spiked with penicillin G and Pen -Strep Samples

3.10.1: Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin G in milk samples and Pen-strep sample

200 μl of the supernatant solution prepared in section 3.5 were added to 10 ml of ABS-SDS. The potential was scanned from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at different scan rates ranging from 0.01 V/s to 0.11 V/s using cyclic voltammetry method. The experiment was repeated using 200 μl of 2 mM of Penicillin G drug, Pen-strep solution prepared in section 3.4.7.3

3.10.2: Precision of the method in determination of Penicillin G in cow milk

To determine the precision of the method in milk samples, 10 ml of ABS-SDS solution was spiked with 200 μ l of supernatant as prepared in procedure 3.5. This was repeated for ten

samples of the supernatant. Similarly, the same procedure was repeated for ten samples containing penicillin G drug, Pen-strep prepared in section 3.4.7.3. Oxidation potential and voltammetric current of the spiked solutions were studied using square wave voltammetry by scanning potential from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at a scan rate of 0.1 V/s.

3.10.3: Accuracy of the method in determination of Penicillin G in cow milk

The supernatant prepared in procedure 3.5 was used to study accuracy in determination of penicillin G in milk sample. This was done by spiking 10 ml ABS-SDS solution with 200 μ l of the supernatant. Additional 100 μ l, 200 μ l and 300 μ l were added to the ABS-SDS solution separately and current response monitored using square voltammetry by scanning potential from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at a scan rate of 0.1V/s. This procedure is repeated eight more times and the results recorded. The same procedure was used to study accuracy in determining penicillin G in pen-strep, as prepared in section 3.4.7.3.

3.10.4: Determining Limit of Detection of penicillin G in cow milk

 $200 \ \mu l$ of supernatant prepared in section 3.5 were added to 10 ml of ABS-SDS in an electrochemical cell, stirred and allowed to settle. Voltammetric response of the solution was studied using square wave voltammetry by scanning potential from 1.0 V to 2.0 V at a scan rate of 0.1V/s. This was repeated with serial dilutions of the initial solution until no peak was observed. The linearity of the voltammetric method was tested by drawing a calibration plot to calculate the correlation coefficient, slope and intercept values.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1: Characterization of Working Electrode

Potassium ferricyanide is known to be well behaved electrochemically, hence it is used as a model system in most electrochemical systems (Rooney *et al.*, 2000). Figure 4.1 shows reversible cyclic voltammetry of potassium hexacyanoferrate (III) (Ferricyanide) in 0.1M KCl and PBS (pH 7.4). Current peaks increased as the scan rate was increased.



Figure 4.1: A cyclic voltammogram of 0.1M potassium ferricyanide at bare glassy carbon electrode using (a) potassium chloride (b) phosphate buffer solution as support electrolyte. Initial potential: -0. 2.0V; high potential: 1.0V; sample interval: 0.001V, quiet time: 0.1sec.

During the positive potential scan, $Fe(CN)_6^{-4}$ is oxidized and anodic current due to this process is peaked at 0.33V. This oxidation process is represented by the Equation 4.1 shown below

$$Fe(CN)_{6}^{-4} + e \to Fe(CN)_{6}^{-3}$$
 (4.1)

Similarly, when the scan is reversed, the oxidized species formed at the interface are quickly reduced resulting to a cathodic peak at 0. 27V (Equation 4.2). The current maximum occurred at the same potential both in the positive and negative going potential at different scan rate i.e.,

it doesn't shift with increase in scan rate. This demonstrates a fast electron transfer process taking place at the indicator electrode surface, hence a reversible process (Craig and Dale, 2014).

$$\operatorname{Fe}(CN)_{6}^{-4} + e \leftrightarrow \operatorname{Fe}(CN)_{6}^{-3} \tag{4.2}$$

When the peak current (I_p) was plotted against square-root of scan rate ($V^{1/2}$), the resulting plot was linear (*Figure 4.2*) and the gradient of the line was used to determine the rate of transfer of ferricyanide ions on to the electrode surface, i.e., diffusion coefficient using Randles-Sevcik equation (Equation 2.6).



Figure 4.2: A plot of current versus square-root of scan rate for voltammetric determination of ferricyanide ions in potassium chloride (A) and phosphate buffer saline solution (B)

The diffusion coefficient of ferricyanide ions in potassium chloride and phosphate buffer saline solution was estimated to be $1.1 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cm}^2/\text{sec}$ and $2.8 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cm}^2/\text{sec}$ respectively. The experimental values obtained above are close to the reported value of $6.9 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cm}^2/\text{sec}$ 1.0M K₃Fe (CN)₆ in aqueous potassium chloride solutions (Gomathi *et al.*, 1991). The electrode surface was therefore active enough for redox process.

4.1.1: The Effect of pH in Determination of Penicillin V

A plot of the voltammetric currents against buffer pH was expressed in form of a histogram (Figure 4.3). The peak heights of the histogram were used to determine the optimal buffer pH for the proposed method. Figure 4.3 shows that the highest voltammetric peak current responses for 1.4mM penicillin V were at pH 4.5. Below and above this pH, the current responses were lower probably because of instability of penicillins above and below pH of 4.5. The highest voltammetric current corresponds to highest sensitivity. Consequently, a pH 4.5 was selected for all voltammetric measurements.



Figure 4.3: Effect of pH on the square wave voltammetric peak currents of 1.4mM Penicillin V at the GC electrode in acetate buffer. The pH values considered were 3, 4, 4.5, 5 and 6.

4.1.2: Optimizing the Concentration of Surfactant Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS)

The effects of varying SDS concentrations on voltammetric peak currents of 1.4 mM penicillin V are shown by the voltammograms presented in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Effect of successive addition of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) on the voltammetric response of 1.4mM Penicillin V in ABS, pH 4.5 at GC electrode. The amplitude and frequency were 0.025V and 15Hz respectively

The amount of SDS that enabled the GC to give amaximum voltammetric current was determined by ploting current reading from the voltammograms in Figure 4.4 and plotted against the concentration of SDS (Figure 4.5)



Figure 4.5: Plot of varying SDS concentrations versus voltammetric current responses of 1.4mM Penicillin V in ABS, pH 4.5 at GC electrode. The amplitude and frequency were 0.025V and 15Hz respectively.

There was a corresponding increase in voltammetric current as the amount of SDS increased up to $3.47 \times 10^{-3}M$ SDS, whereas beyond this concentration the voltammetric currents remained constant possibly due to saturation. Similar observation was made by Galal *et al.*, (2011) in electrolyte containing sodium dodecyl sulfate when they were determining terazosin, an antihypertensive drug on GCE.

Optimum current response was obtained at SDS concentration of $3.47 \times 10^{-3}M$ in 10ml electrochemical cell in ABS at pH 4.5. Therefore, 0.347M SDS concentration was adopted for all subsequent work.

4.1.3: Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on Voltammetric Currents of penicillin (V and G)

Effects of addition of surfactant, sodium dodecyl sulfate, in support electrolyte were observed for both penicillin G and penicillin V using square wave voltammetry.

4.1.4.1: Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on the Voltammetric Current of Penicillin G

In a blank solution (without penicillin G), no voltammogram was observed. A small voltammogram peaked at 1.6V region was observed in absence of surfactant, SDS. In presence of SDS, an enhanced voltammogram with a peak current almost five times compared to the current obtained in absence of SDS was observed as shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6: Square wave voltammograms of 2.0mM Penicillin G in Acetate Buffer Solution, pH 4.5 (Blue) and 2.0mM Penicillin G in 0.347M SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 (black) at GC electrode. The amplitude and frequency were 0.025V and 15Hz respectively.

There was no significant change in the position of the peak potential in both voltammograms in presence or in absence of SDS. Both voltammograms peaked at 1.6 V. Very little capacitative current with no distinct features was noted in the blank solution (without penicillin G).

In ultra-violet spectroscopy (UV-Vis) occurrence of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) peak at a certain wavelength indicates a spectroscopic signature for the presence of a certain material (Liang *et al.*, 2012). Similarly, in voltammetry, appearance of a peak at a particular potential indicates the presence of redox-active substance which is associated with that particular potential. Presence of SDS probably aids in electron transfer process. Absence of a voltammogram in the blank is an indication that the voltammogram peaked at 1.6V was due to addition of penicillin G (Figure 4.6).

It has been demonstrated that chemical oxidation of different penicillins in aqueous and organoaqueous media by different oxidation groups leads to formation of their sulfoxides. This implies that the reactive site for the chemical oxidation is the penicillin backbone. The electrochemical oxidation of penicillin G requires two protons and two electrons (Ľ-Švorc *et al.*, 2012). The electroactive site, sulfide moiety in penicillin backbone is oxidized into a sulfoxide derivative of penicillin G in presence of two protons and electrons and a water molecule as shown in Scheme 1 below.



Scheme 1: Proposed mechanism of the electrochemical oxidation of penicillin G

4.1.4.2: Effects of Surfactant (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate) on the Voltammetric Current of Penicillin V

Voltammograms formed at peak at 1.6V region were formed in acetate buffer solution containing penicillin V and in presence of both penicillin V and sodium dodecyl sulfate. No voltammogram was observed in the blank solution (in absence of penicillin V) as shown in Figure 4.7



Figure 4.7: Square wave voltammograms of 1.4mM Penicillin V in ABS, pH 4.5 (Blue) and 1.4mM Penicillin V in 0.347M SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 (red) at GC electrode. The amplitude and frequency were 0.025V and 15Hz respectively.

Voltammetric current in presence of penicillin V and SDS was enhanced almost ten times compared to the voltammogram of penicillin V in absence of SDS. The voltammogram of penicillin V also formed at peak at 1.6V with no observable shift in peak potential.
The square wave voltammetric responses of penicillin G and penicillin V at the glassy carbon electrode in ABS, pH 4.5 and SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 had striking similarity in shape and the peak potential, i.e., both voltammograms peaked at 1.6V. The voltammetric current peaks for both penicillin V and Penicillin G are remarkably higher in presence of SDS as compared to in its absence (ABS, pH 4.5) under similar conditions. Besides the similarity in the two voltammograms in terms of shape and peak potential, there is a marked difference in peak current enhancement. The difference in current enhancement may probably have resulted from the manner in which the two drugs interact with the surfactant and/or the swamping solution (acetate buffer solution).

Enhanced voltammetric currents is an indication that addition of 0.00347M SDS to ABS, pH 4.5 probably facilitated quick charge transfer at the electrode surface hence significantly increased the sensitivity for detection of penicillin V & G. This behavior is consistent with earlier observations by Galal *et al.*, (2012) who used sodium dodecyl sulphate to improve current response in self-assembled monolayers of cysteine on gold nanoparticles.

4.1.4: Cyclic Voltammetry

Cyclic voltammetry was used to elucidate the electrochemical of penicillin G and V and examine effects of changes in support electrolyte on the analyte.

4.1.5.1: Cyclic Voltammetry of Penicillin V (Phenoxymethylpenicillin)

Cyclic voltammograms of penicillin V at a polished GC electrode gave a distinct irreversible voltammetric peak at high positive potential of 1.6 V versus Ag/AgCl in ABS at pH 4.5 (Figures 4.8).



Figure 4.8: (A) Cyclic voltammograms of 1.4mM phenoxymethylpenicillin in ABS, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V; sample interval: 0.001V, quiet time: 0.1sec. Scan rates were varied from 30mV/s to 100mV/s.

A plot of oxidative current(A) against square-root of scan rate formed a linear plot according

to Randles-Sevcik equation (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9: Randles-Sevcik plot of anodic currents (i_{pa}) versus the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of 1.4mM penicillin V in ABS, pH 4.5.

Cyclic voltammograms of penicillin V at a polished GC electrode in presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate gave a distinct irreversible voltammetric peak at high positive potential of 1.6 V versus Ag/AgCl in ABS at pH 4.5 (Figures 4.10). There was no significant change in potential with varying scan rates.



Figure 4.10: Cyclic voltammograms of 1.4mM penicillin V in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V; sample interval: 0.001V, quiet time: 0.1sec. Scan rates were varied from 10mV/s to 60mV/s.

A plot of oxidative current(A) against square-root of scan rate formed a linear plot according

to Randles-Sevcik equation (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11: Randles-Sevcik plot of anodic currents (i_{pa}) versus the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of 1.4mM penicillin V in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5.

In both cases (in absence and presence of SDS) current increased with increasing scan rates. This is probably because at higher scan rates the diffusion layer is reduced therefore resulting into high currents. At lower scan rates, the size of diffusion layer increases significantly reducing the current.

The oxidation potentials in ABS, pH 4.5 (in absence of SDS) compares relatively well with those taken in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 on GC electrodes as shown in Figures 4.8 and 4.10. In presence of SDS the forward scans produced a current peak slightly past 1.6V while there was no reductive current peak in the reverse scan.

A slight difference in potential was observed in presence and in absence of sodium dodecyl sulfate. There was also a slight difference in the shape of the voltammograms in the presence and absence of SDS as shown in Figure 4.8 and 4.10. These slight differences could be attributed to the slight change in the chemistry of the electrolyte. It can be established from the voltammograms that the electrochemical oxidation of penicillin V in absence and in presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate leads to an irreversible process since even at high scan rate, the reverse process does not produce reductive peak. The irreversibility of the system is probably because the oxidative step was followed by a chemical reaction which led to formation of a product which was not redox active as shown by equations 4.3 and 4.4 below.

$$Red \leftrightarrow Ox + e$$
 (4.3)

$$0x \to z$$
 (4.4)

The peak potentials in both cases (in absence and presence of SDS) were within the potential range observed by Ľubomír *et al.*, (2012) for phenoxymethylpenicillin on bare boron-doped diamond electrode using differential pulse voltammetric method.

Current readings from the voltammograms in Figures 4.8 and 4.10 were plotted against the square root of the scan rate to give Randles-Sevcik plots shown in Figure 4.9 and 4.11. These plots were linear indicating that the electrochemical reaction for the oxidation of penicillin V on glassy carbon electrode is dorminantly diffusion controlled. However, the Randles-sevcik plot had a none-zero y-intercept which implied that other modes of transport were involved in transfer of penicillin V to the electrode surface but to a small extent

The gradient of the plots (4.9 and 4.11) were used in Randles-Sevcik equation (Equation 2.6) to calculate the diffusion coefficient of the analyte, penicillin V. However, this was only possible if the number of electrons involved in the oxidation process was known. The number of electrons (n) used in the oxidation of penicillin V was calculated from the slope of the plots of potential, E, versus log $[i/i_d-i]$ according to the Equation 4.5 below.

$$E = E_{1/2} - \frac{0.0591}{n} \log\left(\frac{i}{i_d - i}\right)$$
(4.5)

Where $E_{1/2}$ =half-wave potential, E=potential at any point on the wave i_d = peak current, i=current at any point on the wave and n =number of electrons involved.

In both cases the number of electrons were approximately two. Applying the Randles-Sevcik equation and the gradient from the plots, the diffusion coefficient of penicillin V in ABS/SDS, pH 4.5 and ABS, pH 4.5 were found to be $1.26 \times 10^{-5} \text{cm}^2/\text{sec}$ and $6.01 \times 10^{-7} \text{cm}^2/\text{sec}$.

4.1.5.2: Cyclic Voltammetry of Penicillin G (Benzylpenicillin)

Cyclic voltammograms of penicillin G at a polished glassy carbon electrode gave a clear irreversible peak at high positive potential of 1.6 V versus Ag/AgCl in ABS, pH 4.5 (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.12: Cyclic voltammogram of 2.0mM penicillin G in acetate buffer (ABS), pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V; sample interval: 0.001V, quiet time: 0.1sec. Scan rates ranging from 10mV/s to 50mV/s

A plot of oxidative current(A) against square-root of scan rate formed a linear plot as shown in

Figure 4.13.



Figure 4.13: Randles-Sevcik plot of oxidation peak currents (i_{pa}) versus the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of 2.0mM penicillin G in ABS, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode.

Cyclic voltammograms of penicillin G at a polished GC electrode in presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate gave a distinct irreversible voltammetric peak at high positive potential of 1.6 V versus Ag/AgCl in ABS at pH 4.5 (Figure 4.14).



Figure 4.14: Cyclic voltammogram of 2.0mM penicillin G in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V; sample interval: 0.001V, quiet time: 0.1sec at different scan rates.

A plot of oxidation currents (i_{pa}) against the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of penicillin G between 0.01 and 0.1 V/s in ABS/SDS media was linear as shown in Figure 4.15.



Figure 4.15: Randles-Sevcik plot of oxidation peak currents (i_{pa}) against square root of scan rate ($v^{1/2}$) of 2.0mM penicillin G in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5.

The oxidation potential of benzylpenicillin in presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS/ABS, pH 4.5) compares relatively well with the oxidation potential in absence of SDS (ABS, pH 4.5) on GC electrodes as shown in Figures 4.12 and 4.14. The slight difference particularly with respect to the shape of the voltammogram can be attributed to the slight change in the chemistry of the electrolyte.

Plots of oxidation peak currents against square root of scan rates were linear in both cases (Figures 4.13 and 4.15) indicating that the electrochemical reaction for the oxidation of penicillin G on glassy carbon electrode is dorminantly diffusion controlled (Bard *et al.*, 2004; Guto *et al.*, 2017)

The diffusion coefficients of penicillin G in both acetate buffer solutions and SDS/acetate buffer solution were obtained from the slopes of the linear plots as provided by Randles–Sevcik equation, Equation 2.6. Linear plots drawn at low scan rates demonstrate that the electrode process for oxidation of penicillin G is diffusion controlled (Bard *et al.*, 2004; Guto *et al.*, 2017). Accordingly, the diffusion coefficients calculated from Randles-Sevcik equation were 1.39x10⁻⁶ cm²/sec and 6.01x10⁻⁷ cm²/sec for SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 and ABS, pH 4.5 respectively on highly polished glassy carbon electrodes. Similarly, the diffusion coefficient for phenoxymethylpenicillin (penicillin V) was estimated at 1.26x10⁻⁵cm²/sec and 6.01x10⁻⁷ cm²/sec on SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 and ABS, pH 4.5 respectively on the same glassy carbon electrodes.

In both cases the diffusion coefficient is higher in acetate-buffer sodium dodecyl sulfate solution (ABS/SDS). The change in diffusion coefficient may be attributed to possible interaction between sodium dodecyl sulfate and penicillin G/V. This interaction could possibly lead to pre-concentration of penicillin G/V at the interface (Atta *et al.*, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2004). A higher concentration of both penicillin G and V near the electrode surface will most likely lead to a higher diffusion rate of the analytes. A summary of the effects of adding SDS in support electrolyte in voltammetric determination of penicillin G and V are shown in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1: Summary of effects of addition of sodium dodecyl sulfate on oxidation potential and diffusion coefficient of penicillin G and V.

	Media	E ^{°'} (Oxid. Potential)	R ² (Correlation coefficient)	D _o (Diffusion Coefficient)
Pen G	ABS, pH 4.5	1.62V versus Ag/AgCl	0.9915	6.01x10 ⁻⁷ cm ² /sec
	SDS in ABS, pH 4.5	1.6V versus Ag/AgCl	0.9982	1.39x10 ⁻⁶ cm ² /sec
Pen V	ABS, pH 4.5	1.6V vs. Ag/AgCl	0.9952	$6.01 \times 10^{-7} \text{ cm}^2/\text{sec}$
	SDS in ABS, pH 4.5	1.61V vs. Ag/AgCl	0.9939	1.26×10^{-5} cm /sec

4.2: Validation of the Voltammetric Method

Validation tests included, accuracy, precision, limit of detection and quantitation and linear range. These tests were done on the proposed method using penicillin V and penicillin G.

4.2.1: Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation in Voltammetric Determination of Penicillin V

A comparison of voltammetric currents at varying concentration of phenoxymethylpenicillin gave an overlay as shown Figure 4.16.



Figure 4.16: Square wave voltammetry of different concentrations of phenoxymethylpenicillin in the SDS/ABS, pH 4.5; frequency: 15Hz and amplitude 0.025V

A plot of voltammetric peak currents against concentration gave a linear regression plot (Figure

4.17).



Figure 4.17: Calibration plot of concentration of penicillin V versus voltammetric current.

The linear regression plot gave a correlation coefficient of 0.994 indicating a linear dependence of the voltammetric current intensity on the analyte (penicillin V) concentration in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 over the range $34.6 \mu M - 0.04 \mu M$ penicillin V (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2: The linear concentration range (LCR), limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantitation (LOQ) and the regression equation (RE) of Penicillin V in Acetate buffer, pH 4.5 and SDS/Acetate buffer, pH 4.5 on bare GC electrode.

	Solvent	LCR	LOD	LOQ	RE	R ²
1.	ABS, pH 4.5	$28.0 - 3.5 \mu M$	3.5µM	14.0µM	y=-1.0e-7+0.804x	0.98771
2.	SDS in ABS, pH 4.5	34.6-0.04µM	0.04µM	0.12µM	y=1.0391e-5+9.3605x	0.99449

The limit of detection was based on three times the standard deviation of the baseline and were approximated to be 0.04μ M in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 (Table 4.2). The Limit of detection (LOD) of this method was generally established to be in the region where the signal to noise ratio is greater than three (Thompson *et al.*, 2002; De-Bièvre and Günzler, 2005; Guideline, 2005).

The limit of quantification for this method was found to be 0.12μ M in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 and it was based on three times the LOD (Table 4.2).

4.2.2: Linearity, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation in Voltammetric Determination of Penicillin G

A comparison of voltammetric currents at varying concentration of benzylpenicillin gave an overlay as shown Figure 4.18.



Figure 4.18: Square wave voltammograms of penicillin G at varying benzylpenicillin concentrations in 0.347M SDS in ABS, pH 4.5; frequency: 15Hz and amplitude 0.025V.

A calibration plot of the anodic peak current against penicillin G concentration was linear as shown in Figure 4.19 below



Figure 4.19: A plot of concentration of penicillin G versus voltammetric current.

The calibration plot was found to be linear over the range 15.0–1.25µM in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5

as shown in Table 4.3

Table 4. 3: LCR, LOD, LOQ, R^2 and regression equation for penicillin G in ABS, pH 4.5 and ABS/SDS, pH 4.5 on bare Glassy Carbon electrode

	Solvent	LCR	LOD	LOQ	RE	R ²
1.	ABS, pH 4.5	$10.0-2.5\mu M$	2.5µM	7.5μΜ	y=-3.2e-6+2.5e-6x	0.99148
2.	SDS in ABS, pH 4.5	15.0–1.25µM	1.25µM	3.75µM	y=-3.99e-6+1.73e-6x	0.99986

LCR = Linear concentration range, LOD = Limit of detection, LOQ = Limit of quantitation, RE = Regression equation.

The Linearity of the calibration plot implies that there is a clear linear dependence of the current intensity on the benzylpenicillin concentration in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 over the range $15.0-1.25\mu$ M.

The limit of detection was estimated to be 1.25μ M in SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 based on three times the standard deviation of the baseline (*Equation 2.21*) while the limit of quantitation (Equation 2.23) was found to be 3.75μ M as shown in the Table 4.3. The LOD was established to be within the region where the signal to noise ratio is equal or greater than three (Feier *et al.*, 2017; Švorc *et al.*, 2012; De-Bièvre and Günzler, 2005).

4.2.3: Precision Studies in Determination of Pen V and G in ABS-SDS

The oxidation potential and voltammetric currents of penicillin V and penicillin G were obtained using square wave voltammetry as shown in the Table 4.4.

Penicillin V			Penicillin G		
Trial	Potential (V)	Current (A)	Potential(V)	Current (A)	
1	1.580	2.456×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.84×10 ⁻⁵	
2	1.588	2.478×10 ⁻⁵	1.61	1.81×10 ⁻⁵	
3	1.584	2.531×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.96×10 ⁻⁵	
4	1.580	2.449×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.96×10 ⁻⁵	
5	1.584	2.449×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.94×10 ⁻⁵	
6	1.592	2.454×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	2.04×10 ⁻⁵	
7	1.588	2.474×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.98×10 ⁻⁵	
8	1.584	2.441×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.98×10 ⁻⁵	
9	1.588	2.454×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.86×10 ⁻⁵	
10	1.608	2.478×10 ⁻⁵	1.60	1.81×10 ⁻⁵	

Table 4.4: Oxidation potential and voltammetric currents of penicillin V and G obtained using square wave voltammetry

The voltammetric currents obtained from the above data were analysed to determine how precise the measurements were. The average value, standard deviation and relative standard deviation for both penicillin V and G were calculated and reported as shown in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5: Summary of statistical values obtained from square wave voltammetric currents of penicillin G and V

	Calculated statistical parameter	Pen G (standard)	Pen V
1.	Number of replicate Sample	10	10
2.	Average Value	1.92×10^{-5}	2.47x10 ⁻⁵
3.	Standard Deviation (SD)	8.12x10 ⁻⁷	2.62x10 ⁻⁷
4.	RSD%	4.23%	1.06%

The standard deviation and relative standard deviation were 2.62×10^{-7} and 1.06% respectively for penicillin V and 8.12×10^{-7} and 4.23% respectively for penicillin G. Since the standard deviation was very small (below 10%) (Guideline, 2005; De-Bièvre and Günzler, 2005; Oyagi *et al.*, 2016; Thompson *et al.*, 2002) it was concluded that the voltammetric currents were precise enough, an indication that the developed voltammetric method had good precision.

4.2.4: Accuracy Studies in Determination of Pen V and G in ABS-SDS

On standard addition of 50%, 100% and 150% of the original analyte concentration the resulting voltammetric currents were reported as shown in Table 4.6 below.

	Sample	Original (mM)	Current (A)	Added (mM)	Current expected(A)	Found (A)	Recovery, %
1.	Pen V	1.4	1.84x10 ⁻⁵	0.7	2.76x10 ⁻⁵	2.73 x10 ⁻⁵	98.9%
		1.4	1.84x10 ⁻⁵	1.4	3.68x10 ⁻⁵	3.59x10 ⁻⁵	97.6%
		1.4	1.84x10 ⁻⁵	2.1	4.60x10 ⁻⁵	4.48x10 ⁻⁵	97.4%
2.	Pen G Standard)	2	7.69x10 ⁻⁶	1	1.153x10 ⁻⁵	1.15x10 ⁻⁵	99.3%
		2	7.69x10 ⁻⁶	2	1.54x10 ⁻⁵	1.66x10 ⁻⁵	108.1%
		2	7.69x10 ⁻⁶	3	1.92x10 ⁻⁵	2.03x10 ⁻⁵	105.6%

Table 4.6: Recovery studies after standard addition (50%-150%) of .14M penicillin V and 0.2M penicillin G

Current readings were done in triplicates for the three different concentrations as recommended by ICH and the average of each concentration recorded as shown in the Table 4.6 The percentage recovery was done by comparing the current obtained with the expected current. From the results the percentage recovery was ranging from 97.4 - 108.1% which is within the recommended range of 90% to 110% by international council for harmonization of technical requirements for pharmaceuticals for human use (ICH) document on validation methodology (Guideline, 2005). As such the proposed method is precise and accurate in determination of both analytes, penicillin G and V.

4.3: Effect of interferents

The effects of Na⁺, Mg²⁺ K⁺, Fe³⁺, Zn²⁺, Ca²⁺, Cu²⁺, PO₄³⁻, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, and SO₄²⁻ on determination of penicillin V and G are provided in Table 4.7

Interferents	Potential (V)	Current (A)
Control	1.60	1.82×10^{-5} A
Calcium chloride	1.60	$2.10 \times 10^{-5} A$
Copper sulphate	1.60	$1.82 \times 10^{-5} A$
Iron sulphate	1.60	$2.95 \times 10^{-5} A$
Potassium chloride	1.61	$2.15 \times 10^{-5} A$
Potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate	1.61	1.88×10^{-5} A
Potassium nitrate	1.60	$2.2 \times 10^{-5} \text{A}$
Sodium nitrate	1.62	$1.85 \times 10^{-5} A$
Zinc chloride	1.61	$1.99 \times 10^{-5} A$

Table 4.7: Effect of addition of interferents on ABS-SDS penicillin G

The above data were used to plot the voltammetric current (I) against potential (E) for the various ions (Figure 4.20).



Figure 4.20: Effect of interferents on voltammetric current in determination of penicillin G in acetate buffer-sodium dodecyl sulphate solution.

From the histogram there was little change on voltammetric current except in iron II sulphate where current was significantly increased. The mean potential of the above data points was 1.6055V, with a standard deviation of 0.007 and a relative standard deviation of 0.45%. The variability of these data points from the control was also tested using student t test at a certain confidence interval to check if they lie within the acceptable limits.

$$Confidence \ level = \bar{x} \pm \frac{ts}{\sqrt{n}} \tag{4.6}$$

At 95% confidence level, the limits of the potential should lie between 1.5994-1.6116. The mean potential (1.6055V) lies within the stated range. There was no significant change in the potential at 95% confidence limit and therefore, these substances did not have significant effect on the oxidation potential of penicillin G.

Similarly, the mean current was found to lie within the expected range, $1.8191-2.4229 \times 10^{-5}$, therefore there was no significant change in the current in presence of interferents. However, Fe³⁺ significantly increased the current, which actually helped in voltammetric determination of penicillin G. A similar observation was made when the effects of the same interferents were studied using penicillin V in acetate buffer-sodium dodecyl sulfate solution as shown in the Table 4.8.

Interferents	Potential (V)	Current (A)	
Control	1.59	3.18 x 10 ⁻⁵ A	
Calcium chloride	1.61	$3.30 \times 10^{-5} \text{A}$	
Copper sulphate	1.60	$3.20 \times 10^{-5} \text{A}$	
Iron (III) Chloride	1.61	$4.45 \times 10^{-5} A$	
Potassium chloride	1.59	$3.40 \times 10^{-5} A$	
Potassium dihydrogen	1.59	$3.36 \times 10^{-5} A$	
orthophosphate			
Potassium nitrate	1.59	$3.32 \times 10^{-5} \text{A}$	
Magnesium chloride	1.59	$3.31 \times 10^{-5} A$	
Sodium nitrate	1.59	$3.38 \times 10^{-5} A$	
Zinc chloride	1.59	$3.28 \times 10^{-5} A$	

Table 4.8: Effect of addition of interferents on ABS-SDS penicillin V

A plot of the voltammetric current (I) against potential (E) of the above data was expressed in form of a histogram as shown in Figure 4.21.



Interference study

Figure 4.21: Effect of interferents on voltammetric current in determination of penicillin V in acetate buffer-sodium dodecyl sulphate solution

There was no significant change in the oxidation potential of penicillin V, since the standard deviation from mean and relative standard deviation reported were 0.0085 and 0.53% respectively.

Natural samples normally contain enormous number of easily oxidizable/reducible groups. Serious interference in penicillin V and G determination could have occurred if some of the interferences were adsorbed at the electrode surface together with the analyte of interest. This happens when the interferants are oxidized or reduced at potentials close to that of the analyte ions or if the electrode surface cannot discriminate the analyte from other substances dissolved in the support electrolyte (Sila *et al.*, 2018).

Most of these substances had no significant effect on both voltammetric current and oxidation potential of both penicillin V and penicillin G. However, salts of iron enhanced the oxidation current significantly with no significant effect on the oxidation potential of both penicillin V and G. It's worth mentioning that for trace levels of these interferants in less contaminated real samples; their interfering effect will not pose any significant effect on their analysis.

4.4: Evaluation of the developed Method

4.4.1: Cyclic Voltammetry of Cow Milk Sample Containing Penicillin G and Penicillin G Containing Capsules

Cyclic voltammetry of penicillin G in cow milk gave only one irreversible oxidation peak around 1.65V versus Ag/AgCl as shown in Figure 4.22.



Figure 4.22: An overlay of cyclic voltammograms of 0.1M penicillin G in cow milk, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at different scan rates. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V

A plot of oxidation currents (i_{pa}) against the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of penicillin G in

ABS/SDS media is linear as shown in Figure 4.23



Figure 4.23: A plot of anodic peak currents (i_{pa}) against square root of scan rate ($v^{1/2}$) for penicillin G in ABS/SDS solution.

These oxidation peaks of milk sample containing penicillin G were well defined and the oxidation currents for the analyte (penicillin G) were found to increase with increasing scan rate as demonstrated in Figure 4.22. This behaviour is associated with fast electron transfer systems (Bard and Faulkner , 2001) It was also observed that the oxidation potentials for the penicillin G in cow milk (Figure 4.22) compared relatively well with that obtained for penicillin G in SDS/ABS media (Figure 4.14). The slight difference, particularly with respect to the shape of the voltammogram, can be attributed to the additional components from cow milk that were not separated during sample treatment.

The plot of voltametric peak currents against square root of scan rate gave a linear plot indicating a diffusion-controlled process (Bard and Faulkner , 2001). Moreover, the slope in Figure 4.23 was used to calculate the rate of diffusion of the analyte using Randles-Sevcik equation (Equation 2.6). The number of electrons (n) used in the oxidation of penicillin G were previously found to be approximately two. The calculated value for diffusion coefficient (D_0) for penicillin G in cow milk was found to be 1.494x10⁻⁶ cm²/s.

Oxidation potentials for the procaine-penicillin drug, a common antibiotic used in animal husbandly showed similar results to those of penicillin G in ABS-SDS as shown in Figure 4.24.



Figure 4.24: An overlay of cyclic voltammograms of 0.1M penicillin G in procaine penicillin drug, pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at different scan rates. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V

A plot of oxidation currents (i_{pa}) against the square root of scan rates ($v^{1/2}$) of penicillin G in procaine penicillin drug in ABS/SDS media was linear, with a coefficient correlation of 0.99 as shown in the Figure 4.25.



Square-Root of Scan Rate

Figure 4.25: A plot of anodic peak currents (i_{pa}) against square root of scan rate ($v^{1/2}$) in procaine penicillin drug.

The oxidation currents for the penicillin G in procaine penicillin drug were found to increase with increasing scan rate as demonstrated in Figure 4.24. The peak potential in procaine-penicillin G shifted to higher potential which may be attributed to other components of the drug.

The linearity of the plot in Figure 4.25 is an indication that rate of transfer of penicillin G in the drug to the electrode surface was mainly diffusion controlled. However, the linear plot did not pass through the origin implying that other mass transfer processes might have influenced the electrode process but to a small extent. Since the number of electrons involved in the oxidation process was estimated to be two, diffusion coefficient of penicillin G in procaine

drug was estimated using Randles-Sevcik equation (Equation 2.6). This was done by replacing $\frac{I_p}{v^{1/2}}$ term in Randles-Sevcik equation with the slope of the plot in Figure 4.25. Using Randles-Sevcik equation, the diffusion coefficient of penicillin G in penicillin drug was approximated to be 2.358x10⁻⁷ cm²/s.

As shown in Table 4.9, the D_0 for penicillin G in cow milk and in procaine penicillin drug were found to be 1.494×10^{-6} cm²/s and 2.358×10^{-7} cm²/s, respectively. This difference could be ascribed to the differences in sample components which possibly interacted with penicillin G differently.

Table 4.9: Electrochemical properties of penicillin G in cow milk and pharmaceutical samples

No	Media	D _o , cm ² /sec	E _{oxidation} , V	n
1.	Pen G in cow milk	1.494x10 ⁻⁶	1.65	2
2.	Pen G in Pen-strep	2.358x10 ⁻⁷	1.65	2
3.	Pen G in ABS-SDS	1.392×10^{-6}	1.65	2

D_o: diffusion coefficient obtained from the Randles-Sevcik equation, n=number of electrons.

The oxidation of penicillin G in both samples compares favorably well with those obtained when pure penicillin G was studied in ABS-SDS solution and those of Freier *et al.*, (2017) who found out that penicillin G on boron doped diamond electrode oxidized at 1.6V versus Ag/AgCl. The slight change in potential is probably attributed to the sample matrix both in the milk and in the procaine penicillin drug. Freier *et al.*, (2017) attributed the oxidation potential response at 1.6V to the presence of penicillin G.

4.4.2: Precision in Determination of Pen G in Cow Milk and in Procaine Penicillin Drug

The potentials and peak currents of samples of milk spiked with penicillin G and procaine penicillin drug were obtained as shown in Table 4.10.

Penicillin G (cow milk)			Penicillin G (drug)		
Trial	Potential (V)	Current (A)	Potential(V)	Current (A)	
1	1.65	8.65 x 10 ⁻⁶	1.64	8.95 x 10 ⁻⁶	
2	1.64	$8.78 imes10^{-6}$	1.66	$8.94\times10^{\text{-}6}$	
3	1.64	$9.25 imes 10^{-6}$	1.64	$8.27\times10^{\text{-}6}$	
4	1.66	$9.38 imes 10^{-6}$	1.64	$8.43 imes 10^{-6}$	
5	1.64	$9.43 imes 10^{-6}$	1.63	$7.93\times10^{\text{-}6}$	
6	1.65	8.67 ×10 ⁻⁶	1.64	$8.02 imes 10^{-6}$	
7	1.66	8.48 ×10 ⁻⁶	1.66	$8.04 imes 10^{-6}$	
8	1.65	$9.41 imes 10^{-6}$	1.65	$9.05 imes 10^{-6}$	
9	1.66	$8.69\times10^{\text{-}6}$	1.66	$9.12\times10^{\text{-}6}$	
10	1.64	$9.45 imes 10^{-6}$	1.66	$8.86\times10^{\text{-}6}$	

Table 4.10: Potential and current response of penicillin G (cow milk and drug) using ABS-SDS solution

The average potential of penicillin G (in milk and drug) were calculated and the standard deviations of individual potentials from the average potential were found to be 0.0087 and 0.011 for penicillin G in milk and penicillin G in the drug respectively. This implies that there was no significant change in the position of the oxidation potential.

The relative standard deviation of voltammetric currents for penicillin G in cow milk was found to be 4.38% while in pharmaceuticals was found to be 5.51% as shown in the Table 4.11.

	Calculated statistical parameter	Pen G in cow milk	Pen G (pen-strep)
1.	Number of replicate Samples	10	10
2.	Average Value	9.02 x10 ⁻⁶	8.56 x10 ⁻⁶
3.	Standard Deviation (SD)	3.95 x10 ⁻⁷	4.7142 x10 ⁻⁷
4.	RSD%	4.38%	5.51%

Table 4.11: Experimental results showing mean, standard deviation and relative standard deviation of current response of penicillin G in cow milk and pharmaceutical samples

The recommended maximum relative standard deviation (RSD %) is 10% (Guideline, 2005; De-Bièvre and Günzler, 2005; Oyagi *et al.*, 2016; Thompson *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, the obtained RSD% values for this method were within the acceptable range

4.4.3: Accuracy in Determination of Pen G in Cow Milk and in Procaine Penicillin Drug

An overlay of square wave voltammograms of cow milk samples spiked with penicillin G (50%, 100% and 150%) is shown in Figure 4.26



Figure 4.26: An overlay of square wave voltammograms of penicillin G in cow milk spiked with 50%, 100% and 150% concentrations of penicillin G at pH 4.5 on glassy carbon electrode at different scan rates. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V.

A plot of the resulting voltammetric current against concentration was linear as shown Figure

4.27.



Concentration of Pen-Strep

Figure 4.27: Plot of voltammetric current versus concentration (mM) of Penicillin G in drug.

Peak currents were noted to decrease with decrease in penicillin concentration and the potentials peaked at 1.6V. There was no current peak in the blank possibly because the analyte (penicillin G) was absent. The current peak at 1.6V were attributed to presence of penicillin G.

The linearity of the peak currents against penicillin G concentration implies that there was proportional relationship between current and analyte concentration. This is an indication that the proposed voltammetric method is accurate in detection and quantitative determination of benzylpenicillin in acetate buffer-sodium dodecyl sulfate solution (Guideline, 2005).

The percentage recoveries of milk sample spiked with penicillin G and penicillin G in procaine penicillin drug (pharmaceutical sample) were obtained as shown in Table 4.12.

	~ 1	<u> </u>	~		~		-
	Sample	Original	Current	Added	Current	Found	Recovery,
		$(\mathbf{m}\mathbf{M})$		$(\mathbf{m}\mathbf{M})$	(A)	(A)	%
		(1111)	(A)	(1111/1)	(11)	(11)	/0
1	Pen G	1×10^{-2}	8.01x10 ⁻⁶	5.0×10^{-3}	1.20×10^{-5}	1.15×10^{-5}	98.5%
1.	(Cow	1 10	01011110	010 1 10	1.20 1110	1110 1110	2010/0
	(COW						
	mik)	1 102	0.01.106	1 102	1 50 105	1	100.004
		1×10^{-2}	8.01x10 ⁻⁶	1×10^{-2}	1.60×10^{-3}	1.66×10^{-3}	103.0%
		1×10^{-2}	8.01x10 ⁻⁶	$1.5 imes 10^{-2}$	2.00 x10 ⁻⁵	2.03 x10 ⁻⁵	101.0%
2.	Pen G	4×10^{-3}	5.83 x10 ⁻⁶	2×10^{-3}	8.7 x10 ⁻⁶	8.4 x10 ⁻⁶	96.0%
	(Pharm)						
	(1 114111)	4 10-3	5 92 - 10-6	4 10-3	1 17 - 10-5	1 00 - 10-5	02.00/
		$4 \times 10^{\circ}$	5.83 X10°	4×10^{5}	1.1/X10°	1.08 X10 ⁻⁵	92.0%
		4×10^{-3}	5.83 x10 ⁻⁶	6×10^{-3}	1.46 x10 ⁻⁵	1.38 x10 ⁻⁵	94.0%

Table 4.12: The percent recovery values of analyte from spiked standard solutions of penicillinG in cow milk and pharmaceutical samples

The Percentage recovery of the penicillin G from the sample was obtained as shown in Equation 4.7

$$\% recovery = \frac{obtained current}{expected current} \times 100$$
(4.7)

The percent recoveries for penicillin G were found to lie between 98.5% - 103.0% for the cow milk and 92.0% - 96.0% for the procaine penicillin drug sample (Table 4.12). These recovery percentages were within the recommended 90.0% - 110.0% range (Guideline, 2005).
4.4.4: Detection Limit of Penicillin G in Cow Milk

An overlay of voltammograms of penicillin G at different concentration were obtained as shown in figure in Figure 4.28.



Figure 4.28: Square wave voltammetry of different concentration of Penicillin G in cow milk on glassy carbon electrode. Initial potential: 1.0V; high potential: 2.0V; low potential: 1.0V.

A plot of peak currents against concentration of penicillin G was linear as shown in Figure 4.29



Figure 4.29: Linear plot of current (A) against concentration (mM) of penicillin G in cow milk.

The voltammetric currents reduced linearly as the concentration of penicillin G solution was diluted. Using the developed voltammetric method linear range was established from 2.5×10^{3} ng/L to 2.0×10^{4} ng/L with correlation coefficient (R) of 0.9859 for penicillin G (Figure 4.29).

Additionally, the limit of detection of penicillin G using voltammetric method was estimated to be 2.5×10^3 ng/L where the signal-to-noise ratio was three. The maximum residue limit (MRL) of penicillin G set by the European Union is 4.0×10^3 ng/L in milk fit for human consumption (Li *et al.*, 2015).

Therefore, the developed method is suitable for qualitative and quantitative analysis of penicillin G in milk because it achieves a lower detection limit than the minimum residue limit

set by European union. Moreover, the method is sufficiently precise and accurate and it is not significantly affected by interferents that are common in milk and other environmental samples.

4.4.5: Developed Method Versus Other Methods

The suitability of the developed voltammetric technique was compared to other electroanalytical techniques which have been used to analyze penicillins as provided in Table 4.13.

Table 4.13: Detection limits of some of the voltammetric methods used in analysis of penicillins.

No.	Electrode	Support Electrolyte	Technique	LR (µM)	LOD (µM)	Ref.
1.	BDD	Acetate buffer solution, pH 4.0	Differential Pulse Voltammetry	0.5 - 40	0.25	L'ubomir <i>et al.</i> , 2012
2.	Au	Acetate buffer solution, pH 4.7	Pulsed Amperometric Detection	-	0.4	Koprowski et al., 1993
3.	HMT probe Pt	Phosphate buffer saline with sodium chloride	Amperometric Detection	4 - 200	4	Stred'ansky et al., 2000
4.	[VO(salen)]CPE	-	Differential Pulse Voltammetry	-	16.6	Bergamini et al., 2006
5.	Pt DEN- modified SPCEs	Penicillinase enzyme in 100 mM NaCl	-	0.1– 500	0.1	Ju and Kim, 2016
6.	GCE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate/Acetate buffer solution, pH 4.5	Square wave voltammetry	0.04– 34.6	0.04	Sila <i>et al.</i> , 2018

The limit of detection of the developed method is much lower than those reported for determination of penicillin V and G as shown in Table 4.13. Moreover, the use of highly polished GCE and sodium dodecyl sulfate is simple compared to electrode modification processes used in some electrochemical methods

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1: Conclusions

A simple square wave voltammetric method based on SDS/ABS, pH 4.5 using bare glassy carbon electrode has been developed for electrochemical detection of penicillin V and penicillin G and for determination of penicillin G in ABS/SDS/bovine milk. Presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate in acetate buffer solution, was found to amplify the oxidation current signal of penicillin V and penicillin G by almost ten and five times respectively with no significant shifts on the oxidation potentials. A pH of 4.5 and SDS concentration of 0.347 M were found to be the optimum conditions for voltammetric determination of the analytes since they induced the highest current response.

The useful linear range for penicillin V in this method was found to be 0.04 μ M – 34.6 μ M, while detection limit and limit of quantitation was 0.04 μ M and 0.12 μ M respectively in SDS/ABS, at pH 4.5. In absence of SDS, the linear range, detection limit and limit of quantitation for penicillin V was 3.5 μ M – 14.0 μ M, 3.5 μ M, 14 μ M respectively in acetate buffer solution (ABS) at pH 4.5. Similarly, linear range for penicillin G was found to be between 1.25 μ M – 15.0 μ M, while the detection limit was 1.25 μ M in SDS/ABS solution. The limit of quantitation was estimated to be 3.75 μ M in SDS/ABS solution. In absence of SDS, the linear concentration range, detection limit and limit of quantitation for penicillin G was 2.5 μ M – 10 μ M, 2.5 μ M and 7.5 μ M respectively in ABS at pH 4.5

Foreign ions such as Na⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, Zn²⁺, Ca²⁺, Fe³⁺, Cu²⁺, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, PO₄³⁻ and SO₄²⁻ were found to have insignificant effect on the current signals and oxidation potentials of the

penicillin V and G. This electrochemical method is sensitive enough for penicillin V and penicillin G analysis. Therefore, presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate in acetate buffer solution (ABS), was used to modify and control properties of GCE surface and pre-concentrate the penicillins on electrode surface. Consequently, this would improve electron transfer across the electrode/solution interface and also prevent against fouling.

The presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) in this method was made to increase the selectivity and sensitivity of the bare glassy carbon electrode (GCE) surface, and facilitate detection of penicillin V and penicillin G. No pre-treatment of the glassy carbon electrode was required in this method, hence the method is simple and reproducible .

5.2: Recommendations

This study recommends the following:

- Further work be done to determine the morphology of the surfactant modified electrode.
- Further work be carried out to determine the best orientation of surfactant molecules to maximize electron transfer process
- More work be done to check suitability of the developed method on other classes of antibiotics.

REFERENCES

- Aarestrup, F.M. (1999). "Association between the consumption of antimicrobial agents in animal husbandry and occurrence of resistant bacteria among food animals". *International journal of antimicrobial agents* 12: 279-285.
- Aarestrup, F. (2012). Get pigs off antibiotics. Nature, 465-467.
- Achterberg, E. P. and Braungardt, C. (1999). Stripping voltammetry for the determination of trace metal speciation and in-situ measurements of trace metal distributions in marine waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **400**: 381–397.
- Alanis, A. J. (2005). Resistance to antibiotics: are we in the post-antibiotic era? Archives of *medical research*, 697-705.
- Alcalde, B., Granados, M., and Saurina, J. (2019). Exploring the antioxidant features of polyphenols by spectroscopic and electrochemical methods. *Antioxidants*, 523.
- Albert, A. (2012). *Selective toxicity: the physico-chemical basis of therapy*. New york: Chapman and Hall ltd.
- Aleksandra, P and Jolanta, K. (2019). Electrochemical immunosensors for antibiotic detection", *Biosensors* **9**: 1–27.
- Andersen, K., Oliveira, C., Larsen, K., Poulsen, F., Callisen, T., Westh, P., and Otzen, D. (2009). The role of decorated SDS micelles in sub-CMC protein denaturation and association. *Journal of molecular biology*, 207-226.
- Andreev, Y., and Bruce, P. (2000). Polymer electrolyte structure and its implications. *Electrochimica Acta*, 1417-1423.
- Astrid, Z., Eric, S., Jean-Marie, F., Paulette, C. and André, L. (2012). Development of new drugs for an old target the penicillin binding proteins. *Molecules*, **17**: 12478–12505.
- Atta, N. F., Darwish, S. A., Khalil, S. E.and Galal, A. (2007). Effect of surfactants on the voltammetric response and determination of an antihypertensive drug. *Talanta* 72: 1438–1445.

- Atta, N. F., Galal, A., Abu-Attia, F. M.and Azab, S. M. (2011). Characterization and electrochemical investigations of micellar/drug interactions. *Electrochimica Acta* 56: 2510–2517.
- Atta, N. F., Galal, A.and Ahmed, R. A. (2011). Voltammetric behavior and determination of isoniazid using PEDOT electrode in presence of surface-active agents. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*. 6: 5097–5113.
- Attwood, D., and Florence, A. (2012). *FASTtrack Physical Pharmacy*. Philadelphia: Pharmaceutical Press.
- Awad, H. M., ELâ, K. Y., Aziz, R., Sarmidi, M. R., and Elâ, H. A. (2012). Antibiotics as microbial secondary metabolites: production and application. *Jornal of Teknology*, 59.
- Ayukekbong, J. A., Ntemgwa, M., and Atabe, A. N. (2017). The threat of antimicrobial resistance in developing countries: causes and control strategies. *Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control.* 6: 1–8.
- Azarmi, R.and Ashjaran, A. (2015). Type and application of some common surfactants. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research. 7: 632-640.
- Babington, R., Matas, S., Marco, M., and Galve, R. (2012). Current bioanalytical methods for detection of penicillins. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 1549-1566.
- Baranowski, I., Markowski, P., Gerle, A., and Baranowski, J. (2008). Determination of selected drugs in human urine by differential pulse voltammetry technique. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 73(1), 5–10.
- Barra, C., and Dos Santos, M. (2001). Speciation of Inorganic Arsenic in Natural Waters by Square-Wave Cathodic Stripping Voltammetry. *Electroanalysis: An International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis*, 1098-1104.
- Bard, A.J. and Faulkner, L. R. (2001). *Electrochemical methods: fundamentals and applications*. New York: John Wiley and sons.
- Bard, A. J., Faulkner, L. R. (2004). Electrochemical Methods: Fundamentals and Applications,2nd Ed.; Wiley: New York.
- Batchelor-McAuley, C., Kätelhön, E., Barnes, E., Compton, R., Laborda, E., and Molina, A. (2015). Recent advances in voltammetry. *ChemistryOpen*, 224.

- Baynes, R. E., Dedonder, K., Kissell, L., Mzyk, D., Marmulak, T., Smith, G.and Riviere, J. E. (2016). Health concerns and management of select veterinary drug residues. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. 88: 112–122.
- Becker, M., Zittlau, E.and Petz, M. (2004). Residue analysis of 15 penicillins and cephalosporins in bovine muscle, kidney and milk by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, **520**: 19–32.
- Benito-Peña, E., Urraca, J. L.and Moreno-Bondi, M. C. (2009). Quantitative determination of penicillin V and amoxicillin in feed samples by pressurised liquid extraction and liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*. **49**: 289–294.
- Bergamini, M., Teixeira, M., Dockal, E., Bocchi, N., and Cavalheiro, É. (2006). Evaluation of different voltammetric techniques in the determination of amoxicillin using a carbon paste electrode modified with [N, N'-ethylenebis (salicylideneaminato)] oxovanadium (IV). Journal of the Electrochemical Society, E94 – E98.
- Bertran, K. G., Susan, M. B. and Anthony, T. J. (2009). Beta lactam and other cell wall and cell membrane active antibiotics. In *Basics and clinical pharmacology* (p. 775). Tata Mcgraw Hill Education private limited

Bhattacharjee, M. K. (2016). Chemistry of antibiotics and related drugs. Cham: Springer.

Bint, A., and Burtt, I. (1980). Adverse Antibiotic Drug Interactions. Drugs, 57-68.

- Bion, C., Beck Henzelin, A., Qu, Y., Pizzocri, G., Bolzoni, G., and Buffoli, E. (2015). Analysis of 27 antibiotic residues in raw cow's milk and milk-based products – validation of Delvotest® T. *Food Additives and Contaminants: Part A*, 1–6.
- Bizzotto, D., Burgess, I., Doneux, T., Sagara, T., and Yu, H. (2018). Beyond simple cartoons: challenges in characterizing electrochemical biosensor interfaces. *ACS sensors*, 5-12.

Bockris, J., and Khan, S. (1983). Fermi levels in solution. Applied Physics Letters, 124-125.

Bott, A. (1997). Practical problems in voltammetry. Current Separations, 79-84.

- Brainina, K., Malakhova, N., and Stojko, N. (2000). Stripping voltammetry in environmental and food analysis. *Fresenius' journal of analytical chemistry*, 307-325.
- Briscoe, S., McWhinney, B., Lipman, J., Roberts, J., and Ungerer, J. (2012). A method for determining the free (unbound) concentration of ten beta-lactam antibiotics in human

plasma using high performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. Journal of Chromatography, 178-184.

- Broto, M., Matas, S., Babington, R., Marco, M., and Galve, R. (2015). Immunochemical detection of penicillins by using biohybrid magnetic particles. *Food Control*, 381-389.
- Brown, K., Mugoh, M., Call, D. R., and Omulo, S. (2020). Antibiotic residues and antibioticresistant bacteria detected in milk marketed for human consumption in Kibera, Nairobi. *Plos one*, 1-8.
- Brycht, M., Skrzypek, S., Kaczmarska, K., Burnat, B., Leniart, A., and Gutowska, N. (2015). Square-wave voltammetric determination of fungicide fenfuram in real samples on bare boron-doped diamond electrode, and its corrosion properties on stainless steels used to produce agricultural tools. *Electrochimica Acta*, 117-125.
- Byarugaba, D. K. (2009). Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Resistance. Springer Science, 17-22.
- Cazorla-Reyes, R., Romero-González, R., Frenich, A., Maresca, M., and Vidal, J. (2014). Simultaneous analysis of antibiotics in biological samples by ultra high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis*, 203-212.
- Chan, C. C., Lam, H., Lee, T. C., Zhang, X. M (2004). Analytical Method Validation and Instrument Performance Verification, Wiley Interscience Pub. Eds. New Jersey.
- Chen, B., Ma, M. and Su X. (2010). Amperometric penicillin biosensor with enhanced sensitivity based on co-immobilization of carbon nanotubes, hematein and betalactamase on glassy carbon electrode. *Analytica Chimica Acta*.674: 89–95
- Chen, Y., Wang, Y., Liu, L., Wu, X., Xu, L., Kuang, H., and Xu, C. (2015). A gold immunochromatographic assay for the rapid and simultaneous detection of fifteen βlactams. *Nanoscale*, 16381-16388.
- Christopher, M., Riley, T. W., Rosanske, Eds; Development and Validation of Analytical Methods, Pergamon Press; Oxford (1996).
- Chung, C., Chan, H., Lam, T. C., Lee; Xue, M., Zhang, Eds; Analytical Method Validation and Instrument Performance Verification, Wiley Interscience Pub.; New jersey (2004)
- Coates, A. R., Halls, G., and Hu, Y. (2011). Novel classes of antibiotics or more of the same? *British journal of pharmacology*, 184–194.

- Creager, S. (2007). Solvents and supporting electrolytes. *Handbook of electrochemistry-Elservier*, 57-72).
- Cristian , P., Alexandra , B., Octavian , R., and Maria , M. (2008). Application of electrochemical impedance spectroscopy to study phenolic films. *Revue Roumaine de Chimie*, 1007-1015.
- Crow, D. (2017). Principles and applications of electrochemistry. London: Routledge.
- Davies, J., and Davies, D. (2010). Origins and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 74(3), 417–433.
- Dayan, A. (1993). Allergy to antimicrobial residues in food: assessment of the risk to man. *Vetermary Mlcrobtology*, 213-226.
- Deshpande, A. D., Baheti, K. G., and Chatterjee, N. R. (2004). Degradation of b-lactam antibiotics. *Current science*, 1687-1688.
- Deweck A. L. Allergology Proceedings. VII Congress of the International Association of Allergology, Excerpt Medico, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 1971.
- Diaz, A., and Kaifer, A. E. (1988). Self-assembled surfactant monolayers on electrode surfaces. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry and Interfacial Electrochemistry, 249(1–2), 333–338.
- Dickinson, B., Altman, R., Nielsen, N., and Sterling, M. (2001). Drug Interactions Between Oral Contraceptives and Antibiotics. *Elsevier*, 853-860.
- Dos Reis, A. P., Tarley, C. R. T., Maniasso, N., and Kubota, L. T. (2005). Exploiting micellar environment for simultaneous electrochemical determination of ascorbic acid and dopamine. *Talanta*, 67(4), 829–835.
- Dowling, A., O'Dwyer, J., and Adley, C. (2017). Antibiotics: mode of action and mechanisms of resistance. *Antimicrobial research: Novel bioknowledge and educational programs*, 536-545.
- Dragoe, D., Spătaru, N., Kawasaki, R., Manivannan, A., Spătaru, T., Tryk, D., and Fujishima,
 A. (2006). Detection of trace levels of Pb2+ in tap water at boron-doped diamond electrodes with anodic stripping voltammetry. *Electrochimica acta*, 2437-2441.
- Dryden, M., and Wheeler, A. (2015). A versatile, open-source potentiostat for electroanalysis and integration. *PloS one*, 10.

- Ebimieowei, E., Ibemologi, A (2016). "Antibiotics: classification and mechanism of action with emphasis on molecular perspective", *International journal of applied microbiology and biotechnology research*, 4(6), 90 - 101.
- Elgrishi, N., Rountree, K., McCarthy, B., Rountree, E., Eisenhart, T., and Dempsey, J. (2018). A practical beginner's guide to cyclic voltammetry. *Journal of chemical education*, 197-206.
- El-Maali, N., Osman, A., Aly, A., and Al-Hazmi, G. (2005). Voltammetric analysis of Cu (II), Cd (II) and Zn (II) complexes and their cyclic voltammetry with several cephalosporin antibiotics. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 95-104.
- Etebu, E., and Arikekpar, I. (2016). Antibiotics: Classification and mechanisms of action with emphasis on molecular perspectives, 12.
- Fagerquist, C. K., Lightfield, A. R (2003). "Confirmatory analysis of β-lactam antibiotics in kidney tissue by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization selective reaction monitoring ion trap tandem mass spectrometry" *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* Vol. 17: 660–671.
- Falowo, A. B., and Akimoladun, O. F. (2020). Veterinary Drug Residues in Meat and Meat Products: Occurrence Detection and Implications. *Veterinary Medicine and Pharmaceuticals*, 1-17.
- Farghaly,O.A., Abdel Hameed, R S., Abd-Alhakeem.H (2014). "Analytical application using modern electrochemical techniques". *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 9: 3287
- Farn, R. J. (2006). Chemistry and technology of surfactants. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Farn, R. J. (2008). Chemistry and technology of surfactants. New Delhi: John Wiley and Sons.
- FAO/WHO. Residue of Veterinary Drugs in Food. Food Standards Programme, Codex Alimentarius Commission. **3**. Rome, Italy, 1993.
- Feier, B., Ionel, I., Cristea, C., and Săndulescu, R. (2017). Electrochemical behavior of several penicillins at high potential. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 41(21), 12947–12955.
- Fernandes, R., Amador, P., and Prudencio, C. (2013). chemical structure, mode of action and mechanisms of resistance. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology*, 7-17.

- Finland, M. (1955). Emergence of antibiotic resistant bacteria. *The new England journal of Medicine*, 1019-1028.
- Forsman, U. (1982). Cathodic Stripping Voltammetric Determination of Trace Amounts of Penicillins. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 71-86.
- Fouladgar, M., Hadjmohammadi, M. R., Khalilzadeh, M. A., Biparva, P., Teymoori, N., and Beitollah, H. (2011). Voltammetric Determination of Amoxicillin at the Electrochemical Sensor Ferrocenedicarboxylic Acid Multi Wall Carbon Nanotubes Paste Electrode. *International Journal Electrochemical Science*. 6: 12.
- Frieden D. T. (2013). *Antibiotic resistance threat in united states of america*. Georgia: Centre for disease control and prevention.
- Fuchs-Godec, R (2006). "The adsorption, CMC Determination and Corrosion Inhibition of some N-alkyl Quaternary Ammonium Salts on carbon steel surface in 2M H₂SO₄", *Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects*, vol. 280: 130.
- Galal, A., Atta, N. F., and El-Ads, E. H. (2012). Probing cysteine self-assembled monolayers over gold nanoparticles – Towards selective electrochemical sensors. *Talanta*, 93: 264– 273.
- Gal'ık, M., Cholota, I., 'Svancara, A., Bobrowski, K. Vyt'ras (2006). "A study on stripping voltammetric determination of osmium (IV) at a carbon paste electrode insitu with cationic surfactants", *Electroanalysis*, 22: 2218 – 2224.
- Gomathi, H., chandra, N., and Sharma, L. (1991). Pretreatment of glassy carbon electrode leading to surface modification in Ferro/Ferricyanide in potassium chloride solution. *Bulletin of electrochemistry*, 477-479.
- Goncalves, L M., Welder. F.A., Callera, Maria.D.P.T (2014). Sotomayor, Paulo.R. Bueno. Penicillinase based amperometric biosensor for penicillin G. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 38: 131
- Gonzalez-Morena, M., Montanez, J., Aldini, M., Sanchez-Gomez, J., and Perez-Sala, D. (2016). Adduct formation and context factors in drug hypersensitivity: insight from proteomic studies. *Current pharmaceutical design*, 6748-6758.

- Gouveia-Caridade, C., Pauliukaite, R., Brett, C. M. A (2006). "Influence of nation coatings and surfactant on the stripping voltammetry of heavy metals at Bismuth-film modified carbon film electrodes", *Electroanalysis*, **18**: 854.
- Gradmann, C. (2013). Sensitive Matters: The World Health Organisation and Antibiotic Resistance Testing, 1945–1975. *Social History of Medicine*, 555–574.
- Graham, F., Paradis, L., Bégin, P., Paradis, J., and Babin, Y. (2014). Risk of allergic reaction and sensitization to antibiotics in foods. *Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 321-331.
- Grieshaber, D., MacKenzie, R., Voros, J., and Reimhult, E. (2008). Electrochemical Biosensors:Sensor Principles and Architectures. *Sensors*, 1400-1458.
- Guan, S., Nelson, B.J (2006). "Magnetic composite electroplating for depositing micromagnets" *Journal of Microelectromechemical Systems*. **15**: 330.
- Guduru, R., and Icaza, J. (2016). A brief review on multivalent intercalation batteries with aqueous electrolytes. *Nanomaterials*, 41.
- Guideline, I. H. T. (2005). Validation of analytical procedures: text and methodology Q2 (R1). In *International Conference on Harmonization, Geneva, Switzerland*, 11–12).
- Guidelli, R., and Foresti, M. L. (1977). The inhibitory effect of neutral organic surfactants upon simple electrode reactions. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry and Interfacial Electrochemistry*, 77(1), 73–96.
- Guillermot, D., Carbon, C., Balkau, B., Geslin, P., Lecoeur, H., Vauzelle-Kervroedan, F., . . . Eschwege, E. (1998). Low dosage and long treatment duration of beta lactams. *American medical association*, 365-370.
- Gumustas, M., and A Ozkan, S. (2011). The role of and the place of method validation in drug analysis using electroanalytical techniques. *The Open Analytical Chemistry Journal*, 5(1).
- Guo , Z., Hui, W., and Gang , L. (2017). Recent Advances in Chemically Modified Electrodes, Microfabricated Devices and Injection Systems for the Electrochemical Detection of Heavy Metals: A review. *International journal of Electrochemical Science*, 8622 -8641.
- Gustavsson, E., Degelaen, J., Bjurling, P., and Sternesjo, A. (2004). Determination of beta Lactams in Milk Using a Surface Plasmon Resonance-Based Biosensor. *Journal of* agricultural and food chemistry, 2791-2796.

- Gutiérrez-Fernández, S., Blanco-López, M. C., Lobo-Castañón, M. J., Miranda-Ordieres, A. J., and Tuñón-Blanco, P. (2004). Adsorptive Stripping Voltammetry of Rifamycins at Unmodified and Surfactant-Modified Carbon Paste Electrodes. *Electroanalysis*, 16(20), 1660–1666.
- Guto, P. M. (2017). Electro-kinetic Behavior of Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes/Poly-L-lysine
 Modified Electrodes in Sodium dodecyl sulfate bi-continuous Microemulsions:
 Electro-kinetic behavior of Mwcnt/pll-modified electrodes in microemulsions.
 International Journal of Chemical Kinetics, 49(8), 596–601.
- Guto, P. M., Kamau, G. N (2010). "Electrochemical Characterization of Myoglobin-Polylysine Films at a Temperature range of 6 - 80° Celsius". *Electroanalysis*, 22(11), 1186 – 1190.
- Guto, P. M., Rusling, J. F (2005). "Enzyme-like Kinetics of Ferryloxy Myoglobin Formation inFilms on Electrodes in Microemulsions". *Journal Physical Chemistry* 109: 24457 -24464.
- Hampton, T. (2013). Antibiotic resistance threats in United states of America. Jama.
- Henderson, J. L. The Fluid Milk Industry 2ndedition, AVI Publishing Company Inc. London. 1971.
- Henriques, B. N., and Normark, S. (2002). Evolution and spread of antibiotic resistance. *Journal of internal medicine*, 91-106.
- Hillier, K. (2006). Babies and Bacteria: Phage Typing, Bacteriologists, and the Birth of Infection Control. Maryland: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Hosseinzadeh, R., Sabzi, R. E., and Ghasemlu, K. (2009). Effect of cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) in determination of dopamine and ascorbic acid using carbon paste electrode modified with tin hexacyanoferrate. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 68(2), 213–217.
- Hoyer, B., and Jensen, N. (2004). Use of sodium dodecyl sulfate as an antifouling and homogenizing agent in the direct determination of heavy metals by anodic stripping voltammetry. *The Analyst*, 129(8), 751.

- Hsieh, S.-H., Huang, H.-Y., and Lee, S. (2009). Determination of eight penicillin antibiotics in pharmaceuticals, milk and porcine tissues by nano-liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1216*(43), 7186–7194.
- Huang, L., Bu, L., Zhao, F., and Zeng, B. (2004). Voltammetric behavior of ethopropazine and the influence of sodium dodecylsulfate on its accumulation on gold electrodes. *Journal* of Solid-State Electrochemistry, 8(12), 976–981.
- Hu, C., He, Q., Li, Q., Hu, S. (2004). "Enhanced reduction and determination of trace thyroxine at carbon paste electrode in the presence of trace CTAB", *Analytical Sciences*. 20: 1049 1054.
- Hu, C., Yang, C., and Hu, S. (2007). Hydrophobic adsorption of surfactants on water-soluble carbon nanotubes: A simple approach to improve sensitivity and antifouling capacity of carbon nanotubes-based electrochemical sensors. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 9(1), 128–134.
- Hutching, M., Truman, A., and Wilkinson, B. (2019). Antibiotics: past, present and future. *Elsevier: ScienceDirect*, 72-80.
- ICH Guideline Q2A (RI), Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and methodology, 2005.
- Inga, O., Ingegerd, G., Elisabeth, L., and Otto, C. (2003). Suboptimal Antibiotic Dosage as a Risk Factor for Selection of Penicillin-Resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae: In Vitro Kinetic Model. American Society for Microbiology., 518–523.
- Inzelt, G., Lewenstam, A., and Scholz, F. (2013). *Handbook of reference electrodes*. Heidelberg: Springer.
- Jana, P., Vasile, I. I., N. Marcela (2013). "Simultaneous determination of B-Lactams antibiotics in waste water samples by solid phase extraction followed by high-Perfomance Liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry", *Bucharest-Romania: National Research and Development Institute for Industrial Ecology.*
- Janet, G. O., and Robert, A. O. (1985). Square wave voltametry. *American journal of analytical chemisty*.
- Jean, B. N., Ali, A. Y., Abayneh, T. D., Georges, K.-Z., Emil, A. O., Bah, K., . . . Wilfred , N. (2013). Antimicrobial resistance in the African Region:Issues, challenges and actions proposed. *African health monitor*, 27-30.

- Jeena, S., Venkateswaramurthy, N., and Sambathkumar, R. (2020). Antibiotic Residues in Milk Products: Impacts on Human Health. *Research Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmacodynamics*, 15-20.
- Jensen, B. B. (1998). The impact of feed additives on the microbial ecology of the gut in young pigs. *Journal of Animal Feed Sciences*, 7(Suppl 1), 45–64.
- Jia, J., Cao, L., and Wang, Z. (2008). Sensitive determination of Cd and Pb by differential pulse stripping voltammetry with in situ bismuth-modified zeolite doped carbon paste electrodes. *Electrochimica Acta*, 2177-2182.
- Jiang, J., Kucernak, A (2002). "Nanostructured platinum as an electrocatalyst for the electrooxidation of formic acid", *J. Electroanalytical. Chemistry* 520(1), 64-70.
- Joao, S. (2018). *The evaluation of phytogenic feed additive as an alternative to antimicrobial growth promoter in broiler feeds*. Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University.
- John. H. Luong, Keith. B. Male, Jeremy. D. Glennon (2009). "Boron-doped diamond electrode: synthesis, characterization, functionalization and analytical application". *Analyst*, 2009, 134, 1965-1979
- Jones, G. M., Seymour, E. H (1988). "Cowside antibiotic residue testing", *Journal of dairy Science*, 71 (6), 1691 1699.
- Jones, G.M (1999). On-Farm test for Drug Residues in Milk. Virginia Cooperative Extension. 401:1 -8
- Jones, G. (2009). *On-farm Tests for Drug Residues in Milk*. Petersburg.: Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.
- Joseph, W. (2006). Analytical electrochemistry. New Mexico: Wiley.
- Ju, Y., and Kim, J (2016). "Sensitive Electrochemical Penicillin Sensor Based on Screenprinted Carbon Electrode Modified with Dendrimer-encapsulated Pt Nanoparticles". Bull. Korean Chem. Soc., 37: 397–400.
- Julie.V. Macpherson (2015). "A practical guide to using boron doped diamond in electrochemical research". *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 17(5): 2935-2949
- Kosgey, A., Shitandi, A., and Marion, J. (2018). Antibiotic Residues in Milk from Three Popular Kenyan Milk Vending Machines. *American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 1520–1522.

- Kounaves, S. (1997). *Handbook of instrumental techniques for analytical chemistry*. West Lafayette: Tufts University.
- Kummerer, K. (2010). Pharmaceuticals in the Environment. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 57-75.
- Kurittu, J., Lonnberg, S., Virta, M., and Karp, M. (2000). Qualitative detection of tetracycline residues in milk with a luminescence-based microbial method: the effect of milk composition and assay performance in relation to an immunoassay and a microbial inhibition assay. *Journal of food protection*, 953-957.
- Kalra, K. (2011). Method Development and Validation of Analytical Procedures. In *Quality Control of Herbal Medicines and Related Areas*.
- Kamble, A., Patil, V., Sinha, B., Vanalakar, S., Dhere, S., Kale, S., and Kim, J. (2017). Influence of surfactants on electrochemical growth of CdSe nanostructures and their photoelectrochemical performance. *Journal of Solid State Electrochemistry*, 2649-2653.
- Kang'ethe, E. K., Abonge, G. O., Arimi, S. M., Kanja, L. W., and Omore, A. O. (2004). Investigation of the risk of consuming marketed milk with antimicrobial residues in Kenya. *Elservier*, 349-355.
- Karaseva, N A., Ermolaeva, T.N. (2014). "Piezoelectric immunosensors for detection of individual antibiotics and the total content of penicillin antibiotics in foodstuffs". *Talanta*, **120**: 312
- Kebede, G., Zenebe, T., Disassa, H., and Tolosa, T. (2014). Review on detection of antimicrobial residues in raw bulk milk in dairy farms. *African Journal of Basic Applied Sciences*, 6(4):87-97.
- Keith, B., and Cynthia, G. (1986). Mass transport to the electrodes. *Elsevier*, 79-143.
- Kirchmann, E., Earley, R L., Welch, E (1994) "The Electrochemical Detection of Penicillins in Milk". *Journal of Liquid Chromatography*. 17(8), 1755-1772
- Kissinger, P., and Heineman, W. (1983). Cyclic voltammetry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, , 702.
- Koprowski, L., Kirchmann, E., and Welch, L. (1993). The electrochemical oxidation of penicillins on gold electrodes. *Electroanalysis*,5(6): 473-482.

- Kounaves, S. (1997). *Handbook of instrumental techniques for analytical chemistry*. West Lafayette: Tufts University.
- Kurittu, J., Lonnberg, S., Virta, M., and Karp, M. (2000). Qualitative detection of tetracycline residues in milk with a luminescence-based microbial method: the effect of milk composition and assay performance in relation to an immunoassay and a microbial inhibition assay. *Journal of food protection*,63(7): 953-957.
- Liang, R., Yao, G., Fan, L., and Qiu, J. (2012). Magnetic Fe3O4@ Au composite-enhanced surface plasmon resonance for ultrasensitive detection of magnetic nanoparticle-enriched α-fetoprotein. *Analytica chimica acta*, **737**: 22-28.
- Lakshmi, R., Nusrin, K. S., Georgy, S. A., and Sreelakshmi, K. S. (2014). Role of Betalactamases in antibiotic resistance. *International research journal of pharmacy* 5(2), 37-40.
- Landers, T., Cohen, B., Wittum, T., and Larson, E. (2012). *A review of antibiotic use in food animals: perspective, policy, and potential.* Washington, D.C.: Public health .
- Lasagna, L. (1980). The World Health Organization List of" Essential Drugs. Annals of Internal Medicine, 368-369.
- Lawrence, M. (1994). Surfactant systems: their use in drug delivery. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 417-424.
- Levy, S. B., and Marshall, B. (2004). Antibacterial resistance worldwide: causes, challenges and responses. *Nature Medicine*, 10(12s), S122–S129.
- Leonat, L., Sbarcea, G., and Branzoi, I. (2013). Cyclic voltammetry for energy levels estimation of organic materials. *UPB Sci Bull Ser*, 111-118.
- Li, H., Xu, B., Wang, D., Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., Xia, W., ... Li, Y. (2015). Immunosensor for trace penicillin G detection in milk based on supported bilayer lipid membrane modified with gold nanoparticles. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 203: 97–103.
- Li, L., Guo, C., Ai, L., and Sun, H. (2016). Degradation of penicillin-G and Penicillin-V in aqueous solution by β-lactamase. *World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *5*(2), 1478–88.
- Liu, C., Wang, H., Jiang, Y., Du, Z (2011). "Rapid and simultaneous determination of amoxicillin, penicillin G, and their major metabolites in bovine milk by ultra-high-

performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry". *Jornal of*. *Chromatography*. **879**: 533–540.

- Liang, R., Yao, G., Fan, L., and Qiu, J. (2012). Magnetic Fe₃O₄-Au composite-enhanced surface plasmon resonance for ultrasensitive detection of magnetic nanoparticle-enriched α-fetoprotein. *Analytica chimica acta*, **737**:22-28.
- Love, L. J. C., and Dorsey, J. G. (1984). The Micelle-Analytical Chemistry Interface. Analytical Chemistry, 56(11), 1132A-1148A.
- L'ubomír, Š., Jozef, S., Miroslav, R., Peter, T (2012). "Voltammetric determination of penicillin
 V in pharmaceutical formulations and human urine using a boron-doped diamond electrode", *Bioelectrochemistry*, 88: 36–41.
- L'ubomir, [°]S., Jozef S., P. Tom[°]cik, Miroslav, R., Du[°]san, B (2012). "Simultaneous determination of paracetamol and penicillin V by square-wave voltammetry at a bare boron-doped diamond electrode". *Electrochimica Acta*, **68**: 227 234.
- Mackay, R. A. (1994). Electrochemistry in association colloids. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, **82**: 1–28.
- Magnussen, O. (2006). Electrochemistry as a Nanoscience. *The Electrochemical Society Interface*, 23.
- Maina, M., Tosas-Auguet, O., McKnight, J., Zosi, M., Kimemia, G., and Mwaniki, P. (2019). Evaluating the foundations that help avert antimicrobial resistance: performance of essential water sanitation and hygiene functions in hospitals and requirements for action in Kenya. *PLoS One*,14(10). e0222922.
- Mainquist-Whigham, C. E. (2016). Analysis of procaine penicillin G and ampicillin trihydrate residue depletion profiles in tissues and alternative matrices of cull sows. 105.
- Marino, Ana., and Brajter-Toth, Anna. (1993). Ionic surfactants as molecular spacers at graphite electrodes. *Analytical Chemistry*, 65(4), 370–374.
- Märtlbauer, E., Usleber, E., Schneider, E., and Dietrich, R. (1994). Immunochemical detection of antibiotics and sulfonamides. *Analyst*, 2543-2548.
- Masato , K., Shinji , U., Naoto , T., and Yasutaka , O. (2012). Validation of analytical procedures by high–performance liquid chromatography for pharmaceutical analysis. *Chromatography*, 33(2), 65-73.

- Massé, D. I., Noori , M., Cata , S., and Gilbert, Y. (2014). Potential of Biological Processes to Eliminate Antibiotics in Livestock Manure: An Overview. *Animals*, 4(2), 146-163.
- Mehmet, G., and Sibel, A. O. (2011). The Role of and the Place of Method Validation in Drug Analysis Using Electroanalytical Techniques. *The Open Analytical Chemistry Journal*, 5(1), 1-21.
- Medvedovici, A., Ionescu, M., Mircioiu, C., David, V (2002). "Optimization of a liquid–liquid extraction method for HPLC-DAD determination of penicillin V in human plasm". *Microchemical Journal*. **72**: 85–92.
- Mehmet, G., and Sibel, A. O. (2011). The Role of and the Place of Method Validation in Drug Analysis Using Electroanalytical Techniques. *The Open Analytical Chemistry Journal*, 1-21.
- Mitchell, J. M., Griffiths, M. W., Mcewen, S. A., Mcnab, W. B., and Yee, A. J. (1998). Antimicrobial Drug Residues in Milk and Meat: Causes, Concerns, Prevalence, Regulations, Tests, and Test Performance. *Journal of Food Protection*, 61(6), 742–756.
- Mithu, M., Fantoni, G., and Ciampi, J. (2017). Effect of electrolyte temperature on faradaic effect in electrochemical microdrilling. *International journal of precision technology*, 7(1) 17-31.
- Moats, W., and Harik-Khan, R. (1995). Liquid chromatographic determination of β-lactam antibiotics in milk: a multiresidue approach. *Journal of AOAC International*, 78(1), 49-54.
- Molina, A., Gonza´ lez, J., Laborda, E., Wang, Y., and Compton, R. (2011). Analytical theory of the catalytic mechanism in square wave voltammetry at disc electrodes. *Royal society of chemistry*, 13(37), 16748–16755.
- Molina, A., and González, J. (2016). Pulse voltammetry in physical electrochemistry and electroanalysis. Berlin Heidelber: Springer.
- Monk, P. (2001). Analytical Techniques in the Sciences. London: John Wiley and Sons
- Muloi, D., Fèvre, E., Bettridge, J., Rono, R., Ong'are, D., Hassell, J., Woolhouse, M. (2019).A cross-sectional survey of practices and knowledge among antibiotic retailers in Nairobi, Kenya. *Journal of global health*, 1-10.
- Nakazawa, H., Kikuchi, Y., Honda, T., Isago, T., and Nozaki, M. (2003). Enhancement of antimicrobial effects of various antibiotics against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus

aureus (MRSA) by combination with fosfomycin. *Journal of infection and chemotherapy*, 304-309.

- Neugut, A. I., Ghatak, A. T., and Miller, R. L. (2001). Anaphylaxis in the United states . *American medical association*, 17-18.
- Ngangom, B. L., Tamunjoh, S. A., and Boyom, F. F. (2019). Antibiotic residues in food animals: Public health concern. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, 411-415.
- Nicholson, R. S. (1965). Theory and Application of Cyclic Voltammetry for Measurement of Electrode Reaction Kinetics. *Analytical Chemistry*, **37**: 1351–1355.
- Noel, M., and Vasu, K. I. (1990). *Cyclic voltammetry and the frontiers of electrochemistry*. London: Aspect publications.
- Noémie, E., Kelley, J. R., Brian, D. M., Eric, S. R., Thomas, T. E., and Jillian, L. D. (2017). A Practical Beginner's Guide to Cyclic Voltammetry. *Journal of chemical education*, 197-205.
- Norouzi, P., Ganjali, R. R., Alizadeh, T., and Daneshgar, P. (2006). Fast Fourier Continuous Cyclic Voltammetry at Gold. *Electroanalysis*, 18(10), 947 954.
- Norouzi, P., Ganjali, M. R., Daneshgar, P., Alizadeh, T., Mohammadi, A (2007). "Development of fast Fourier transformation continuous cyclic voltammetry as a highly sensitive detection system for ultra-trace monitoring of Penicillin V", *Anal. Biochem.* 360(2), 175 – 181.
- Odonkor, S. T., and Addo, K. K (2011). Bacteria resistance to antibiotics: recent trends and challenges. *International Journal of biological and medical research*, 2(4), 1204–10.
- Oldham, K., and Zoski, C. (1983). Semiintegral Electroanalysis with discrimination against charging current. *Journal of electroanalytical chemistry*, 145(2), 265-278.
- Ortiz, M., Sarabia, L., Herrero, A., Sanchez, M., Sanz, M., Rueda, M., Melendez, M. (2003). Capability of detection of an analytical method evaluating false positive and false negative (ISO 11843) with partial least squares. *Elservier*, 21-33.
- Orwa, D., Matofari, J. W., Muliro, P. S., and Lamuka, P. (2017). Assessment of sulphonamides and tetracyclines antibiotic residue contaminants in rural and peri urban dairy value chains in Kenya. *International Journal of Food Contamination*, 2-11.
- Osborne, N. G. (2002). Antibiotics and Oral Contraceptives: Potential Interactions. *Journal of gynecologic surgery*, 171-172.

- Osteryoung, J. G., and Osteryoung, R. A. (1985). Square wave voltammetry. *Analytical chemistry*, 101-110.
- Oyagi, M. O., Onyatta, J. O., Kamau, G. N., and Guto, P. M (2016). Validation of the polyacrylic acid/glassy carbon differential pulse anodic stripping voltammetric sensor for simultaneous analysis of lead (II), cadmium (II) and cobalt (II) ions. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 11: 3852–3861.
- Özel, R., Liu, X., Alkasir, R., and Andreescu, S. (2014). Electrochemical methods for nanotoxicity assessment. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 112-120.
- Panchumarthy, R., Navya, Ch., Pravallika, N., Sri., P. (2015). A Review on Step-by-Step Analytical Method Validation. *IOSR Journal Of Pharmacy*, 5(10), 7-19.
- Pandit, U., Naikoo, G., Sheikh, M., Khan, G., Raj, K., and Limaye, S. (2017). Electrochemical determination of an anti-hyperlipidimic drug pitavastatin at electrochemical sensor based on electrochemically pre-treated polymer film modified GCE. *Journal of pharmaceutical analysis*, 7(4), 258-264.
- Paria, S., and Khilar, K. C. (2004). A review on experimental studies of surfactant adsorption at the hydrophilic solid–water interface. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, *110*: 75–95.
- Park, Y., and Haenlein, G. (2015). *Milk and Dairy products in human nutrition*. West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- Patil, R., Deshmukh, T., Patil, V., and Khandelwal, K (2014). *Research and Reviews: Journal* of Pharmaceutical Analysis.
- Payne, M. A., Craigmill, A., Riviere, J. E., and Webb, A. I (2006). Extralabel use of penicillin in food animals. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 229: 1401– 1403.
- Peng, J., and Gao, Z.N. (2006). Influence of micelles on the electrochemical behaviors of catechol and hydroquinone and their simultaneous determination. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 384: 1525–1532.
- Pirvu, C., Banu, A., Radovici, O., and Marco, M. (2008). Application of electrochemical impedance spectroscopy to study phenolic films. *Revue Roumaine de Chimie*, 1007-1015.

Podolsky, S. H. (2015). The Antibiotic Era. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Podolsky, S. H. (2018). The evolving response to antibiotic resistance (1945–2018). *Palgrave communications*, 1-5.
- Qureshi, A., Kang, W., Davidson, J., and Gurbuz, Y. (2009). Review on carbon-derived, solidstate, micro and nano sensors for electrochemical sensing applications. *Elsevier*, 1401-1420.
- Rahman, S., Hassan, M. M., and Chowdhury, S. (2021). Determination of antibiotic residues in milk and assessment of human health risk in Bangladesh. *Heliyon*, 1-8.
- Raison-Peyron,, N., Messaad, D., Bousquet, J., and Demoly, P. (2001). *Anaphylaxis to beef in penicillin-allergic patient*. Montpellier Cedex: Munksgaard.
- Ravisankar, P., Navya, C. N., Pravallika, D., and Sri, D. N (2015). A Review on Step-by-Step Analytical Method Validation. *IOSR Journal of Pharmacy*, 5(10), 7–19.
- Rosenblatt-Farrell, N. (2009). The landscape of antibiotic resistance. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 244-250.
- Rubin , G., and Carlos , M. P. (2008). *Electroanalytical Techniques and instrumentation in food analysis*. Florida: CRC press.
- Rusling J. F., Steven L. Suib (1994). "Characterizing materials with cyclic voltammetry". *Advanced Materials*, **6**: 922.
- Rusling, J. F. (1997). Molecular aspects of electron transfer at electrodes in micellar solutions. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, **123**: 81–88.
- Sachi, S., Jannatul , F., Sikder, M. H., and Hussani, A. K. (2019). Antibiotic residues in milk: Past, present, and future. *Journal of Advanced Veterinary and animal research*, 315– 332.
- Salager, J. (2002). Surfactants types and uses. FIRP booklet 300.
- Santos, A., Vicentini, F., Deroco, P., Rocha-Filho, R., and Fatibello-Filho, O. (2015). Squarewave voltammetric determination of paracetamol and codeine in pharmaceutical and human body fluid samples using a cathodically pretreated boron-doped diamond electrode. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, 2159-2168.
- Santos, D., Bergamini, M., and Zanoni, M. (2008). Voltammetric sensor for amoxicillin determination in human urine using polyglutamic acid/glutaraldehyde film. *Sensors and actuators*, 398-403.

- Schenck, F., and Callery, P. (1998). Chromatographic methods of analysis of antibiotics in milk. *Journal of Chromatography*, 99-109.
- Seymour, E. H., Jones, G. M., and McGilliard, M. L (1988). Persistence of Residues in Milk Following Antibiotic Treatment of Dairy Cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 71: 2292– 2296.
- Sharma, S. M., and Zaidi, M. (2020). Voltammetry: An Electrochemical Analytical Method. *Chemical sciences*, 1-129.
- Shitandi, A., and Sternesjo, Å. (2004). Factors contributing to the occurrence of antimicrobial drug residues in Kenyan milk. *Journal of food protection*, 399-402.
- Sila, J. M., Guto, P. M., Michira, I. N., and Mwaura, F. B (2018). Square Wave Voltammetric Determination of Penicillin V in Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Containing Media on Glassy Carbon Electrode. *International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research* (*IJSBAR*) 40: 220-233.
- Sila, J. M., Peterson M. Guto, Immaculate N. Michira, Francis B. Mwaura. "Determination of Penicillin G in Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate/acetate buffer media on Glassy Carbon Electrode". *International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research (IJSBAR)* (2018) 42(4), 144-155.
- Skoog, D. A., West, D. M., Holler, J. F., and Crouch, S. R. (2014). Fundamentals of Analytical Chemistry. Belmont: Mary Finch.
- Smith, T., and Stevenson, K. (2007). Reference electrodes. *Elsevier:Handbook of Electrochemistry*, 73-110.
- Sørensen, L., Rasmussen, B., Boison, J., and Keng, L. (1997). Simultaneous determination of six penicillins in cows' raw milk by a multiresidue high-performance liquid chromatographic method. *Journal of Chromatography , Biomedical Sciences and Applications*, 383-391.
- Sosa, A. de J (2010). Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. New York: Springer.
- Stred'anský, M., Pizzariello, A., Stred'anská, S., and Miertuš, S. (2000). Amperometric pHsensing biosensors for urea, penicillin, and oxalacetate. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 151-157.

- Švorc, Ľ., Sochr, J., Rievaj, M., Tomčík, P., and Bustin, D. (2012). Voltammetric determination of penicillin V in pharmaceutical formulations and human urine using a boron-doped diamond electrode. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 88: 36–41.
- Švorc, L., Sochr, J., Tomčík, P., Rievaj, M., and Bustin, D. (2012). Simultaneous determination of paracetamol and penicillin V by square-wave voltammetry at a bare boron-doped diamond electrode. *Electrochimica Acta*, **68**: 227–234.
- Sun, Y., MacDiarmid, A., and Epstein, A. (1990). Polyaniline: synthesis and characterization of pernigraniline base. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 529-531.
- Swartz, M. E., and Krull, I. S. (2018). *Analytical method development and validation*. Florida: CRC press.
- Taverniers, I., De, L., and Van, B. (2004). Trends in quality in the analytical laboratory. II. Analytical method validation and quality assurance. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 535-552.
- Tello, A., Austin, B., and Telfer, T. C. (2012). Selective pressure of antibiotic pollution on bacteria of importance to public health. *Environmental health perspectives*, 1100-1106.
- The Food FAO Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance 2016-2020. (2016), 25.
- Tian, M., Cousins, C., Beauchemin, D., Furuya, Y., Ohma, A., and Jerkiewicz, G. (2016). Influence of the working and counter electrode surface area ratios on the dissolution of platinum under electrochemical conditions. ACS Catalysis, 5108-5116.
- Thompson, M., Ellison, S. L., and Wood, R. (2002). Harmonized guidelines for singlelaboratory validation of methods of analysis (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 74: 835–855.
- Torres, M. J., Blanca M., Fernande, z J., Romano, A., De, Aberer (2003). Diagnosis of immediate allergic reactions to beta-lactam antibiotics", *Allergy*, *58*:961-972.
- Tripathi, K. D. (2013). Essentials of medical pharmacology. New Delhi: JP Medical Ltd.
- Valentin, M., Slawomira, S., and Leon, S. (2018). Square wave voltammetry. Springer, 1-14.
- Van Boeckel,, T. P., Glennon, E. E., Chen, D., Gilbert, M., Robinson, T. P., Grenfell, B. T., . . . Laxminarayan, R. (2017). Reducing antimicrobial use in food animals. *Insights*, 1350-1353.

- Van Zoonen, P., Hoogerbrugge, R., Gort, S. M., van de, W., and van't, K. H. (1999). Some practical examples of method validation in the analytical laboratory. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 584-593.
- Ventola, C. (2015). Resistance to Antibiotics: Are We in the Post-Antibiotic Era? *Elsevier*, 277.
- Vittal, R., Gomathi, H., and Kim, K.J. (2006). Beneficial role of surfactants in electrochemistry and in the modification of electrodes. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 119: 55–68.
- Wang, J., Lu, J. M., Kirgoz, U. A., Hocevar, S. B., Ogorevc, B (2001). "Insight into the anodic stripping voltammetric behavior of Bismuth film electrodes", *Analytica Chimica. Acta*, 434: 29 34.
- Wang, L., Yang, G., Jia, J., Zhou, D., and Li, D. (2012). Chemically modified glassy carbon electrode for electrochemical sensing paracetamol in acidic solution. *Journal of Solid State Electrochemistry*, 16(9), 2967-2977
- Wang, Z., Liu, , and Zhao, X. (2011). Glassy carbon electrode modified by conductive polyaniline coating for determination of trace lead and cadmium ions in acetate buffer solution. *Thin Solid Films*, 5285-5289.
- Wang,, J., Lu,, J., Kirgoz, U., Hocevar, S., and Ogorevc, B. (2001). Insight into the anodic stripping voltammetric behavior of Bismuth film electrodes. *analytica chimica acta*, 29-34.
- Wengenack, N. L. (1987). Design and testing of a computer-controlled square wave voltammetry instrument. *RIT Scholar Works*.
- Weltgesundheitsorganisation (2000). The use of essential drugs: ninth report of the WHO Expert Committee [on the Use of Essential Drugs; Geneva, 15 - 19 December 1999]; (including the revised Model List of Essential Drugs). Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Willyard, C. (2017). The drug-resistant bacteria that pose the greatest health threats. *Nature News*, 15.
- Wirzal, M. D., Bilad, M. R., and Qureshi, M. (2020). Differential Pulse Voltammetric Determination of Penicillin G at Boron Doped Diamond Electrode. *Eurasian Journal* of Analytical Chemistry, 12-20.

- Wolfe, R. (2015). Update on protein intake: importance of milk proteins for health status of the elderly. *Nutrition Reviews* **73**: 41-47.
- Yang, C., Sang, Q., Zhang, S., and Huang, W. (2009). Voltammetric determination of estrone based on the enhancement effect of surfactant and a MWNT film electrode. *Materials Science and Engineering:* 29: 1741–1745.
- Yao , L., and Eefjan , B. (2016). The Membrane Steps of Bacterial Cell Wall Synthesis as Antibiotic Targets. *Antibiotics*, 2-22.
- Yao, Z., Kahne, D., and Kishony, R. (2012). Distinct single-cell morphological dynamics under beta-lactam antibiotics. *Molecular cell*, 705-712.
- Yilong, Z., Dean, Z., and Daoliang, L. (2015). Electrochemical and other methods for detection and determination of dissolved nitrite. *International Journal Electrochemical Science*, 10(2); 1144-1168.
- Zervosen, A., Sauvage, E., Frère, J.M., Charlier, P., and Luxen, A. (2012). Development of New Drugs for an Old Target—The Penicillin Binding Proteins. *Molecules*, 17: 12478– 12505.
- Zhang, S., Wu, K., and Hu, S. (2002). Carbon Paste Electrode Based on Surface Activation for Trace Adriamycin Determination by a Preconcentration and Voltammetric Method. *Analytical Sciences*, 18: 1089–1092.
- Zoski, C. G. (2007). Handbook of Electrochemistry. Amsterdam: Elsevier.